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Bledar Shella
Chief Executive Officer 

Chairman of the Management Board

Dear shareholders, customers and employees,

The challenges we faced during 2021 – as individuals, as companies and as a community – cannot be 
denied. The year we left behind was another year of turmoil caused by the pandemic, which now seems 
to be on the way to ease. Despite all these challenges, our proactive approach towards the 
consolidation of OTP Bank in the Albanian banking market, together with the focused execution of our 
strategy, helped us to successfully overcome this period.

We can now confirm without any doubt that 2021 was the most successful year for OTP Bank Albania, 
having the best performance in the history of the bank, in all parameters: commercial, financial and 
quality!

The net banking profit for 2021 was reported at 37.10 million EUR, with 11.19% increase compared to the 
previous year and the net profit is 15.7 million EUR or 40.73% increase compared to the previous year.
Deposits have also increased by 13% in their stock compared to 2020, reaching the quota of EUR 
680.96 million and giving us room for more optimization in lending activity and the possibility of 
more attractive offers for our customers.

The total of outstanding loans has increased by 16.44%, thus positioning us stronger in the market as a 
dynamic lender. The total stock of loans is at the level of 611.27 million EUR, contributing to the 
increase of our market share by 0.71%.

As for return on equity (ROE), 2021 ended with an increase of 3.60% compared to 2020, translating this 
to 18.5%, a very good ratio that clearly reflects the efficiency and effectiveness of all our efforts, both 
for business and also for admirable skills in managing our resources. In this regard, we are ranked for 
the third year in a row as the bank with the highest return in the country.

We have long believed that the strongest relationships are built during difficult times, and with this 
belief in our mind, we take great pride in the relationship we have built with our clients, always putting 
them first.

The quality of our daily work, dedication and customer care brought us the results we deserved for the 
TriM quality indicator, with an increase of 8% this year from 87% to 95%, thus conveying a clear 
message from our customers that we are valued by them as the bank with the best service and the 
strongest emotional connection to the OTP brand! Our bank is also appreciated for its corporate 
culture and teamwork, assets that we must nurture at all times regardless of the challenges we face.
2022 finds us positioned as one of the most important actors in the Albanian banking market. OTP 
Bank Albania has all the capacities and the team to realize all its ambitions. We walk confidently in 
our journey towards the realization of the objective of becoming the largest bank in Albania and we 
welcome this year with the same certainty for the excellent performance of our Bank.

 
Thank you for your trust in OTP Bank Albania!
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Corporate Governance

OTP Bank Albania believes that governing the bank with the best standards is essential to 
successfully implement its strategy. The Bank’s Sound Corporate Governance reflects a clear and 
systematic decision-making processes thus providing clarity about responsibilities, avoiding 
conflict of interest and ensuring satisfactory internal control, risk management, transparency and 
accountability. 

The corporate governance structure and framework of OTP Bank Albania is modelled based on the 
specific needs of the bank, Albanian local regulatory requirements and OTP Bank instructions 
followed by the best international and European practices. 

Assembly of the 
Sole Shareholder

Board of 
Directors

Audit and Accounts 
Committee

Chief Executive Officer
Management Committee

Internal 
Committees

Assembly of the Sole Shareholder

The Assembly of the Sole Shareholder of OTP Bank Albania is summoned by the Board of Directors 
and in case of emergency by any of its members or by any Managing Director, at any time they 
deem it reasonable for the progress of the business of the bank, whenever it is mandatory from the 
By Laws of the bank and/or by any other legal act and at least once per year to approve the 
financial statements. The Assembly of the Sole Shareholder reviews and decides for any case which 
falls under its jurisdiction, based on the local law and the bank’s By Laws.

The Assembly of the Sole Shareholder of OTP Bank Albania has been convened twice during 2021. 
According to the Albanian jurisdiction, in accordance with the Bank’s By Laws but also with the 
requirements of the OTP group, the Assembly meetings were held normally and took all decisions, 
respecting the legal deadlines set.
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The meetings of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is the decision making and supervisory body of the bank. The Board of 
Directors is composed by 7 (seven) members which are appointed by the Assembly of the Sole 
Shareholder for a 4-year term with the right of reelection. The members of the Board possess 
knowledge and experience in various fields, confirmed management skills and risk oriented 
decision-making, thus ensuring that its decisions are subject of a detailed analysis. The Board of 
Directors of OTP Bank Albania ensures that its activity and that of the entire Bank complies with the 
Albanian regulatory framework, Laws and Instructions in force, the By Laws of the Bank and the 

100%
OTP BANK PLC.

General Shareholder
Assembly
OTP Bank Albania  

Board of Directors 
Structure

Z. Péter Bese  
Chairman

Z. Arpad Srankó 
Vice/Chairman  

Z. Tibor Kovács 
Member

Z. Aleksander Xhuvani 
Member

Z. Adrian Civici 
Member

Z. Janos Veres 
Member

Z. Armand Duka  
Member

requirements of the OTP Banking Group, in order to create a sustainable value and protect the 
interests of the Shareholder, its employees and its customers.

The Board of Directors of OTP Bank Albania managed to accurately fulfill the entire meetings plan 
for 2021, according to the requirements of local laws and in accordance with the Bank's By Laws. 
The meetings were held with the full presence of all members, who dedicatedly followed the 
fulfillment of the bank's strategy and objectives.

The members of the Board of Directors have been constantly updated on important issues for the 
performance of the business, risks and their management, as well as on capitalization and liquidity 
issues. Also, they were informed on all regulatory or legal changes that came into force during the 
year, the impact they had on banking activity and the progress of measures taken for their 
implementation. 

During 2021, the Board welcomed a new member, Mr. Tibor Kovacs and continued to be a body with 
a majority of independent members.
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Audit and Accounts Committee 

The mission of Audit and Accounts Committee of OTP Bank Albania is to monitor the issues related 
to the preparation and control of accounting and financial information, to monitor the 
independence of the statutory auditors, as well as to monitor the efficiency of the internal control, 
measurement, supervision and risk control systems related to the accounting and financial 
processes. The Audit and Accounts Committee reports and supports the work of the Board of 
Directors.

The Audit and Accounts Committee, as the reporting committee in the Board of Directors, was 
convened according to the work plan for 2021, fulfilling all legal and regulatory obligations related 
to risk management in the bank and approval of financial statements.

Moreover, this committee during 2021 has paid special attention to the management of the 
post-Covid pandemic crisis by analysing in detail all the effects that the latter had on the activity of 
the bank. Also, with a full number of members with virtual presence, this committee has evaluated 
the financial statements for 2020, the report of the independent auditor and has approved them. 
After each meeting, a detailed report on the committee meeting was presented to the members of 
the Board of Directors.

requirements of the OTP Banking Group, in order to create a sustainable value and protect the 
interests of the Shareholder, its employees and its customers.

The Board of Directors of OTP Bank Albania managed to accurately fulfill the entire meetings plan 
for 2021, according to the requirements of local laws and in accordance with the Bank's By Laws. 
The meetings were held with the full presence of all members, who dedicatedly followed the 
fulfillment of the bank's strategy and objectives.

The members of the Board of Directors have been constantly updated on important issues for the 
performance of the business, risks and their management, as well as on capitalization and liquidity 
issues. Also, they were informed on all regulatory or legal changes that came into force during the 
year, the impact they had on banking activity and the progress of measures taken for their 
implementation. 

During 2021, the Board welcomed a new member, Mr. Tibor Kovacs and continued to be a body with 
a majority of independent members.

Audit and Accounts 
Committee 
Structure

Z. Arpad Srankó 
Chairman

Znj. Jitka Pantuckova 
Member

Znj. Diana Ylli  
Member
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Compliance & AML/CFT function 

Compliance & AML function in OTP Bank Albania is established from years now as an independent 
structure reporting directly to the CEO of the bank, Audit Committee and Board of Directors.

Its role is of a fundamental importance in the bank activities being informed and implementing of 
the new rules that govern banking activity and confirm compliance with obligatory requirements.

The Compliance function promotes the highest standards of integrity and ensures that they are 
applied to all of the Bank’s activities, by building a framework of procedures and regulations 
compliant with local law, Group and EU regulation requirements.

Compliance and AML function in OTP Bank Albania, during 2021, among others, have been actively 
engaged in prevention and mitigation of any compliance risk in order to assure the sound 
operating of the Bank business environment.

Financial Security 

The banking activity is exposed to diverse financial crime risks, such as money laundering, 
terrorism financing or sanctions evasions but also vulnerable toward other criminal activities, such 
as fraud, bribery, and corruption.

In order to prevent and better manage the above mentioned risks but also to be in line with its 
legal and regulatory obligations, OTP Bank Albania has in place a full compliance program which 
core is comprised by the necessary policies and procedures which are fully aligned with the 
changes in local regulatory requirements and Group ones. In 2021 the relevant structures of the 
Bank have worked to identify and assess any potential risk and improve the tools and periodic 
controls in use which aim to assist and help our employees to prevent their direct exposure to such 
risk and to ensure the stability of banks and their personal integrity.   

The ambiguous roadmap and strategy designed in response of addressing all the risks identified 
during the annual risk assessment exercise was achieved in a satisfactory level.

Regulatory Risks 

Code of Ethics and ABC 
Our Code of Ethics summarises values, believes, principles of our bank and OTP group and is the 
basis and guideline of ethical business operations. 

During 2021 OBAs Code of Ethics, noticed slight updates in order to align it with the OTP Group one 
which is available on the OTP Bank Albania website: 
 https://otpbank.al/en/code-of-conduct/ 

Conflict of Interest 
Conflicts of Interest situations may be present in all business activities and can arise between the 
Bank and its customers, employees and customers or Bank and employees, in transactions 
including family and close personal relationships. Failure to recognize and appropriately manage 

conflicts of interest can result in inappropriate or adverse consequences for clients, the bank, and 
employees.
 
OTP Bank Albania has in place a conflict of interest policy which aim to setup the necessary 
controls in order to prevent and identify any potential situation of conflict of interest and resolve 
them in the best interest of all stakeholders.
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Client protection
Compliance function in OTP Bank Albania sha during 2021 has assessed all client’s claims and 
ensure the management of any potential compliance risk linked to them in order to comply with 
client protection obligations and has closely followed up the updated local regulatory 
requirements in relation to transparency standards in the Bank operations, products and services 
and fulfil client demands on this regard.

International Tax Agreements
2021 was another year in which the Bank ensured the adequate implementation of all controls and 
KYC principle in order to comply with international tax regulations such as FATCA and CRS but in 
the same time completed its yearly reporting obligations toward IRS and Albanian General Tax 
Directorate respectively for the identified American-taxpayers account holders and other 
non-resident account holders. 

In 2021, OTP Bank Albania achieved to successfully renew, from IRS, for another 3 years period, its 
self-certification on compliance with FATCA requirement 

Reputational risk 
It is a responsibility of all bank employees to be compliant with our internal rules and act with 
integrity in order not to expose the bank toward any potential reputational risk.

In order to further mitigate such risk structured controls are set up in processes which might be 
exposed to such risk such as procurement, sponsorisation and contractual relationships.etc.

Training and awareness 
To ensure that our employees have the necessary technical knowledge and skills, and to keep them 
informed on the dynamic changes that characterise compliance activity, the Bank has set up a 
program which include on-site periodical trainings, induction training for all new hired employees 
and ad hock sessions or other awareness methods with the aim to permanently raise awareness 
toward compliance topics.

During 2021 tailored training sessions were provided to specific structures on the bank adapted to 
their needs to mitigate potential risks.

OTP Bank Albania’s engagements in relation to compliance activities, are published in its official website and 
accessible by its stakeholders:

Financing of the Defence Industry
Regulatory compliance

Code of Ethics                                                       
Compliance Policy

Sanctions Policy

conflicts of interest can result in inappropriate or adverse consequences for clients, the bank, and 
employees.
 
OTP Bank Albania has in place a conflict of interest policy which aim to setup the necessary 
controls in order to prevent and identify any potential situation of conflict of interest and resolve 
them in the best interest of all stakeholders.
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Financial Results 2021

+40.73%
% GROWTH vs 2020

NET INCOME

€15.70mln
+3,60%

% GROWTH vs 2020

RETURN ON EQUITY

18.5%
+11.19%

% GROWTH vs 2020

 NET BANKING
INCOME

€37.10mln
- 2,09%

% GROWTH vs 2020

COST
/ INCOME

46.58%

€611.27 mln
OUTSTANDING LOANS 

+16.44%
% GROWTH vs 2020

DEPOSIT STOCK

€680.96mln
+13.00%

% GROWTH vs 2020

MARKET SHARE LOANS

11.47%
+0.71%

% GROWTH vs 2020

Financial Results 2021

Loan and Deposit Performance
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Corporate Banking 

2021 was accompanied with a lot of challenges with a special focus of the Bank to continue and 
even increase the overall development of Corporate Banking during a recovery period for the 
economy.

We remained side by side with our clients in order to strengthen our relationship as well as to help 
them get through the unprecedented situation.

Our aim remains to further consolidate client confidence, which has been built carefully along 
these years! 
Through delivering the accurate corporate financing and advisory solutions we attained to meet all 
their business and investment needs. 

Looking at the year 2021, we can confirm that it was an excellent year with increasing results in all 
the performance indicators. 

 SEGMENT 
BANKING

International, sovereign and special lending sector strategy was especially focused in servicing 
international clients who require a financial services partner that can help them grow in our 
country or in other OTP network countries where they do business. Loan portfolio outstanding 
grew remarkably with 59% and improving the NPL ratio to 7.2%.
  
Leasing sector marked a very good year as well in terms of new financings. By 2021, OTP Bank 
Albania ranked 4th for portfolio outstanding out of 9 main operators in the Albanian leasing 
market.

Trade finance reached its peak level of the last 5 years of outstanding portfolio and income 
generated while also successfully finalizing complex and difficult transactions

Advice and expertise given from our staff to Business clients has oriented them to use the trade 

finance products and further increase their knowledge, taking advantage by using them and more 
importantly reducing the risks in International trade business.

Cash Management focus was to upgrade the existing and provide new automatized solutions and 
also increase penetration in E - banking transactions.

The expansion of the Drop Box service in other major cities of the country has brought the Bank 
closer to Business companies, giving them 24/7 access to depositing cash in the Bank.

Improvement of liquidity management products continued during 2021 in order to preserve 
customer satisfaction and to provide them with support in daily business operations.
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7%
4.25%

LOAN 
PORTFOLIO 
STOCK

RATE OF
NON-PERFORMING
LOANS

22%
2.7%

LOAN 
PORTFOLIO 
STOCK

RATE OF
NON-PERFORMING
LOANS

The loan portfolio for Large Domestic Corporates 
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the NPL ratio to 2.7%.
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Global Markets

2021 was a very productive and successful year for the Treasury. The new name of the Department, 
"Global Markets", seems to have brought prosperity in addition to the symbolism it offers. The 
name "Global Markets Department" was chosen by the OTP Group to target a wide range of 
financial services that this group offers in international markets and now brings this experience 
locally, in Albania. OTP Group is present in 11 countries in the region of Central and Eastern Europe 
and in recent years has become a leading guarantor of financial services.

2021 has been rich in challenges and innovations where it is worth mentioning:

- Licensing in accordance with Law No. 62/2020 "On Capital Markets", granted by the Financial 
Supervisory Authority, for the provision of investment services and investment ancillary services, 
which means receiving, transmitting and executing client orders, in relation to one or more 
financial instruments (brokerage). The licensing confirmed the bank's readiness to provide this 
service to customers at the required levels, based on knowledge, procedures and internal systems.

By not accepting customer requests at the counters of the Bank of Albania, starting from the 
beginning of 2022, was an incentive and purpose for OTP Bank Albania to be operational at the 
same time through the intermediation of customer requests in the primary market of securities. 
For this purpose, a working group was set up, dedicated to building the infrastructure for 
launching the brokerage service. Beyond compliance with local legal requirements, market 
intermediation activity has been brought in accordance and in implementation with best 
international standards, under the supervision and approval of OTP Group practices. Instruments 
subject to intermediation are stocks, money market instruments, bonds and other forms of debt 
financial instruments, other than those having a characteristic of derivative financial instruments, 
units in collective investment undertakings. The service, initially with access to the local market, is 
gradually expanding to include international markets. Priority in the design of investment services 
and investment ancillary services for OTP Bank Albania has been and will continue to be 
transparency and protection of customer’s best interest. The expansion of the offered instruments 
as well as the access to the international markets will continue to be the goal for our bank, in 
parallel with the care and maintenance of the quality of the service.

- Automation of foreign exchange transactions. At the end of 2021, the automatic service for 
foreign exchange transactions was realized. This is a "tele-banking" service, which enables the 
client to conclude and execute foreign exchange transactions by telephone.

 

Corporate Banking 
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Before this service being offered, the customer had to be present at one of the Bank's branches or 
to perform the operation through e-banking. This practice not only needs more time, but also 
increases the possibility of operational risk. Now, customers interested in this convenient service 
and at no cost, just sign the relevant contract and whenever they want to do foreign exchange 
transactions, just call the contact numbers of the Sales Sector. This innovation, in addition to 
customer’s satisfaction, provides accuracy, speed and minimization of operational risk.

- OTP Bank Albania was chosen in the role of Joint Lead Manager, among the major market 
actors, for the issuance of the 10-year Eurobond of the Albanian Government. The vision on Group 
level, combined with local expertise, guaranteed success in securing the bid in the case of the 
Eurobond issued in 2021. For the Albanian Government, this was the fifth issue in international 
markets while compared to the last two Eurobonds, respectively in 2018 and 2020, this title 
resulted in an approximate coupon but with 3 years longer maturity. Given the volatility of 
markets in 2021, dominated mainly by the pandemic, interest in the Eurobond turned out to be 
high and the issue was successful.

- The second year of the pandemic, which was accompanied by even more relaxing measures 
compared to 2020, has found the business more prepared. The first signs of higher confidence and 
economic activity in general, were shown in the last months of 2020. The return of the positive 
business climate was evident during 2021, especially during the second half of the year. This is 
evidenced by the volumes of foreign trade activity, which not only reflect an increase in trade 
transactions in general, but also the need for foreign exchange that accompanies these 
transactions.

The increase in the demand for foreign exchange transactions was exploited professionally by OTP 
Bank Albania, significantly increasing the volumes and profits generated by the foreign exchange 
activity beyond expectations. Competitive prices and customer satisfaction have always been in 
focus and this is evidenced by the continuous growth of the customer base.

The Euro currency, which liquidates over 70% of trade transactions, has fluctuated for most of the 

International, sovereign and special lending sector strategy was especially focused in servicing 
international clients who require a financial services partner that can help them grow in our 
country or in other OTP network countries where they do business. Loan portfolio outstanding 
grew remarkably with 59% and improving the NPL ratio to 7.2%.
  
Leasing sector marked a very good year as well in terms of new financings. By 2021, OTP Bank 
Albania ranked 4th for portfolio outstanding out of 9 main operators in the Albanian leasing 
market.

Trade finance reached its peak level of the last 5 years of outstanding portfolio and income 
generated while also successfully finalizing complex and difficult transactions

Advice and expertise given from our staff to Business clients has oriented them to use the trade 

finance products and further increase their knowledge, taking advantage by using them and more 
importantly reducing the risks in International trade business.

Cash Management focus was to upgrade the existing and provide new automatized solutions and 
also increase penetration in E - banking transactions.

The expansion of the Drop Box service in other major cities of the country has brought the Bank 
closer to Business companies, giving them 24/7 access to depositing cash in the Bank.

Improvement of liquidity management products continued during 2021 in order to preserve 
customer satisfaction and to provide them with support in daily business operations.

2021 between the tight ranges of 121 - 123 against ALL, reflecting stability in the market.
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subject to intermediation are stocks, money market instruments, bonds and other forms of debt 
financial instruments, other than those having a characteristic of derivative financial instruments, 
units in collective investment undertakings. The service, initially with access to the local market, is 
gradually expanding to include international markets. Priority in the design of investment services 
and investment ancillary services for OTP Bank Albania has been and will continue to be 
transparency and protection of customer’s best interest. The expansion of the offered instruments 
as well as the access to the international markets will continue to be the goal for our bank, in 
parallel with the care and maintenance of the quality of the service.

- Automation of foreign exchange transactions. At the end of 2021, the automatic service for 
foreign exchange transactions was realized. This is a "tele-banking" service, which enables the 
client to conclude and execute foreign exchange transactions by telephone.

 

Corporate Banking 

2021 was accompanied with a lot of challenges with a special focus of the Bank to continue and 
even increase the overall development of Corporate Banking during a recovery period for the 
economy.

We remained side by side with our clients in order to strengthen our relationship as well as to help 
them get through the unprecedented situation.

Our aim remains to further consolidate client confidence, which has been built carefully along 
these years! 
Through delivering the accurate corporate financing and advisory solutions we attained to meet all 
their business and investment needs. 

Looking at the year 2021, we can confirm that it was an excellent year with increasing results in all 
the performance indicators. 

Before this service being offered, the customer had to be present at one of the Bank's branches or 
to perform the operation through e-banking. This practice not only needs more time, but also 
increases the possibility of operational risk. Now, customers interested in this convenient service 
and at no cost, just sign the relevant contract and whenever they want to do foreign exchange 
transactions, just call the contact numbers of the Sales Sector. This innovation, in addition to 
customer’s satisfaction, provides accuracy, speed and minimization of operational risk.

- OTP Bank Albania was chosen in the role of Joint Lead Manager, among the major market 
actors, for the issuance of the 10-year Eurobond of the Albanian Government. The vision on Group 
level, combined with local expertise, guaranteed success in securing the bid in the case of the 
Eurobond issued in 2021. For the Albanian Government, this was the fifth issue in international 
markets while compared to the last two Eurobonds, respectively in 2018 and 2020, this title 
resulted in an approximate coupon but with 3 years longer maturity. Given the volatility of 
markets in 2021, dominated mainly by the pandemic, interest in the Eurobond turned out to be 
high and the issue was successful.

- The second year of the pandemic, which was accompanied by even more relaxing measures 
compared to 2020, has found the business more prepared. The first signs of higher confidence and 
economic activity in general, were shown in the last months of 2020. The return of the positive 
business climate was evident during 2021, especially during the second half of the year. This is 
evidenced by the volumes of foreign trade activity, which not only reflect an increase in trade 
transactions in general, but also the need for foreign exchange that accompanies these 
transactions.
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The increase in the demand for foreign exchange transactions was exploited professionally by OTP 
Bank Albania, significantly increasing the volumes and profits generated by the foreign exchange 
activity beyond expectations. Competitive prices and customer satisfaction have always been in 
focus and this is evidenced by the continuous growth of the customer base.

The Euro currency, which liquidates over 70% of trade transactions, has fluctuated for most of the 

International, sovereign and special lending sector strategy was especially focused in servicing 
international clients who require a financial services partner that can help them grow in our 
country or in other OTP network countries where they do business. Loan portfolio outstanding 
grew remarkably with 59% and improving the NPL ratio to 7.2%.
  
Leasing sector marked a very good year as well in terms of new financings. By 2021, OTP Bank 
Albania ranked 4th for portfolio outstanding out of 9 main operators in the Albanian leasing 
market.

Trade finance reached its peak level of the last 5 years of outstanding portfolio and income 
generated while also successfully finalizing complex and difficult transactions

Advice and expertise given from our staff to Business clients has oriented them to use the trade 

finance products and further increase their knowledge, taking advantage by using them and more 
importantly reducing the risks in International trade business.

Cash Management focus was to upgrade the existing and provide new automatized solutions and 
also increase penetration in E - banking transactions.

The expansion of the Drop Box service in other major cities of the country has brought the Bank 
closer to Business companies, giving them 24/7 access to depositing cash in the Bank.

Improvement of liquidity management products continued during 2021 in order to preserve 
customer satisfaction and to provide them with support in daily business operations.

2021 between the tight ranges of 121 - 123 against ALL, reflecting stability in the market.
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- Licensing in accordance with Law No. 62/2020 "On Capital Markets", granted by the Financial 
Supervisory Authority, for the provision of investment services and investment ancillary services, 
which means receiving, transmitting and executing client orders, in relation to one or more 
financial instruments (brokerage). The licensing confirmed the bank's readiness to provide this 
service to customers at the required levels, based on knowledge, procedures and internal systems.

By not accepting customer requests at the counters of the Bank of Albania, starting from the 
beginning of 2022, was an incentive and purpose for OTP Bank Albania to be operational at the 
same time through the intermediation of customer requests in the primary market of securities. 
For this purpose, a working group was set up, dedicated to building the infrastructure for 
launching the brokerage service. Beyond compliance with local legal requirements, market 
intermediation activity has been brought in accordance and in implementation with best 
international standards, under the supervision and approval of OTP Group practices. Instruments 
subject to intermediation are stocks, money market instruments, bonds and other forms of debt 
financial instruments, other than those having a characteristic of derivative financial instruments, 
units in collective investment undertakings. The service, initially with access to the local market, is 
gradually expanding to include international markets. Priority in the design of investment services 
and investment ancillary services for OTP Bank Albania has been and will continue to be 
transparency and protection of customer’s best interest. The expansion of the offered instruments 
as well as the access to the international markets will continue to be the goal for our bank, in 
parallel with the care and maintenance of the quality of the service.

- Automation of foreign exchange transactions. At the end of 2021, the automatic service for 
foreign exchange transactions was realized. This is a "tele-banking" service, which enables the 
client to conclude and execute foreign exchange transactions by telephone.

Before this service being offered, the customer had to be present at one of the Bank's branches or 
to perform the operation through e-banking. This practice not only needs more time, but also 
increases the possibility of operational risk. Now, customers interested in this convenient service 
and at no cost, just sign the relevant contract and whenever they want to do foreign exchange 
transactions, just call the contact numbers of the Sales Sector. This innovation, in addition to 
customer’s satisfaction, provides accuracy, speed and minimization of operational risk.

- OTP Bank Albania was chosen in the role of Joint Lead Manager, among the major market 
actors, for the issuance of the 10-year Eurobond of the Albanian Government. The vision on Group 
level, combined with local expertise, guaranteed success in securing the bid in the case of the 
Eurobond issued in 2021. For the Albanian Government, this was the fifth issue in international 
markets while compared to the last two Eurobonds, respectively in 2018 and 2020, this title 
resulted in an approximate coupon but with 3 years longer maturity. Given the volatility of 
markets in 2021, dominated mainly by the pandemic, interest in the Eurobond turned out to be 
high and the issue was successful.

- The second year of the pandemic, which was accompanied by even more relaxing measures 
compared to 2020, has found the business more prepared. The first signs of higher confidence and 
economic activity in general, were shown in the last months of 2020. The return of the positive 
business climate was evident during 2021, especially during the second half of the year. This is 
evidenced by the volumes of foreign trade activity, which not only reflect an increase in trade 
transactions in general, but also the need for foreign exchange that accompanies these 
transactions.

The increase in the demand for foreign exchange transactions was exploited professionally by OTP 
Bank Albania, significantly increasing the volumes and profits generated by the foreign exchange 
activity beyond expectations. Competitive prices and customer satisfaction have always been in 
focus and this is evidenced by the continuous growth of the customer base.

The Euro currency, which liquidates over 70% of trade transactions, has fluctuated for most of the 
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- Both Private Individuals and Small Business loan portfolio continued to gain pace, growing by 
14% Y-o-Y, and an increase in market share by 40 bps, positioning OTP Bank Albania third in the 
market for Retail loans. 
- The Bank demonstrated controlled growth rates in retail deposits as well, an increase of 13% 
compared to 2020. OTP Bank Albania was able to capitalize on its brand reputation and secure 
inflows of customer funds. 
- OTP Bank Albania is a universal bank covering all types of Retail customers thus enlarging its 
base by 6% Y-o-Y. Nevertheless, Payrolls, remain the key segment within PI customers. Customized 
offers and solutions as well as quick processing times are some of the hallmarks, which has made 
possible the enlargement of the Payroll base during 2021 by 15%, constituting a good bulk within 
PI customers’ base.
- The exploration of 3rd party channel, by extending partners portfolio with different Real Estate 
Agencies and Construction companies contributed by 10% in the overall Mortgage production.
- Enhancement of the ATM network with additional locations has lead toward an increase of the 
ATM market share with 5%.

 

Retail Segment

The year 2021 was a very successful one for Retail, even though following a very challenging year 
with many obstacles, difficulties and unusual environment affected from the pandemic situation of 
2020.

In 2021, it has responsibly and actively supported at every step all clients, individuals and 
businesses, combining market knowledge, years of experience, as well as the valuable OTP Group 
expertise.

Despite the difficulties of operating under the pandemic situation, during 2020, OTP Bank Albania 
successfully has continued to execute its strategy driven by growth, as per OTP Group aspiration to 
gain market share. 

The year has been closed with excellent results for Retail, where it is worth to mention:

2021 between the tight ranges of 121 - 123 against ALL, reflecting stability in the market.

 

- Credit Card portfolio shows a Y-o-Y increase of ~40%, with increase number in sales as well as 
usage.
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- Licensing in accordance with Law No. 62/2020 "On Capital Markets", granted by the Financial 
Supervisory Authority, for the provision of investment services and investment ancillary services, 
which means receiving, transmitting and executing client orders, in relation to one or more 
financial instruments (brokerage). The licensing confirmed the bank's readiness to provide this 
service to customers at the required levels, based on knowledge, procedures and internal systems.

By not accepting customer requests at the counters of the Bank of Albania, starting from the 
beginning of 2022, was an incentive and purpose for OTP Bank Albania to be operational at the 
same time through the intermediation of customer requests in the primary market of securities. 
For this purpose, a working group was set up, dedicated to building the infrastructure for 
launching the brokerage service. Beyond compliance with local legal requirements, market 
intermediation activity has been brought in accordance and in implementation with best 
international standards, under the supervision and approval of OTP Group practices. Instruments 
subject to intermediation are stocks, money market instruments, bonds and other forms of debt 
financial instruments, other than those having a characteristic of derivative financial instruments, 
units in collective investment undertakings. The service, initially with access to the local market, is 
gradually expanding to include international markets. Priority in the design of investment services 
and investment ancillary services for OTP Bank Albania has been and will continue to be 
transparency and protection of customer’s best interest. The expansion of the offered instruments 
as well as the access to the international markets will continue to be the goal for our bank, in 
parallel with the care and maintenance of the quality of the service.

- Automation of foreign exchange transactions. At the end of 2021, the automatic service for 
foreign exchange transactions was realized. This is a "tele-banking" service, which enables the 
client to conclude and execute foreign exchange transactions by telephone.

Before this service being offered, the customer had to be present at one of the Bank's branches or 
to perform the operation through e-banking. This practice not only needs more time, but also 
increases the possibility of operational risk. Now, customers interested in this convenient service 
and at no cost, just sign the relevant contract and whenever they want to do foreign exchange 
transactions, just call the contact numbers of the Sales Sector. This innovation, in addition to 
customer’s satisfaction, provides accuracy, speed and minimization of operational risk.

- OTP Bank Albania was chosen in the role of Joint Lead Manager, among the major market 
actors, for the issuance of the 10-year Eurobond of the Albanian Government. The vision on Group 
level, combined with local expertise, guaranteed success in securing the bid in the case of the 
Eurobond issued in 2021. For the Albanian Government, this was the fifth issue in international 
markets while compared to the last two Eurobonds, respectively in 2018 and 2020, this title 
resulted in an approximate coupon but with 3 years longer maturity. Given the volatility of 
markets in 2021, dominated mainly by the pandemic, interest in the Eurobond turned out to be 
high and the issue was successful.

- The second year of the pandemic, which was accompanied by even more relaxing measures 
compared to 2020, has found the business more prepared. The first signs of higher confidence and 
economic activity in general, were shown in the last months of 2020. The return of the positive 
business climate was evident during 2021, especially during the second half of the year. This is 
evidenced by the volumes of foreign trade activity, which not only reflect an increase in trade 
transactions in general, but also the need for foreign exchange that accompanies these 
transactions.

The increase in the demand for foreign exchange transactions was exploited professionally by OTP 
Bank Albania, significantly increasing the volumes and profits generated by the foreign exchange 
activity beyond expectations. Competitive prices and customer satisfaction have always been in 
focus and this is evidenced by the continuous growth of the customer base.

The Euro currency, which liquidates over 70% of trade transactions, has fluctuated for most of the 

- Both Private Individuals and Small Business loan portfolio continued to gain pace, growing by 
14% Y-o-Y, and an increase in market share by 40 bps, positioning OTP Bank Albania third in the 
market for Retail loans. 
- The Bank demonstrated controlled growth rates in retail deposits as well, an increase of 13% 
compared to 2020. OTP Bank Albania was able to capitalize on its brand reputation and secure 
inflows of customer funds. 
- OTP Bank Albania is a universal bank covering all types of Retail customers thus enlarging its 
base by 6% Y-o-Y. Nevertheless, Payrolls, remain the key segment within PI customers. Customized 
offers and solutions as well as quick processing times are some of the hallmarks, which has made 
possible the enlargement of the Payroll base during 2021 by 15%, constituting a good bulk within 
PI customers’ base.
- The exploration of 3rd party channel, by extending partners portfolio with different Real Estate 
Agencies and Construction companies contributed by 10% in the overall Mortgage production.
- Enhancement of the ATM network with additional locations has lead toward an increase of the 
ATM market share with 5%.

Retail customers are served by, OTP Bank’s branch network, operating in wide geographical and 
population coverage, respecting the customers’ ever-changing needs and improving its efficiency. 
Opening of another new branch in Tirana is the attestation of our strategic objective to enhance 
the presence and be closer to our clients. The new branch is located in prominent area in Tirana 
aiming to better serve our clients as part of the continuous efforts to exploit competitive sales 
strategies. The branch was inaugurated in September 2021, thus expanding the coverage area in 
the capital city. Strong and increasing presence in urban location is confirmed with the 
commercial growing activity in the new opening branches in the last 5 years as a winning 
strategy.

Furthermore Tirana Myslym Shyri branch premises was fully renovated, aiming the 
transformation and quality upgrade of the customer service, the creation of an exclusive banking 
experience with emphasis on the enhancement of commercial activity and effectiveness of the 
Bank's Branch Network. Thus brought fruit by deepening customer relationship, growing in 
targeted segments and better addressing our diverse customers’ banking needs.  

Retail Banking operations have continued to be carried out through the Branches network, as well 
as  through digital service channels. It has been managed to develop and launch a wide range of 
channels,  services and products to customers, covering the variety of customers’ types and their 
needs.

Successful projects and initiatives have been finalized during 2021 such as: 

- Enhanced Branch Network with a new branch in Tirana 

The year 2021, has been with a focus on the digitalization of the bank, by implementing and 
offering various products and services with excellent customer satisfaction impact. 

Based on the bank strategy, we have developed the e-banking & mobile banking channels, aiming 
to provide higher quality service, interactive tools and tutorials as well. Such enhancements have 
been also as a result of the era in which we are living, amplified by the pandemic situation, which 
increases the demand for improvement of such platforms and systems.

Thus, we have successfully migrated our platform in an innovative upgraded one, including 
several improvements, new and updated functionalities, as well as new interfaces. We have 
simplified the platform log-in process by implementing digital credentials, offer a fast and easy 
alternative for utility payments on subscription base, and better customer experience with more 
interactive and user friendly interfaces. Working more effectively and focused on customer 
satisfactions is the key of our success, which is why such enhancements have also taken into 
consideration many customer requests and needs expressed time after time. 

Meanwhile our active users have been increased during 2021 with ~ 68% compared to the previous 
year, performing 113% more log-ins through online banking platform. 

- Online Banking Platform Upgrade Project  

2021 between the tight ranges of 121 - 123 against ALL, reflecting stability in the market.

 

- Credit Card portfolio shows a Y-o-Y increase of ~40%, with increase number in sales as well as 
usage.
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- Implementation of the PIN over SMS functionality has been a new channel for the customers to 
receive their PIN for their Debit and Credit Cards that the customers have with our bank via their 
mobile through a simple and fast process. The new implementation is a step toward distance 

- Cards & ATM Network developments  

Aiming the simplification of the processes the financing of individuals under this schema has been 
designed in a way to accelerate and to facilitate the granting of loan without impacting the overall 
portfolio quality and at the same time enhancing customers’ satisfaction and efficiently exploring 
opportunities arising in the market sustaining Retail business growth via alternative ways. 

- New products & initiatives 

- New projects in support of sales 

banking, by enhancing and driving the customers through digital channels with an easier, faster 
and more secure way based on the international standards and requirements of the industry. The 
solution has been implemented in accordance to the security requirement of the industry, certified 
by the card schemas as per PCI Standards. It offers our customers convenient service, time 
reduction, easy process, and being one of the Bank focused on environment friendly strategy.

- The bank has enhanced its ATM network being present in the country with more than 140 ATM-s, 
ranking the 2nd in the market, and aiming to be increased continuously with new and potential 
extra functionalities. Introducing in the beginning of 2021 the ATM Cash IN functionality in 17 new 
Cash in ATMs, we are among top banks offering excellent and competitive advantage for better 
service and Bank access throughout the country. 

- During 2021 top priority has been the expansion of the ATM network, by being present in the 
market with 8 new locations, reaching 16% market share comparing to 11% as of end of December 
2020. The Bank has increased the number of ATM’s across the country with locations on the tourist 
areas, shopping malls, local airports, and key areas of the main cities. Furthermore we have 
reallocated some of our existing ATMs to higher traffic locations. 

Driven by customers’ needs and booming of construction sector the exploration of 3rd party 
channel is further developed by launching a collaboration schema with Construction Companies 
on August 2021 to support the Mortgage volumes generation. Individual customers can be 
financed for a Home purchase loan in construction phase (without having the registration for the 
title deed from Mortgage Office) through the involvement of construction companies via 3rd-party 
agreements, engaging either the company itself or the collateral offered from them in favor of 
OBA. Taking advantage of having the best construction companies as part of our corporate 
clients, we have entered into agreement with the main players in the market and so contributing 
in overall mortgage volumes by 10% since the launch of the project.

- In the scope of expanding the range of products and also anticipate the future savings added 
value for our clients, the bank has launched “Rising Star”, a new deposit product designed for 
children. The product encourages parents to develop good savings habits and plan long terms 
savings in the name of their children. It also gives the possibility to set up a standing order plan 
and build up a lump sum for them over a few years, therefore creating a financial ground for 
fulfillment of their children future and dreams when reaching the mature age of 18th birthday. 

- Aiming to create a special bond with our Payroll customers and incentivizing them to be 
equipped with a wider range of products, specific & dynamic pricing schemas are designed with 
direct positive impact in the Payroll Package price. Every payroll customer that receives a Credit 
Card and/or an overdraft benefits immediately from the pricing schema giving at the same time 
an added value to their daily banking transactions and activity. 
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- In the scope of expanding the range of products and also anticipate the future savings added 
value for our clients, the bank has launched “Rising Star”, a new deposit product designed for 
children. The product encourages parents to develop good savings habits and plan long terms 
savings in the name of their children. It also gives the possibility to set up a standing order plan 
and build up a lump sum for them over a few years, therefore creating a financial ground for 
fulfillment of their children future and dreams when reaching the mature age of 18th birthday. 

- MSE Business Development 

- New Risk sharing schema with EBRD: OTP Bank Albania and the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development, and the EBRD Program for Support of Agribusiness and Tourism 
in Albania are joining forces to improve access to finance for local businesses in the tourism and 
agribusiness sector. The EBRD, the Albanian Government and the EU delivered the second tranche 
of EUR 7.11M for financing the loan in the Agribusiness sector and tourism, two main sectors in 
Albania. Agribusiness is one of the most important sectors of the economy. It provides 
employment for 50% of the population and accounts for about 20% of GDP. Despite this, the sector 
lacks sufficient access to finance, due to high informality, value of the collateral, etc. Tourism is 
also one of the strategic sectors of growth and employment and an important factor for long-term 
sustainable growth and competitiveness. But this sector suffers from similar restrictions regarding 
access to finance especially as a result of COVID-19 and the tragic 2019 earthquake. The program 
also includes a mechanism for Coverage of First Losses with the contribution of the Albanian 
Government.
- Mid-term strategy for Agro Sector: A special focus is dedicated to Agro segment (driven by OTP 
Group). In 2021, OTP Bank Albania built a midterm strategy in order to boost this segment (lending 
+ increase of clientele number). A dedicated staff is in charge to cover this sector and to offer the 
highest know-how to our Network and our clients. Two operative risk sharing agreements with 
RCGF (Rural Credit Guarantee Foundation) to facilitate the lending process for the segment of rural 
businesses and markets that do not meet the requirements of Commercial Banks.

- Aiming to create a special bond with our Payroll customers and incentivizing them to be 
equipped with a wider range of products, specific & dynamic pricing schemas are designed with 
direct positive impact in the Payroll Package price. Every payroll customer that receives a Credit 
Card and/or an overdraft benefits immediately from the pricing schema giving at the same time 
an added value to their daily banking transactions and activity. 
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Risk Management in OTP Bank Albania SHA  

OTP Bank Albania has built and consolidated its risk management culture by complying with 
regulation evolutions. 

Risk are driven through:

Regulatory monitoring and operational monitoring are insured through:

OTP Bank Albania SHA respects at any time the rules and restrictions compulsory by the legal and 
regulatory framework of Bank of Albania as well as any restriction provided by the Mother bank 
(and normative Group rules) or other providers of funds. 

This strong culture and continuous enrichment allow to support the development of our credit 
portfolios under strict control of our risks, resulting with a high quality loan portfolio. 
 
All type of RISKS are covered through dedicated governance.

- Specific organization and devices
- Risk appetite policies and indicators
- Procedures that embed the highest risk standards implemented throughout the organization
- Local limits in place
- A wide range of controls.

- Dedicated reporting with the highest compliance with Bank of Albania and IFRS standards
- Quantitative and qualitative indicators in local and group standards on regular and mandatory 
basis
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1. CREDIT RISK principles reinforced to handle development both in Retail and Corporate.

OTP Bank Albania risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze all type of risks, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by 
means of reliable and up-to-date administrative and information systems. 

OBA regularly reviews its risk management policies and procedures always aiming best practice 
and compliance with the group bank normative. Individual accountability and professionalism 
built and continuously strengthened through trainings, are stressed out to create a disciplined and 
constructive culture and environment.  

Risk appetite and lending policies are defined and reviewed regularly with Board and executive 
committee members: targeted sectors, industries, clients, segments, type of products, guaranties 
and mitigated risks. 

The credit portfolio growth was at satisfying levels for year 2021, while the NPL ratio decreased to 
4.6%, one of the lowest in the Albanian banking system, due to high lending standards and strong 
monitoring of the exposures. 

47% 53%

RETAIL NON-RETAIL

44%
56%

RETAIL NON-RETAIL

Portofolio Composition ON BS
Dec 2020

Portofolio Composition ON BS
Dec 2021

Composition of Loans’ Portofolio 
Dec 2021

Annual Report 202125



 

Provisioning, as key impact on the final financial result of the bank, is under responsibility of Risk 
Management Department, both in Local rules and in IFRS rules. The Bank has continued to monitor 
strictly counterparties which have been in the list of monitoring due to pandemic situation, 
especially MSE segment for specific sectors of the economy. 

OBA strictly follows the Bank of Albania and IFRS rules materialized in clear procedures and 
policies that guide the provisioning process. 

There is no significant change in the provision coverage year after year, with small changes due to 
adjustments of yearly PD and macroeconomic factors. Meanwhile provision coverage for NPL loans 
has increased, reaching a level of 83% on the NPL portfolio, this due to individual assessment for 
Stage 3 clients.  This level of coverage has ensured a clean and safe management of our portfolios. 
During 2021, based on the decision made by the competent management in HQ, new provision rules 
for counterparty exposures with maturity not longer than 3 months have been applied. The Bank 
has applied provision for regulatory required reserve in FCY with central bank, for all placements 
as well as Nostro accounts.

Write Off measures are applied as recommended from the Regulator on both retail and non-retail 
segments

2. MARKET RISKS  

Market Risk is the risk of losses resulting from changes in the price of market products and 
currencies’ volatility. Monitoring consists in monitoring market open market position limits and 
counterparty approved limits within the dedicated limits granted from Board, driven both locally 
and in Headquarter on daily basis. Aim is to profit from anticipated variations in foreign exchange. 
Respect of all limits in place is done with the most conservative approach. 

Daily monitoring involves:

Monthly monitoring involves:

- Debtor risk 
- Delivery risk 
- Replacement risk

- Sovereign risk 
- Country risk 
- Counterparty Risk
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3. COMPLIANCE must meet client interest protection, transparency and confidentiality.  

The Bank guarantees equal access towards loans for clients and rejects loan applications only 
when they are based on violation of policies and procedures, or risk factors higher than those 
acceptable by the bank.

The Bank maintains fully transparent loan terms and rates, as an essential part of its relationship 
with the clients. The Bank makes sure that its clients well understand these terms and conditions 
and they take decisions related to the loan that best fits their interest. The Bank employees provide 
all required information to clients regarding loan terms and conditions.

All aspects of customer relationship with the bank are strictly confidential. Bank employees ensure 
that all data and information on the clients are well maintained and available only to relevant Bank 
personnel.

The Bank is legally obliged to release credit information without client consent only when a court 
order is presented to the bank, when it is requested so by Bank of Albania or by other institutions 
that have such legal rights.

4. OPERATIONAL RISKS are governed through a dedicated unit in order to cover the whole 
bank aspects.

Operational risk is management by the Operational Risk Sector, part of the Risk Management 
Department since 2019. It aims to provide an overall framework that summarizes the activities of 
identifying, monitoring and controlling the risks that may be associated with people, processes, 
systems or external events as well as follow action plans for mitigation of potential risks that the 
Bank may face.

AML & CFT Risks are treated with a due diligence from the first relation instauration with the 
customer (Know Your Customer – KYC procedure), the filtration of his profile and the analysis of his 
transaction during the lifecycle relation with the bank.

5. LIQUIDITY RISKS are mastered under Finance Department through ALM function in 
collaboration with Treasury Department.  

However, in the scope of its liquidity management activity, OBA collaborates with a number of 
nonresident and resident banks (only several top rated European banks and a few reputable 
Albanian banks), which are subject to periodic debtor risk assessment and limitations from 
specialized departments in headquarter (Mother bank). Locally, OBA Treasury and Risk functions 
remain responsible of monitoring strict compliance with approved counterparty limits.

6. STRUCTURAL RISKS  

Structural Risk includes interest rate and exchange rate risks which are risks of loss or of 
depreciation in the bank’s assets arising from variations in interest or exchange rates. ALM function 
under Finance Department monitors these risks. 
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PROJECTS OF 
THE YEAR 2021

For the third consecutive year, we continued our partnership and further increased our ATM 
network to 130 ATMs. We are now the second bank with the highest number of ATM locations all 
over the country with a special focus on touristic areas and able to serve our customers in more 
locations than ever before. During 2021 we have registered an increase in cards transaction by over 
30% compared to 2020. 

During 2021, the bank has overtaken around 30 projects covering different areas in business needs, 
legal requirements and IT infrastructure upgrade. Projects have transversal involvement of 
diversified banking teams and more than 41% of the projects are managed by certified Project 
Managers. The dedicated PM teams offer regular training to internal staff from different 
departments in order to increase their “know-how” on PM methodology in place.

Another major transformation depicting 2021, was the change of our card processor which further 
reinforced our strategic direction for 2021. The challenge of this project was to do it with zero effect 
to our card users and this was successfully completed in the first days of December 2021. The full 
migration of over 65,000 cards to the new card processor was accomplished in less than 2 hours 
and the full set of card services was again available within the first 6 hours after the change. The 
new card processor allows the bank to be more flexible and faster on development of new cards 

services and was the beginning of a series of new projects aiming further development of cards 
activity and the introduction of new services. 

Full customer journey of Treasury Deals processes was reshaped during 2021 and a series of project 
aiming automation of these processes were successfully implemented. Internal development of 
interfaces was implemented in order to connect different tools used by front office, back office and 
core banking in order to increase efficiency, minimize risk and reduce of workload in branches. 

During 2021, our IT infrastructure continued to offer a high level of availability for all key services 
and no major incidents recorded. IT Department is harmonized in their IT direction, roadmap, the 
bank strategy and group directives, for operation of existing services and development of new 
ones. 

Update of Core Banking System started in Q4 2021 and aims correction and implementation of new 
services including implementation of new web services. The bank continues its program for 
upgrade in IT infrastructure and a series of interventions were done on our network infrastructure 
of our internet exposed services to improve security and guarantee a high network availability 
24x7. All our internal phone communication network was upgraded and moving to VOIP (Voice over 
Internet Protocol) service. 

OTP Bank Albania applies a series of administrative, logical and physical control measures to 
protect our IT systems ‘storing and processing data’. Access to our system is possible only based on 
a predefined authorization management process. User management, authentication and password 
management are controlled by policies and regularly audited. The Bank has updated its system 
that collects and retains the complete log of all data processing activities and the confidentiality, 
availability, integrity of these audit logs is ensured there is a continuous, up-to-date protection 
applied in all our systems. Our card fraud monitoring tool operation is continuously updated with 
new rules and we managed to further improve our fraud rate despite a significant increase of card 
activity with more than 25% on year to year comparison.
 
The bank continued its plan for investment of our branch network adding a new branch in Tirana 
and full reconstruction of another one. The costs were carefully monitored and controlled via a 
well-defined sourcing policy in place. Real estate market was in focus of our cost control during 
2021 and market studies were performed for several cities and rental negotiation action plan was 
prepared and implemented. 
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Projects of the year 2021

After quite an unusual year of 2020, during 2021 the bank resumed its strategy on improvement of 
digital channels, define of a new IT strategy, process efficiency and cost control. 

Reshape Program was our focus during 2021 with 3 main pillars: 

Thanks to these initiatives, a series of improvements were implemented in the respective areas and 
further improved or simplified our products and service to increase customer satisfaction. 
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channel during 2021 was increased with more than 25% compared to 2020. Along with a totally new 
look and user interface, the upgrade mobile application included several innovative features to 
serve customers such as (international transfers, download of account statements, payment of 
fiscal invoices, notification and payments of different utility bills, etc. The number of outgoing 
transfers via online channels was increased with another 5% from year to year and surpassing the 
branch network as the main channel for outgoing transfer generation.
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- Review and optimization of customer onboarding and KYC forms. 
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ones. 

Update of Core Banking System started in Q4 2021 and aims correction and implementation of new 
services including implementation of new web services. The bank continues its program for 
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24x7. All our internal phone communication network was upgraded and moving to VOIP (Voice over 
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protect our IT systems ‘storing and processing data’. Access to our system is possible only based on 
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applied in all our systems. Our card fraud monitoring tool operation is continuously updated with 
new rules and we managed to further improve our fraud rate despite a significant increase of card 
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well-defined sourcing policy in place. Real estate market was in focus of our cost control during 
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HUMAN RESOURCES 
AND TRAINING 
DEPARTMENT
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ones. 
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that collects and retains the complete log of all data processing activities and the confidentiality, 
availability, integrity of these audit logs is ensured there is a continuous, up-to-date protection 
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new rules and we managed to further improve our fraud rate despite a significant increase of card 
activity with more than 25% on year to year comparison.
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1. Pandemic Management
2. Recruitment
3. Employee Development
4. Engagement and Motivation
5. Employer Branding

 

Human Resources and Training Department

Human Resources and Training Department works in accordance with the strategic direction of OTP 
Bank Albania and aims to support the business and the development of its employees. We are very 
proud of the teams that support the bank’s business objectives, and its achievements are a clear 
illustration of the quality of individuals as direct contributors to their performance, but also to the 
synergy created by teamwork.

For Human Resources and Training Department, 2021 was challenging and successful at the same 
time. During 2021, the activity of our Department was focused on 5 main operational fields such as 
below:

Pandemic Management

OTP Bank Albania continued its mission to support employees and their wellbeing, this due also to 
the anti-COVID restrictions in place during the major part of the year, in order to preserve the 
continuation of the Bank’s daily business. OTP Bank Albania provided the opportunity for a free PCR 
test to any COVID suspected employees in order to assure employees about their safety at work.

Through different and continued awareness and anti-COVID Safety Protocol communications for 
employees and their immediate family members, the normal business continuation of the Bank 
was guaranteed. Offering also the Telemedicine services, doctor’s service 24 hours a day, 7 days a 
week, provided additional security and attention towards OTP Bank Albania’s employees’ health.

Recruitment

In OTP Bank Albania, taking into account the dynamics of the organizational structure and the 
contribution of each position in the development and performance of the bank, a very special 
importance is given to the recruitment and training for all new employees. 

During 2021, our focus continued to be the promotion of internal employees and their professional 
growth in new positions with greater challenges and innovation. 62 employees were promoted into 
new positions, guaranteeing knowledge conservation and development within the Bank. They are 
prepared and skillful employees that succeed challenges and achieve desired objectives.

Through the Internship Program offered to graduated students, OTP Bank Albania provides 
opportunities to explore and develop new talents, contributing also in the development of the new 
generation in the banking industry. 
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Statistics

 

Employee Development

Employee development has been and remains a priority to OTP Bank Albania. During the first part 
of the year, taking into consideration that Albania was in the effect of strict anti-COVID restrictions, 
the training strategy continued to be to deliver trainings virtually with specifically adapted 
modules in order to make them as efficient as possible for all Bank employees.

The last 4 months of 2021, associated also with the ease of anti-COVID restrictions in Albania, 
trainings started to be gradually provided with the physical presence of employees in the training 
room, increasing the collaboration and team spirit within the teams of OTP Bank Albania.

During 2021, trainings were focused primarily in the below topics:

The average age of the employees in OTP Bank Albania is 37 years old.

Total staff 469

252

217

319

150

53.7%

46.3%

68%

32%

Head Office  

Branches Network  

Females 

Males 

•  Trainings on new functionalities of the Bank.
•  Strengthening risk culture and financial analysis
•  Encouraging collaboration with new employees 
•  Anti-Money Laundering 
•  Healthcare and Personal Safety
•  Improvement of Customer Experience
•  Managerial Culture Development
•  Increase of Commercial Efficiency
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The general training data for 2021 are demonstrated in the table below:

 
 

 

 

Related to the employee development in OTP Bank Albania, compared to 2020, during 2021, HR & 
Training Department reached an increase with almost 20% in the total training hours provided for 
its employees.

Considering that 2020 was special regarding the training organization due to COVID-19 Pandemic, 
comparing training hours realized in 2021 with those in 2019, HR & Training Department increased 
the delivered training hours with almost 18%. 

2019 2020 2021

11,916

1,490

455

26.2

11,706

1,463

458

25.6

14,045

1,756

469

29.6

Total Number of Training Hours 

Total Number of Training Days 

Total Number of Employees Trained 
at least Once 

Average Training Hours per Employee 

Engagement and Motivation

Our employees are the team that executes the strategy and enable the bank to move forward. So, 
continuing in 2021, we ensured to never stop the organization of different activities for them and 
their children, in order to further increase their engagement and motivation and at the same time 
support their passions, ideas and desires. The commitment taken from each individual employee 
and the team spirit in the Bank enabled OTP Bank Albania to have one of the highest employee 
engagement levels compared to all other OTP Group entities in the region.

Employer Branding

OTP Bank Albania gives special importance to the relations with higher education institutions and 
students of different faculties. These educational institutions are the source of qualitative 
candidates, potentials to join and become part of OTP Bank Albania. 

During 2021, HR & Training Department of OTP Bank Albania was engaged in many different 
activities with these institutions, such as: job fairs organized from universities, delivering open 
lectures with the topic ”Skills needed for the future in the labor market” and many others.  

In the framework of increasing OTP Bank Albania’s brand to be an attractive employer in the 
Albanian labor market and at the same time, to evaluate potential qualitative candidates to 
become part of our Bank’s team, Human Resources and Training Department organized the Second 
Edition of the Research Paper Competition, inviting students from all Albanian universities and 
faculties.

Ideas drawn from a genuine scientific research of the students in their research papers with the 
topic: The future of tourism in Albania were quite innovative. The winning students were provided 
with internship possibilities in OTP Bank Albania’s Head Office in Tirana, as well as the monetary 
prize for the 3 winning spots.

Remuneration Policy

The purpose of the Bonus Schema is to incentivize employees to achieve Targets/ Objectives settled 
by their respective supervisor. The bonus schema aims to increase the employee results and boost 
the quality of the services and products offered. This way, the overall bank results will increase.  

All the bank’s employees are eligible to a bonus schema based on their respective job position. In 
case an employee is entitled to one certain bonus schema based on the bank policy, he/she is not 
entitled to be part of a second bonus schema in the bank.

The remuneration components at OTP Bank Albania are divided into three categories:
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Engagement and Motivation

Our employees are the team that executes the strategy and enable the bank to move forward. So, 
continuing in 2021, we ensured to never stop the organization of different activities for them and 
their children, in order to further increase their engagement and motivation and at the same time 
support their passions, ideas and desires. The commitment taken from each individual employee 
and the team spirit in the Bank enabled OTP Bank Albania to have one of the highest employee 
engagement levels compared to all other OTP Group entities in the region.

Employer Branding

OTP Bank Albania gives special importance to the relations with higher education institutions and 
students of different faculties. These educational institutions are the source of qualitative 
candidates, potentials to join and become part of OTP Bank Albania. 

During 2021, HR & Training Department of OTP Bank Albania was engaged in many different 
activities with these institutions, such as: job fairs organized from universities, delivering open 
lectures with the topic ”Skills needed for the future in the labor market” and many others.  

In the framework of increasing OTP Bank Albania’s brand to be an attractive employer in the 
Albanian labor market and at the same time, to evaluate potential qualitative candidates to 
become part of our Bank’s team, Human Resources and Training Department organized the Second 
Edition of the Research Paper Competition, inviting students from all Albanian universities and 
faculties.

Ideas drawn from a genuine scientific research of the students in their research papers with the 
topic: The future of tourism in Albania were quite innovative. The winning students were provided 
with internship possibilities in OTP Bank Albania’s Head Office in Tirana, as well as the monetary 
prize for the 3 winning spots.

Remuneration Policy

The purpose of the Bonus Schema is to incentivize employees to achieve Targets/ Objectives settled 
by their respective supervisor. The bonus schema aims to increase the employee results and boost 
the quality of the services and products offered. This way, the overall bank results will increase.  

All the bank’s employees are eligible to a bonus schema based on their respective job position. In 
case an employee is entitled to one certain bonus schema based on the bank policy, he/she is not 
entitled to be part of a second bonus schema in the bank.

The remuneration components at OTP Bank Albania are divided into three categories:

1. Base salary (fixed)
2. Variable remuneration
3.Other benefits

1. Base salary 

The base salary represents gross income excluding other benefits and bonuses.

The base salary for the Management Board is defined based on the policy of OTP Group.

a. The base salary for employees is defined based on the below-mentioned elements: 
•  Position responsibilities and professional skills required for the position 
• Maintaining a competitive salary level in the market
• Employee experience in the position 
• The grade structure for the position 

b. Meanwhile, the increase of the base salary for employees is related to the fulfilment of the 
following criteria:  
•  Employee performance  
•  The level of employee salary compared to the level of salary by grade 
•  Annual budget set for salary increases 
•  Promotion of an employee in another position 
•  Period from the last salary increase
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2. Variable remuneration

Variable remuneration is related to employee's results on annual performance and sales. The staff 
performance evaluation process is performed every year. Performance evaluation is divided into 
two parts: qualitative and quantitative evaluation.

The bonus for sales force is based on the quarterly sales results and is distributed to the sales force 
on a quarterly basis (4 times a year).

The bonus for the support staff in Head Office is distributed once a year, based on the annual 
performance, without exceeding the budget allocated for this bonus.

According to the remuneration policy of OTP Group, the Executive Managers and some other 
managerial positions receive a bonus based on their position, performance and a defined 
percentage. The positions allocated in this category are determined according to the criteria 
defined by OTP Group.

The Board of Directors is rewarded with a fixed monthly payment based on an agreement. 

3. Other benefits

Other benefits may be non-cash or cash benefits as follows:

•  Bonus for maternity leave 
• Medical check up
• Phone Package
• Per diems for travel expenses 
• Fuel
• Christmas gifts for children 
• One salary bonus
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Remuneration Forms and Elements for the Executive Managers (every EoY) (in 000/ ALL) 

Fix 
Remuneration 91,312 80,658

91,312 80,658Cash/bonus

Forms and elements of Remuneration 
for Executive Managers 

Immediate/for the 
actual period Year 2021

Deferred 
Year 2020

Shares

Other

Variable 
Remuneration 22,320 12,460

22,320 12,460

Cash/bonus

Shares

Other

Fix 
Remuneration 9,778 10,478

9,778 10,478Cash/bonus

Remuneration Forms and elements
for Board of Directors  

Immediate/for the 
actual period Year 2021

Deferred 
Year 2020

Shares

Other

Variable 
Remuneration

Cash/bonus

Shares

Other

Remuneration Forms and Elements for the Board of Directors (every EoY) (in 000/ ALL)
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Corporate Social Responsibility 

2021 was a dynamic year, filled with challenges that were faced by us in the best possible way. 
Under the prism of our aspirations, support for various categories was very kindly offered, in order 
to contribute to the improvement of art, culture, education and well-being of the society in which 
we live.

Corporate Social Responsibility has always been in the attention of OTP Bank Albania, in line with 
the aim of development and growth.

Not stopping in creating good deeds and with the desire to leave a positive mark, OTP Bank Albania 
has carried out a series of initiatives within the framework of social responsibility during 2021.

SDG 4 
Providing inclusive and equitable quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities 
for all
  

The Elves Workshop

Quality education is the essential system that guarantees 
the future of a country. With this principle, OTP Bank has 
provided support for a number of projects with a wide 
impact on the public.
In support of art and educating children to embrace it, 
OTP Bank Albania supported a 4-day project that educates 
children through theatre.
The main goal of this event was to convey the atmosphere 
of the end of the year holidays to all the participating 

children, mainly to those with financial difficulties. The entertainment that was provided, the 
information that was conveyed, the joy in the hearts of the little ones and their smiles proved once 
again that the support of the arts by OTP Bank is a must.

Sponsorship of arts and culture
Katrori i Pushtetit

“Katrori i Pushtetit” ” is the newest Albanian series 
dedicated to media freedom and freedom of expression in 
our country.
Another successful cooperation of OTP Bank Albania goes 
to the support of arts. Albanian cinematography is moving 
with a fast step towards success and OTP Bank could not 
miss to be part of its journey. Freedom of speech is a 
fundamental right that brings development and we 
consider it as the foundation of the progress of our 
community. In line with the policy of support and social 

responsibility, OTP Bank Albania offered its assistance in the realization of such a project, which 
raises value. #RollForGreatness 
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Sponsorship of arts and culture
HOT TV Series- “Humans of Tirana”

The series H.O.T belongs to the drama-comedy genre and 
dealt with a multi-dimensional story that addressed 
ubiquitous social phenomena. This production was 
following the Bank's decision to help the country's 
cinematographic productions, and the promotion of local 
art.
After 2 successful films, Mamaqi brought a series which 

Tiran marathon

If we do not have good health, we feel that we are missing 
something vital, because our life depends on the 
well-being of our health. OTP Bank Albania year after year 
echoes "healthy living".
On October 17, 2021, the Municipality of Tirana organized 
the 5th edition of  "Tirana Marathon". This activity is known 
as one of the most important sports events in the country, 
the participants of which were not only Albanian citizens, 
but also from different countries of the world.
OTP Bank Albania participation in the marathon was 

EBRD presents the results of the GEFF program

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
(EBRD) has recognized the contribution of OTP Bank 
Albania on the importance of energy efficiency as very 
important.
Our bank has made the GEFF loan available to a large 
number of families thus contributing to the overall 
success of the GEFF program in the Western Balkans.
Within this program and to appreciate all the efforts of 
the staff, the prize from EBRD is the donation of 20 trees 

kept many viewers glued to the TV screen.

SDG 3 
Ensuring healthy living and promoting well-being for all at all ages.  

SDG 7
Ensuring access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all. 

represented by some of its employees who ran the 10 km race.
Out of 1798 participants of the 10k race, Altin Gjika, IT Department Manager and Flori Ndoja, IT 
Network Operations Specialist, were among the first performers.
All our colleagues represented us well and each of them ran for a cause, a personal goal or a or 
dedication, but all under a single slogan “RunForGreatness”.

and their planting in the entire Western Balkans on behalf of OTP Bank Albania.
The trees were planted in mid-November 2021, during the tree planting season to ensure the trees 
survive and thrive. The trees will be a lasting legacy for the new generations and an impetus for 
OTP Bank Albania in its mission to promote energy efficiency.

Annual Report 202140
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The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
(EBRD) has recognized the contribution of OTP Bank 
Albania on the importance of energy efficiency as very 
important.
Our bank has made the GEFF loan available to a large 
number of families thus contributing to the overall 
success of the GEFF program in the Western Balkans.
Within this program and to appreciate all the efforts of 
the staff, the prize from EBRD is the donation of 20 trees 

Promotion of Tourism in Albania 

In support of the promotion of Albanian tourism, OTP 
Bank Albania decided to sponsor the "Vizito Devollin" fair.
This fair was organised during the month of August in the 
village of Ziçisht. The village was chosen as one of the 
places with more traditions and culture in the Devoll area.
With the kindness of the locals, with their traditional 
dishes and customs, "Visit Devolli" fair aimed to transform 
the tourist villages of Devoll into several main tourist 
destinations.

“Books, lifelong friends of mankind!” 

Reading brings peace to the soul and mind. 
OTP Bank Albania has always been an ally of knowledge 
and the expansion of knowledge.
 “Mashtruesit financiarë, nga Ponzi…te Madoff” by Adrian 
Civici is the book that was released on the market with the 
support of OTP Bank.
This book is the result of several years of work by the 

and their planting in the entire Western Balkans on behalf of OTP Bank Albania.
The trees were planted in mid-November 2021, during the tree planting season to ensure the trees 
survive and thrive. The trees will be a lasting legacy for the new generations and an impetus for 
OTP Bank Albania in its mission to promote energy efficiency.

SDG 8
Promotion of sustainable, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive 
employment and decent work for all. 

SDG 4
Provide inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for 
all. 

As always, OTP Bank Albania supports these activities and stands by them in every case.

author, who introduces to the reader the stories of the world's largest pyramid schemes, and not 
only.
As a banker, we need to receive such information and as a result we will always be close to such 
realizations.
Supporting knowledge is a task accepted with great pleasure by OTP Bank Albania.
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SDG 4
Providing inclusive and equitable quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities 
for all. 

Supporting arts

We are always in support of great things. One of these 
areas is art and culture. This time, thanks to the "Donate 
Culture" program from "Arte" foundation, we believed in 
the greatness that the students of the "Jeronim de Rada" 
school can achieve through sound. OTP Bank, in order to 
be closer to the development of young talents, donated a 
piano, an instrument which was very necessary for the 
progress of the school's young talents. Towards a future 
where they belong because they were meant for 
greatness.

From OTP Family to yours 

The association "Albania" Vlora, with the support of OTP 
Bank, offered some food packages to families in need in 
the city of Vlora. Helping the people in need is a pleasure 
and an obligation for all of us.
OTP Bank Albania, as always, has an "eye" on the 
elimination of hunger in the world.
Our goal is to help all marginalized groups; so we will 
always be active in this direction, not sparing our physical 
and monetary commitment to help any category in need.

SDG 2
Eliminating hunger, achieving food security and improved nutrition and promoting sustainable 
agriculture. 

National Day of Olive Oil 

Albanian producers and artisans are a major factor in the 
economic growth of the country and the creation of jobs. 
Their support has always been the focus of OTP Bank 
Albania.
With this thought in mind, OTP Bank supported the 
National Olive Oil Day, which was organized on June 19, in 
the coastal city of Vlora. Albanian companies producing 
olive oil and its by-products from Tirana, Elbasan, Vlora, 

SDG 8
Promoting sustainable, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive 
employment and decent work for all. 

Berati, Delvina and Lukova participated in the fair. 
Furthermore, the visitors were introduced to a variety of handicraft products presented at this fair.
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Sponsorship of online book fair

Books are our best friends and helping to organise the 
month of the book, despite the pandemic situation we 
were in, was very special for OTP Bank.
To support all book readers, OTP Bank Albania decided to 
contribute to the online promotion of the book fair. All 
book lovers watched the entire fair through virtual 
platforms.

SDG 4
Provide inclusive and equitable quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities 
for all. 

SDG 4 
Providing inclusive and equitable quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities 
for all. 

Sponsorship of the "Partizani Basket" basketball 
team: In support of the sport.

Through the sponsorship of sports, OTP Bank Albania aims 
to promote a healthy lifestyle.
This time OTP Bank decided to sponsor the basketball club 
"Partizani" (men’s team). The goal was to achieve the 
team's objectives and represent them as dignified as 
possible in the matches of the superior league during the 
development of the activity of the 2021 sports calendar.
A total of 15 matches were played, of which 5 were cup 

Organized by Bank of Albania and the Albanian 
Association of Banks, OTP Bank Albania sponsored the 
competition for the best post on the topic "The impact of 
Covid-19 on the economy and care for personal finances 
during the pandemic".
The Chief Executive Officer of OTP Bank Albania, Mr. Bledar 
Shella distributed the prizes to the two winners of the 
competition, congratulating them on their creativity.

"It is a great pleasure to see the young generation putting to 
use the knowledge gained at school. OTP Bank Albania, with 

matches for categories A and B.

the belief that everyone is meant for greatness, will always support young talents in their journey 
towards the future",  said Mr. Bledar Shella.
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OTP Bank sponsors Metropolitan University in Tirana

In support of innovative ideas with the aim of helping 
young people with an entrepreneurial spirit to present 
and realize their business ideas, OTP Bank Albania 
sponsored the organization of the Start-up City activity. 
In its third edition, Start-Up City was organized in 
collaboration with Tirana Metropolitan University. The 
activity was monitored by lecturers and professional 
individuals from different fields, among them Mrs. Jonila 
Janku, Marketing Department Manager at OTP Bank 
Albania, who selected the best brands, enabling their 

SDG 4 
Providing inclusive and equitable quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities 
for all. 

Sponsorship of the National Medical Sciences 
Conference

The support for medical professionals who were on the 
front line and face the difficulties that the pandemic 
period brought every day, takes on even more value when 
it materializes.
OTP Bank Albania accepted to sponsor the activity 
"National Conference of Medical Sciences 8". This activity 
is organized for the 8th year in a row, as a meeting point 

SDG 3
Ensuring healthy living and promoting well-being for all at all ages. 

for professionals from all over Albania, and it is absolutely the largest activity ever organized in the 
region in medical. 
The National Conference of Medical Sciences 8, due to the conditions of the pandemic, was held in 
Tirana and some other districts, by 10 Webinars that were organized.

further development in the market.
Start-Up City took place in three consecutive months and was finalized on May 13-14, days in which 
the prizes of the winners were also distributed. 
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Customer Experience

As the pandemic restrictions were lifted during 2021, daily operations went gradually back to 
normal, at least to the new normal with the respective adaptions.

OTP Albania stayed focused on its employees and clients, implementing the newly introduced ways 
of reaching the audience. Clients’ activity on alternative channels increased, laying the foundations 
for more innovative services soon. Meanwhile the Bank enriched its online banking platform with 
additional services and functionalities and its user experience met the international standards.

Quality Service Center offered the full range of services non-stop during the year, to make possible 
changes as smooth as possible. The user experience of OTP Albania is considered as exemplary, 
and we have managed to live up to this reputation regardless of the continuous increase of 
transactions.

During 2021, surveys were frequent and feedback from customers was very detailed. Focus groups 
included individual and business clients, aiming at offering an excellent experience when using 
online banking.

For the third year in a row, OTP Albania cooperated with the renowned KANTAR to evaluate 
customer satisfaction and perception of the brand OTP, as well as their expectations regarding our 
products and services. We scored considerably better at TRiM, which is one of the main indicators 
of satisfaction from a certain brand. At the end of 2021, OTP Albania was positioned as the country 
affiliate with most significant increase in TRiM KPIs. As the below graph clearly illustrates, OTP 
Albania is substantially ahead of competition and compared to the market average.
 

During last year, we improved the performance as measured with the On the Spot methodology 
that is considered one of the most advanced solutions to analyze reactions of customers – within a 
time frame of one hour at maximum. It is worth mentioning that OTP Albania is still the only bank 
in the country to use this prestigious approach.

Corporate Culture and Processes within the Bank enjoyed special attention all over the year. The 
CEO and high management of OTP Bank Albania initiated 7 events to try and find new ways of 
communication between employees. All staff was involved in activities to boost trust and 
transparency and emphasize the values of the organization.

The process and criteria of qualifying for loan grant were greatly simplified due to implementation 
of 14 initiatives targeting various categories of clients. 7 workflows that affect our clients now 
request less paperwork. All these improvements led to new ways of increasing our efficiency and 
the satisfaction of our clients and employees too.

95
OTP Bank 

82
Competitors

83
Country Specific
Benchmark

TRI*M INDEX 2021
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1. Board of Directors

Actual mandate – 25.03.2019 - 25.03.2023

Mr. Péter Bese, Hungarian citizen, holds a Master degree in Corporate Finance from Corvinus 
University of Budapest. He holds the position of Managing Director of International Retail 
Directorate at OTP Group Hungary, HQ and a member of the Supervisory Board at JSC OTP Bank 
Ukraine and also appointed as Chairperson of the Board of Directors of OTP Bank Albania SHA. He 
has started his career as a financial consultant at a global firm and then continued his path in the 
banking sector. 

Mr. Bese’s first role at OTP Bank Plc in Budapest, begun in the Retail Group Steering followed by 
several years of solid leadership within the Group being able to leverage on the resources of his 
team to further enhance and achieve desired results. Mr. Bese has gained extensive knowledge of 
business management practices and developed expertise in retail banking in eleven markets of the 
CEE region, such as Bulgaria, Slovakia, Romania, Croatia, Serbia, Montenegro, Ukraine, Slovenia, 
Moldova, Albania and Russia. 

Mr. Bese also has several years of board experience from the supervisory and Board of Directors of 
OTP Slovakia, OTP Russia and OTP Ukraine, Expressbank Bulgaria, Vojvodjanska Banka and OTP 
Bank Hrvatska, Zadar. He acts with integrity and always in compliance with local regulations and 
OTP Group Rules of Conduct.”

Z. Péter Bese 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Actual mandate – 25.03.2019- 25.03.2023

Mr. Arpad Srankó, Hungarian citizen, holds a degree from the Budapest University of Economic 
Sciences and Public Administration (Corvinus University of Budapest) Faculty of Economic Sciences.

Mr. Srankó started his career in the banking sector in early 2005, before the financial crisis. He has 
been following closely and partaking in the fundamental changes that occurred in the banking 
industry. Mr. Srankó also contributed to the process in which OTP Group has been transformed to a 
regional champion from a local incumbent bank, through a couple of acquisitions, mergers and 
integrations in multiple waves. 

His banking experience has developed through years being promoted in challenging positions. 
From 2016, Mr. Arpad Srankó was Head of Foreign Subsidiaries’ Strategy, Planning and Controlling 
Department at OTP Bank Plc and since February, 2021, He was promoted as the Managing Director 
of the Group Strategy, Planning and Controlling Directorate. His activities cover operation of OTP 
Group members in 11 countries in the CEE, SEE and CIS regions mostly in commercial banking 
industry. Mr. Srankó has gained invaluable knowledge on banking operations, primarily focusing 
on: financial performance, business activity and sales performance, product and business line 
profitability and cost controlling. Mr. Srankó was a member of the Supervisory Board of OTP Banka 
Hrvatska (Croatia) and a member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Audit and Accounts 
Committee of Podgoricka Banka (Montenegro) and a member of the Board of Directors of OTP 
Building Society Ltd (Hungary). From March, 2019, Mr. Srankó is the vice-chairman of the Board of 
Directors of OTP Bank Albania and also chairs the Audit and Accounts Committee.

Z. Arpad Srankó  
Vice-chairman of the Board of Directors
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Actual mandate – 25.11.2021 – 25.11.2025

Dr. Tibor Kovács, Hungarian citizen, is graduated as Doctor of Laws with the highest distinction 
from the University of Miskolc, Hungary. Dr. Kovács has a Master's Degree in Banking Law from the 
Eotvos Lorand University, Postgraduate Institute of Laws, Budapest, Hungary and a Master’s Degree 
in European and International Relations and Management from the University of Amsterdam, the 
Netherlands. 

Mr. Kovács has been working in the banking and legal industry since 1996 and gained valuable 
experience through the years. Prior to working at OTP Bank Plc., he has worked in other reputable 
banking group, namely, ING Bank, CIB Bank (Banca Intesa Group) and Volksbank as well as in 
reputable international law firms, Arthur Andersen Legal and Allen & Overy, respectively.

Dr. Tibor Kovács has joined OTP Bank in 2008 as Deputy Managing Director at the Legal Directorate. 
Mr. Kovács responsibilities consist in advising the bank in high-scale corporate finance, project 
finance and retail finance, including digital finance matters. He was involved in all bank 
acquisitions (leading legal due diligence and negotiating legal documentation) in the CEE region 
made by OTP Group since 2013. Dr. Kovacs has gained invaluable knowledge and experience as a 
Supervisory Board member at OTP Funds Servicing and Consulting Company Ltd. since July 2014 
and member of the Board of Directors of OTP Bank Serbia (April, 2010 – April, 2021).
From November, 2021, Dr. Tibor Kovács is member of the Board of Directors of OTP Bank Albania.

Z. Tibor Kovács  
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Actual Mandate - 06.03.2019 - 06.03.2023

Mr. Aleksandër Xhuvani. Albanian national, was firstly graduated on 1980 in Electrical Engineer 
field, specialized in Industrial Automatization, at the Faculty of Engineering of Tirana University 
(Albania), and then he graduated again as Engineer in Industrial Electronics and DEA (Diplôme 
d’Etudes Approfondies) in the field of Electrical Genius at ENSEEIHT (Ecole Nationale Supérieure 
d'Electrotechnique, d'Electronique, d'Informatique et d'Hydraulique de Toulouse) in France. Later 
on, in 1989, he obtained the scientific degree of “Doctor” from the National Polytechnic Institute of 
Toulouse and in 2013, he was graduated with a Master in Business Administration from 
Montesquieu-Bordeaux IV University, in France. Mr. Xhuvani started his scientific career in 
September 1985 as a researcher at LEEI (Laboratoire d’Electrotechnique et d’Electronique 
Industrielle) of ENSEEIHT. From November 1989 to January 1992 he assumed the position of 
Lecturer at the Faculty of Engineering of Tirana University. From January 1992 to January 2008 he 
was appointed Director for International Relationships at the Polytechnic University of Tirana (UPT) 
and kept the position of fulltime Professor at the Faculty of Electrical Engineering. Since January 
2008, Mr. Aleksandër Xhuvani keeps the position of fulltime Professor at the Department of 
Computer Sciences, at the Faculty of Information Technology of UPT. 
He is a Member of the Albanian Academy of Arts and Sciences and from 1998 until 2018 he kept the 
position of Director of “Institut Français de Gestion de Tirana” , at Polytechnic University of Tirana 
(UPT). Since 2015, Mr. Xhuvani is a member of the Accreditation Board of Higher Education of the 
Republic of Albania and a member of the Albanian group for European reform in this field. 
Professor Xhuvani has been awarded, in 2002, the "Knight of Academic Palms" Medal by the French 
Minister of Education and, in 2014, the "Knight of the National Order of Merit" Medal by the 
President of the French Republic.
 

Z. Aleksandër Xhuvani 
Member of the Board of Directors
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Actual mandate - 06.03.2019 – 06.03.2021

Mr. Adrian Civici, an Albanian national, holds a degree and a Master’s degree in Agricultural 
Economics from the Agricultural University of Tirana, in Albania, with a Ph.D. in Business 
Administration from the Agricultural University of Tirana, in Albania, and a Ph.D. in Economy from 
ENSA.M (National Institute of Higher Education in Agricultural Sciences of Montpellier, France). He 
has conducted his post doctoral studies in 1995. In 2009 Mr. Civici has received l’Ordre des Palmes 
Académiques (The Order of Academic Palms) from the French Scientific Academy, in France, while in 
2011 he obtained the scientific degree of “Professor in Economic Sciences” from the University of 
Tirana, Albania. Mr. Civici started his career in 1983 as an agrarian economist in an agricultural 
state farm. In 1984, he assumed the position of Lecturer and researcher in the Department of 
“Administration and organization” at the Agricultural University of Tirana, Albania. From 1992 to 
1994 he held the position of Vice-Dean of the Faculty of Agriculture in Tirana. In 2001, he was 
appointed Adviser to the Minister of Finance and President of “Centre for Sustainable 
Development”, in Tirana, Albania. From 2002 to 2006 Mr. Civici held the position of Director of the 
National Strategy for Socio-economic Development Department at the Ministry of Finance, Albania. 
Later on, from 2005 to 2014 he was elected Member of the Supervision Board of the National Bank 
of Albania. 

In 2007 he was appointed Rector of the European University of Tirana, Albania and in 2011 Director 
of the Doctoral School. Since 2014, Mr. Civici is member of the Jean Monnet Key Staff (Albania 
toward EU and Regional Development “ALEURD”) and during  2014 – 2019 Mr. Civici was elected 
President of the European University of Tirana, Albania. In 2019, Mr. Civici was appointed Dean of 
the Faculty of Economics at the Mediterranean University, then He was appointed Rector of this 
University. In 2020 he was elected a member of the Academy of Sciences of Albania with the title 
"Associate Academic". Mr. Adrian Civici has published numerous books, scientific articles, research 
papers and studies in both national and international press, as well as in international scientific 
journals.

Z. Adrian Civici   
Member of the Board of Directors
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Actual mandate - 25.03.2019 – 25.03.2023

Dr. János Veres, a Hungarian national, holds a Degree in Engineering from the Faculty of 
Agricultural Sciences of the University of Debrecen (Hungary) and a PhD in Economics from Karl 
Marx University, Budapest (Hungary). Dr. Veres has a work experience of 32 years in both the private 
and public sector From 1997 till 2002, Dr. Veres was the Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce and 
Trade of Szabolcs-Szatmár-Bereg County. He has been an elected member of the Hungarian 
National Assembly (1994 – 2014) and over the years Dr. Veres has developed his career in politics 
where it is worth mentioning his elections as: Secretary of State in the Ministry of Finance 
(2003-2004), Secretary of State in the Prime Minister's Office (2004-2005) and Minister of Finance 
(2005-2009). In his role as Minister, Dr. Veres has been in charge of the regulatory, supervisory and 
monitoring issues of the banking sector and other financial institutions, taxation questions of the 
economy, the whole budgetary field and the management of the state owned assets. He also 
elaborated and implemented a successful crisis management scheme in order to deal with the 
impacts of the 2008 financial crisis. Dr. Janos Veres has been elected as Mayor of his hometown, 
Nyírbátor (2002 – 2003) and now he continues to give his valuable contribution at the City Council 
of Nyírbátor. In regard to his academic career, in 2009 Dr. Veres was a Docent at the University of 
Debrecen and he is the author of many financial related articles, publications and lecturer of 
Hungarian and foreign Universities in financial and economical field. Since March 2019, Dr. Veres is 
member of the Board of Directors of OTP Bank Albania.
 

Z. János Veres 
Member of the Board of Directors

Annual Report 202153



Actual mandate – 15.10.2019 – 15.10.2023

Mr. Armand Duka, Albanian citizen, holds a Degree in Economy from University of Tirana (Albania), 
specialized as Economist in Industry in 1986. Mr. Duka has started his career as Economist at the 
Mall Park of Burrel in 1986 and in 1990-1991 at the Export Mall Park of Durrës. Starting from 1993, 
Mr. Armand Duka is a private entrepreneur and shareholder in some well-known businesses in 
Albania, where he reconfirms his great management and decision-making skills. Mr. Armand Duka 
was elected President of the Albanian Football Association in 2002, a position he currently holds by 
being re-elected in 2006-2010-2014-2018. During these years as the President of Albanian Football 
Association, Mr. Duka was also elected as: Member of the UEFA Federations Committee 
(2008-2012); Vice-Chairperson of the UEFA National Federations Committee (2006-2008); Deputy 
Chairman of the National Team Competitions Committee (2008-2013); Deputy Chairman of National 
Federations Committee (2013-2016); Vice-Chairman of HatTrick Committee (2016-today); Member of 
the FIFA Federations Committee (2008-2012) and Member of the Confederations Cup Organizing 
Committee (2012-2017). Through years, Mr. Armand Duka has been honored with several titles as: 
“Honorary Citizen” (1998) conferred from Municipality of Shijak and “City Honor” (2001), “Symbol of 
Durres City” (2002) and “Dyrrah-3000” (2003) conferred from Municipality of Durres City and 
“Durresi” Association. In 2010, President of the Republic of Albania, Mr. Bamir Topi decorated him 
with senior title “Naim Frashëri” of the First Class for his outstanding contribution in the 
management and development of the Albanian football. In 2019, Mr. Duka has received the title 
“Honorary Consul of Hungary” for the Republic of Albania. Since October 2019, Mr. Armand Duka is 
Member of the Board of Directors of OTP Bank Albania. 

Z. Armand Duka 
Member of the Board of Directors
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2. Audit and Accounts Committe 

Actual mandate – 25.03.2019- 25.03.2023

Mr. Arpad Srankó, Hungarian citizen, holds a degree from the Budapest University of Economic 
Sciences and Public Administration (Corvinus University of Budapest) Faculty of Economic Sciences.
Mr. Srankó started his career in the banking sector in early 2005, before the financial crisis. He has 
been following closely and partaking in the fundamental changes that occurred in the banking 
industry. His banking experience has developed through years and subsequently has grown in his 
duties and positions. Mr. Srankó also contributed to the process in which OTP Group has been 
transformed to a regional champion from a local incumbent bank, through a couple of acquisitions, 
mergers and integrations in multiple waves. From 2016, Mr. Arpad Srankó was Head of Foreign 
Subsidiaries’ Strategy, Planning and Controlling Department at OTP Bank Plc and since February, 
2021, Mr. Srankó was promoted as the Managing Director of the Group Strategy, Planning and 
Controlling Directorate. His activities cover operation of OTP Group members in 11 countries in the 
CEE, SEE and CIS regions mostly in commercial banking industry. Mr. Srankó has gained invaluable 
knowledge on banking operations, primarily focusing on: financial performance, business activity 
and sales performance, product and business line profitability and cost controlling. Mr. Srankó was 
a member of the Supervisory Board of OTP Banka Hrvatska (Croatia) and a member of the Board of 
Directors and Chairman of the Audit and Accounts Committee of Podgoricka Banka (Montenegro) 
and OTP Building Society Ltd in Hungary. From March, 2019, Mr. Srankó is the vice-chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Banka OTP Albania SHA and also chairs the Audit and Accounts Committee.

Z. Arpad Srankó 
Chairman of the Audit and Accounts Committee
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Actual mandate – 06.03.2019 – 06.03.2023

A Czech national, Ms. Jitka Pantucková holds a Degree in International Economics from the School 
of Economics in Prague (Czech Republic) and a PhD from the Economy Institute of the Czechoslovak 
Academy of Sciences (Czech Republic). Ms. Pantucková started her career in 1973 as an Editor at the 
Czechoslovak Press Agency. In March 1991, she was nominated Head of the Territorial Department 
of the Investiční a Poštovní banka, a.s. In October 1992, she became Director of Correspondent 
Banking and International Business Department. In June 1998 she was appointed Head of IPB 
special team for Euro and EU. In June 2000 IPB, a.s. was overtaken by ČSOB, a.s. and Ms. 
Pantucková was nominated Head of ČSOB special Project Team for Euro and EU. She was an 
Executive Director and Member of the Directors Committee responsible for Operations at Komerční 
banka, a.s. from 2002 to 2009. In April 2004 elected “Manager of the Year 2003“in the Czech 
Republic. From January 2010 to January 2015, she was member of the Ohridska Banka, Societe 
Generale AD Ohrid and President of the Board of Directors. While from June 2010 to January 2015 
she has chaired the Audit Committee of banka Societe Generale Montenegro. From June 2015 till 
April 2019, Ms. Pantucková has been chairing the Board of Directors of Societe Generale Albania 
and starting from September 2015 till April 2019 she also presided the Audit and Accounts 
Committee. Mrs. Pantucková continues to give her valuable contribution as a member of the Audit 
Committee of OTP Bank Albania.

Znj. Jitka Pantucková
Member of the Audit and Accounts Committee
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Actual Mandate – 06.03.20199 – 06.03.2023

Diana Ylli (Golemi), an Albanian national, holds a degree in Economics from the Faculty of 
Economics, University of Tirana (Albania), with a post-graduate degree in Informatics and also in 
Sociology. Since 1997, she is a Legal Auditor (CCA) from the Institute of Authorized Chartered 
Auditors of Albania (IEKA) and from 2011 she is Certified Auditor from Society of Certified 
Accountants and Auditors of Kosovo (SCAAK). She has over 30 years of experience in her profession. 
Diana Ylli (Golemi) started her career in 1986 as a programmer at the Economic Department of the 
Ministry of Light Industry in Tirana (Albania). From July 1993 to November 1997 she was Head of 
Finance at the Accounting Department of the Share Holding Flour Company in Tirana. From 
November 1997 until May 1999, she has worked at “Deloitte & Touche” Audit Company. In 1999, 
Diana Ylli (Golemi) was one of the founders of “ILD-99 Audit” Ltd Company, one of the biggest 
Independent Audit Firms in Albania. For two consecutive mandates (6 years, from 2006 - 2012), she 
successfully led the Institute of Authorized Chartered Auditors in Albania as Chairman. After 17 
years of experience in providing high quality services in audit and accounting as the Managing 
Partner for ILD - 99 Audit, in 2015, she joined Mazars, an international company in the field of 
auditing and accounting. She is currently an audit partner of Mazars in Albania. Throughout her 
professional career, she has provided services in auditing, tax and other advisory services. Her 
experience covers different industries including: banking and microfinance institutions, energy and 
Utilities, technology and telecommunications, construction, manufacturing, distribution, public 
sector, International Donor’s funded Projects and NGOs. Diana Ylli is also a certified Audit and IFRS 
trainer.

 Znj. Diana Ylli 
Member of the Audit and Accounts Committee 
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OTP BANK ALBANIA SH.A. 
 
(amounts in ‘000 Lek) 

1 
 

 

Statement of financial position  

as at 31 December 2021 

  
 Notes 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
     
Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 6   9,382,469   5,535,926  
Restricted balances with Bank of Albania 7   8,007,719   7,235,095  
Loans and advances to financial institutions 8 1,377,826   1,558,261  
Investment in debt securities at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  9 25,111,835  21,779,703 
Loans and advances to customers, net 10     67,435,247     57,291,244  
Finance lease receivables 10.1    1,223,557   1,162,428  
Other assets 11 388,105  455,104  
Property and equipment 12   658,354   636,292  
Right of use asset 13 590,217  581,385 
Intangible assets 14 211,504  208,223 
Repossessed assets 15 15,634  37,122 
Total assets  114,402,467  96,480,783 
     
Liabilities     
Due to financial institutions and banks 16   17,428,758   12,585,651  
Due to customers 17   82,377,573   72,890,101  
Lease liabilities 18   596,244   601,945  
Other liabilities 19    2,356,739    624,280 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 20    218,994    183,018 
Deferred tax liability, net 21    131,991    139,533 
Total liabilities  103,110,299  87,024,528 
     
      
Share capital 22 6,740,900  6,740,900 
Share premium  1,750  1,750 
Reserves  23 2,112,590  2,155,818 
Retained Earnings  2,436,928  557,787  
Total equity  11,292,168  9,456,255 
Total liabilities and equity  114,402,467  96,480,783 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial 
statements set out on pages 5 to 107. 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  
 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

Note 
Year ended 

31 December 2021  
Year ended 

31 December 2020 
     

Interest income using effective interest method 24      4,018,191       3,796,468 
Interest expense using effective interest method 25   (398,090)    (362,182) 
Net margin on interest and similar income  3,620,101   3,434,286 
     
     
Fee and commission income 26   850,548    623,230  
Fee and commission expense 27   (281,255)    (204,630) 
Net fee and commission income  569,293   418,600 
     
ECL charges on financial assets 28 (149,850)   (1,100,896) 
     
Foreign exchange transactions, net  219,588  176,761 
Gain from sale of financial assets at FVOCI 9 7,697  - 
Gain /(Loss) from sale of property and equipment    4,201    (315) 
Gain / (Loss) of repossessed assets together with 
remeasurement of impairment provision  49,283  (77,115) 
Other gain /(losses), net    (2,898)    8,598  
Net other income   277,871  107,929 
     
Depreciation expense 12   (99,770)    (87,736) 
Amortization expense 14 (59,069)    (70,754) 
Depreciation expense for right of use asset 13   (184,250)   (182,325) 
Personnel expenses 29   (944,997)    (894,733) 
Administrative expenses 30   (774,897)    (782,448) 
Total expenses   (2,062,983)  (2,017,996) 
Other non-operating expense  -  (11,724) 
Profit before taxes   2,254,432     830,199 
Current Income tax expense  31   (352,312)    (155,596) 
Deferred Income tax income 21,31   10,171    (11,599) 
Profit/(Loss) for the year, net    1,912,291    663,004 
      
Other comprehensive income     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Change in fair value for Investments in debt securities 
(FVOCI), net of tax  14,874  (451,450) 
Other comprehensive loss/ income(loss) for the 
year, net of tax  14,874  (451,450) 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  1,927,165  211,554  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to 
and forming part of the financial statements set out on pages 5 to 107. 
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1. General 
 
OTP Bank Albania sh.a., formerly known as Societe Generale Albania, (“the Bank”) is an Albanian financial 
institution which was incorporated on 12 December 2003 under the Albanian Commercial Law and was 
licensed by the Bank of Albania (“the Central Bank”) on 16 February 2004 (Decision No. 17) to operate as a 
bank in all fields of banking activity in Albania in accordance with the Law No. 8365, “On the Banking System 
in Albania”, dated July 1998. The Bank is also subject to Law No. 8269, dated December 1997, “On the Bank 
of Albania”. The Bank started its activity on 1 March 2004.  
Based on a Share Purchase Agreement signed on 28 March 2019, OTP Bank NYRT bought 100% of shares 
of Societe Generale Albania from the previous shareholder Societe Generale Group domiciled in France (see 
Note 21). OTP Bank NYRT is the ultimate parent of the Group. 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank was operating through a head office located in Tirana and 39 branches 
(2020: 38 branches). The Bank operates in the geographical region of Albania only. As at 31 December 2021 
the Bank had 469 employees (31 December 2020: 458 employees). The Bank’s registered office is at Twin 
Towers, Blv. "Dëshmorët e Kombit", Kulla 1, Kati 9, Tirana, Albania. 
As at 31 December 2021, the Board of Directors and Audit Committee of the Bank is composed by the 
following members:  
Board of Directors Peter Janos Bese  Chair 
 Janos Veres Member 
 Arpad Sranko Member 
 Adrian Civici Member 
 Tibor Kovacs Member 
 Aleksander Xhuvani Member 
 Armando Duka Member 
   
Audit Committee Arpad Sranko Chair 
 Jitka Pantuckova Member 
 Diana Ylli Member 

2. Operating Environment of the Bank  
 
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a global pandemic. 
In response to the pandemic, the Albanian Government authorities implemented numerous measures 
attempting to contain the spreading and impact of COVID-19, such as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, 
salary payments to those terminated employment enforceable by employers, payment holidays and limitations 
on business activity, including closures. The above measures were gradually relaxed during 2020 and 2021. 
These measures have, among other things, severely restricted economic activity in Albania and have 
negatively impacted, and could continue to negatively impact businesses, market participants, clients of the 
Bank, as well as the Albanian and global economy for an unknown period of time. As a response of the 
pandemic situation two developments occurred in Albania: 
 
Two moratoriums granted by Bank of Albania respectively extension up to 1 June 2020 and thereafter up to 
31 August 2020, dated on 17.03.2020 and 28.05.2020 “The postponement of the payment of loan instalments 
for business entities and individuals”. Based in the Civil Code and the regulations of the Bank of Albania, the 
parties has agreed on the rescheduling of loans to businesses and individuals affected by the pandemic 
Public Guarantee limit granted by Ministry of Finance to OTP for the salaries of customers, the activity of 
which is affected by the decisions of the Council of Ministers, in the framework of managing the situation 
created by Covid-19". The Sovereign Guarantee Line was issued in favour of each commercial bank, from 
which ALL 2,550,000,000 was distributed to OTP Bank Albania sha.   
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2. Operating Environment of the Bank (continued) 

Management is taking necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Bank’s operations and support its 
customers and employees:  
 
- Maintenance of operations (closed offices, % of employees working from home, etc.);  
- Increase in the capability of digital services (% of increase in transactions performed without offices visits);  
- Offering payment holidays on consumer loans and reduction of interest rate on credit card facilities as per 
moratorium.  
- Customer support programmes implemented (including those sponsored by the government) and their scale 
(i.e. number of loans restructured); 
 
The future effects of the current economic situation and the above measures are difficult to predict, and 
management’s current expectations and estimates could differ from actual results. For the purpose of 
measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”) the Bank uses supportable forward-looking information, 
including forecasts of macroeconomic variables. As with any economic forecast, however, the projections and 
likelihoods of their occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual 
outcomes may be significantly different from those projected.  
Note 3(j) provides more information of how the Bank incorporated forward-looking information in the ECL 
models. In March 2020, the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) emphasised in its 
educational materials that an appropriate judgment has to be applied when determining the effects of COVID-
19 on expected credit losses under IFRS 9, given the significant uncertainty that exists, in particular when 
assessing future macroeconomic conditions. Deteriorating economic forecasts have caused and are likely to 
continue to cause an increase in expected credit losses and hence greater volatility of profit or loss. 

3. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. Refer to 
Note 5 
(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation  
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) under the historical cost basis, except for fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 
financial assets that have been measured at fair value and repossessed collaterals which are measured at the 
lower of cost and net realizable value. The financial statements provide comparative information in respect of 
the previous period. The financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous 
period  
The Bank has prepared the financial statements on the basis that it will continue to operate as a going concern 
see note 5.B. 
(b) Functional and presentation currency 
These financial statements are presented in Albanian Lek (“Lek”), which is the Bank’s functional and 
presentation currency.  
(c) Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.  

The foreign currency gain or loss on financial instruments held at amortized cost is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and 
payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the 
end of the period.  

  As at December 31, 2021  As at December 31, 2020 
USD  106.54  100.84  
EUR  120.76  123.70  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Interest 
Effective interest rate method 
Interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all financial instruments 
measured at amortized cost, including financial lease. Interest income on interest bearing debt instruments 
measured at FVOCI are also recorded by using the EIR method. Interest expense is also calculated using the 
EIR method for all financial liabilities held at amortized cost.  The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
The EIR (and therefore, the amortized cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Bank recognizes interest 
income using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected 
life of the loan. Hence, it recognizes the effect of potentially different interest rates charged at various stages, 
and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 
If expectations of fixed rate financial assets or liabilities cash flows are revised for reasons other than credit 
risk, then changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a consequential 
adjustment to the carrying amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive 
or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability on the balance sheet with a 
corresponding increase or decrease in Interest revenue/expense calculated using the effective interest method.   
For floating-rate financial instruments, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the movements in the  
market rates of interest also alter the effective interest rate, but when instruments were initially recognised   
at an amount equal to the principal, re-estimating the future interest payments does not significantly affect the  
carrying amount of the asset or the liability.  

The IBOR reform Phase 2 amendments allow as a practical expedient for changes to the basis for determining 
contractual cash flows to be treated as changes to a floating rate of interest, provided certain conditions are 
met. The conditions include that the change is necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform and that the 
transition takes place on an economically equivalent basis. 

Interest and similar income / expenses 
Income from banking operations, including income from loans and advances to customers, income from banks 
and other financial institutions, are recognized in profit or loss by applying the EIR to the gross carrying 
amount of financial assets other than credit-impaired assets.  
When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired and is, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3’ (see Note 3 (j) (v) A), 
the Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the 
financial assets cures (as outlined in Note 36.b) and is no longer credit-impaired, the Bank reverts to 
calculating interest income on a gross basis. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets (as set out in Note 36.b), the Bank 
calculates interest income by calculating the credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortized cost 
of the financial asset. The credit adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, at initial recognition, discounts the 
estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortized cost of the POCI financial assets. 
The credit adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, at initial recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows 
(including credit losses) to the amortized cost of the POCI financial assets. 

The Bank also holds investments in financial assets issued in with negative interest rates. The Bank discloses 
interest paid on these financial assets as interest expense, with additional disclosures in Note 24. 
Interest income on financial lease is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method 
(before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return / by applying the rate implicit in the lease to (i) 
the gross book value of lease receivables in stage 1 and 2 and (ii) net carrying amount of lease receivables in 
stage 3 of the ECL model. Income from leases is recorded within other similar income in profit or loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(e) Fees and commission 
The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee 
and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Bank expects 
to be entitled in exchange for providing the services. The performance obligations, as well as the timing of 
their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the inception of the contract. The Bank’s revenue contracts 
do not include multiple performance obligations, as explained further in Notes A and B below.  
When the Bank provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and generally due immediately  
upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time or at the end of the contract period for a service  
provided over time. 
The Bank has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically  
controls the services before transferring them to the customer. 
A. Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time 
Fees and commission earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. 
These fees include commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, and 
placement fees.  
B. Fee income from providing financial services and earned on the execution of a significant act  
Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction with a third 
party, such as other fees and commission expense relating mainly to transaction and service fees, are 
recognized on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain 
performance are recognized after fulfilling the corresponding criteria. 
C. Fee income forming an integral part of the corresponding financial instrument 
Fees that the Bank considers to be an integral part of the corresponding financial instruments include loan 
origination fees, loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees. 
The recognition of these fees (together with any incremental costs) forms an integral part of the corresponding 
financial instruments and are recognized as interest income through an adjustment to the EIR. The exception 
is, when it is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognized as revenue on 
expiry. Loan commitments that are within the scope of IFRS 9 (i.e., are designated as FVPL, or are at a below 
market rate of interest, or are settled net) are accounted for as derivatives and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
  

Annual Report 202169



OTP BANK ALBANIA SH.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated) 

 9 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(f) Leasing 

The Bank assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
i. Bank acting as a lessee 

Accounting for leases by the Bank as a lessee.  
The Bank leases land, office premises, equipment and cars. Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and 
a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Bank. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period. The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and depreciated over the shorter of the asset's 
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on 
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:  
 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;  
 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;  
 amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;  
 the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and  
 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.  
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and 
conditions.  
Payments under long-term leases of land based on cadastral value of land are treated as variable lease payments 
that are not based on an index or a rate.   
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:  
 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;  
 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
 any initial direct costs, and 
 restoration costs. 
In determining the lease term, management of the Bank considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options 
(or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to 
be extended (or not terminated).   
The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects 
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.   
The Bank applied the Amendment to IFRS 16 to COVID-19 related rent concessions granted by lessors for 
the period April - June 2020. These concessions were recorded as a reduction in the lease liability and variable 
rent in the period in which they were granted.    

 

ii. Bank acting as a lessor 
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the lease payments receivable are recognised as rental 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Bank routinely sells assets held for rental under 
operating leases when the leases are terminated. Such assets are transferred to inventories at their carrying 
amounts when they cease to be rented. The proceeds from sale are recognised as revenue with the 
corresponding cost of goods sold.  As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Bank has not act as a lessor.  

The Bank is exposed to finance leases as a lessor and accounting policy is disclosed in Note 3(m). 

(g) Operating expenses 
The operating expenses are recognized when incurred. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Employee benefits 

(i) Defined contribution plans 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when they are due. The Bank makes only 
compulsory social security contributions that provide pension benefits for employees upon retirement. The 
local authorities are responsible for providing the legally set minimum threshold for pensions in Albania under 
a defined contribution pension plan.  
(ii) Short-term benefits 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. A provision is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus 
or profit-sharing plans if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of 
past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
(iii) Other long-term employee benefits 
The Bank’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
(iv) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Bank can no longer withdraw the offer of those 
benefits and when the Bank recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months of the reporting date, then they are discounted. 
The fair value of the amount payable to employees, which are settled in cash, is recognised as an expense with 
a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period during which the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in 
the liability are recognised as personnel expenses in profit or loss. 
(i) Income tax expense 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in the Statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly 
in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. 
(i) Current Tax 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.  
The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 
(ii) Deferred Tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the statement of financial position method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences such as changes in fair value and in 
depreciation and amortization. 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realized. Tax deduction for lease payments is allocated to depreciation of right of use asset and interest cost 
on the lease liability. As a result, temporary differences arise upon initial recognition of a new lease where the 
Bank is a lessee 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments  
(i) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement  
Date of recognition 
Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to 
customers, are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention 
in the market place. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when funds are transferred to the 
customers’ accounts. The Bank recognizes balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank. 
Initial measurement of financial instruments 
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the 
business model for managing the instruments, as described in Notes 3 (j) (ii) (business model assessment and 
SPPI test). Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value (as defined in Note 3 (j), except in 
the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or 
subtracted from, this amount. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from 
the transaction price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below. 
Day 1 profit or loss 
When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is 
based on a valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognizes the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value 
is based on models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction 
price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, 
or when the instrument is derecognized. 
Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 
The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the 
asset’s contractual terms, measured at either: 

 Amortized cost, as explained in Note 3(j) (iii) A 
 FVOCI, as explained in Note 3(j) (iii) C 
 FVPL, as explained in Note 3(j) (iii) D 

The Bank classifies and measures its trading portfolio at FVPL. The Bank may designate financial instruments 
at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies, as 
explained in Note 3(j) (i) D. 
Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized cost or 
at FVPL when they are held for trading and derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied, as 
explained in Note 3(j) (i) D. 
The Bank has no equity instruments as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
(ii) Classification 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL: 
–– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;  
–– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI. 
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL: 
–– the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets; and 
–– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 
(ii) Classification (continued) 

Business model assessment 
The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets 
to achieve its business objective. 
The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of 
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as: 
 How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are 

evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel 
 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 

business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed 
 How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the 

fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected) 
 The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment. 
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress 
case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that is different from 
the Bank's original expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets 
held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly 
purchased financial assets going forward. 
The Bank manages its financial assets under the “held to collect” business model, except for investment 
securities that are managed under the “held to collect and sell” business model. 

The SPPI test  
As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to 
identify whether they meet the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) test. 
‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition 
and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or 
amortization of the premium/discount). 
The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the 
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgment and considers 
relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the 
interest rate is set. 
In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial 
asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 
 (iii)  Financial assets and liabilities 
A - Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial investments at amortized cost 
The Bank only measures Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and other financial investments 
at amortized cost if both of the above conditions regarding business model and SPPI test are met. 
B - Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading 
The Bank classifies financial assets or financial liabilities as held for trading when they have been purchased 
or issued primarily for short-term profit making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of 
financial instruments that are managed together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term 
profit taking. Held-for-trading assets and liabilities are recorded and measured in the statement of financial 
position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in net trading income. Interest and dividend income 
or expense is recorded in net trading income according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to 
payment has been established. The Bank does not hold any instruments for trading purposes.  
C - Debt instruments at FVOCI  
The Bank applies the category of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following conditions 
are met: 
 The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets 
 The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test 
FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes 
in fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost as explained in Note 3 (j) (iii) A. 
The ECL calculation for Debt instruments at FVOCI is explained in Note 3(j) (iii) C. Where the Bank holds 
more than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. 
On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit 
or loss. 
D - Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been 
either designated by management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair 
value under IFRS 9. Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one 
of the following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis: 
 The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise 

from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; or 
 The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities, which are managed and their performance evaluated 

on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or 
 The liabilities containing one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the 

cash flows that would otherwise be required by the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when a 
similar instrument is first considered that separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited. 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair 
value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value 
of liabilities designated at FVPL due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value 
are recorded in the Own credit reserve through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest 
earned or incurred on instruments designated at FVPL is accrued in interest income or interest expense, 
respectively, using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs 
being an integral part of instrument. 

 Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using contractual interest 
rate. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVPL is recorded in profit or loss as other 
operating income when the right to the payment has been established. 

 The Bank does not hold any financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit 
or loss (note 3 (j) (iii) D).   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 
(iii)  Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
E - Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments 
The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. Financial guarantees are initially 
recognised in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the premium received. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the 
amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization recognised in the income statement, and an ECL 
provision as set out in Note 20. 
The premium received is recognised in the income statement in Net fees and commission income on a straight 
line basis over the life of the guarantee. Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments 
under which, over the duration of the commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified 
terms to the customer. The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn 
loan commitments, where the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the 
statement of financial position. The nominal values of these instruments together with the corresponding ECLs 
are disclosed in Note 20. 
(iv) Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 
The Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the 
exceptional circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial 
liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities during 
2021 and 2020. 
(v) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
A - Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have 
been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a 
derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly 
recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to 
be POCI. 
When assessing whether or not to derecognize a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers the 
following factors: 
 Change in currency of the loan 
 Introduction of an equity feature 
 Change in counterparty 
 If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion.  
If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result 
in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a 
modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

 (v)   Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

B - Derecognition other than for substantial modification 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also 
derecognizes the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for 
derecognition. 

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

 The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; or 
 It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement. 

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash 
flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to 
one or more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 

 The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent 
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the amount 
lent plus accrued interest at market rates 

 The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients 
 The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material delay. 
In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or cash 
equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of required 
remittance to the eventual recipients. 

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 

 The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 
 The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 

transferred control of the asset. 
The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the 
asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 
imposing additional restrictions on the transfer. 

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained 
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing 
involvement, in which case, the Bank also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be 
required to pay. 

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset, 
the continuing involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In 
the case of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

 (v)   Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

B - Derecognition other than for substantial modification 

Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another, from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. From the quantitative 
perspective, a substantial modification for the financial liabilities is considered a change of more than 10 
percent between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the modified one. The difference 
between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit 
or loss. 
(vi)  Impairment of financial assets  
A - Overview of the ECL principles 
The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at 
FVTPL: 
–– financial assets that are debt instruments. 
–– lease receivables; 
–– financial guarantee contracts issued; and 
–– loan commitments issued. 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL (LTECL), except for the following, 
for which they are measured as 12-month ECL (12mECL): 
–– debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
–– other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased significantly 
since their initial recognition (see Note 36 b) 

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on 
the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments. The Bank’s policy for grouping financial assets 
measured on a collective basis is explained in Note 36 (b)(iii). 
The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a 
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the 
change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. This is further 
explained in Note 36 (b) (iii). 
Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, and Stage 3, as described below: 
 Stage 1: When credit exposures are first recognised, the Bank recognizes an allowance based on 12mECLs. 

Stage 1 credit exposures also include facilities where the credit risk has improved, and the loan has been 
reclassified from Stage 2. 

 Stage 2: When a credit exposure has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank 
records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 credit exposures also include facilities, where the credit risk 
has improved, and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

 Stage 3: Credit exposures considered credit impaired. The bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. Note 
36 (b) (i).  

B - The calculation of ECLs 
The Bank calculates ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash 
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows 
that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

 (vi) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

B - The calculation of ECLs (continued) 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

 PD - The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A 
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously 
derecognized and is still in the portfolio. The concept of PDs is further explained in Note 36 (b) (ii). 

 EAD - The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, 
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued 
interest from missed payments. The EAD is further explained in Note 36 (b) (iii). 

 LGD - The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a 
given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender 
would expect to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a 
percentage of the EAD. The LGD is further explained in Note 36 (b) (v). 

When estimating the ECLs, the Bank considers three scenarios, an optimistic, base and pessimistic. Each of 
these is associated with different PDs, EADs and LGDs, as set out in Note 3(j) E. When relevant, the 
assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including 
the probability that the loans will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for 
selling the asset. 

With the exception of revolving facilities, for which the treatment is separately set out in Note 3(j), the 
maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument 
unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier. 

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains 
that are accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value.  

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarized below: 

 Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The 
Bank calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months 
following the reporting date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD 
and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. This 
calculation is made for each of the three scenarios, as explained above. 

 Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an 
allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of 
multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash 
shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 

 Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired (as defined in Note 3 (b) (i), the Bank recognizes the lifetime 
expected credit losses for these loans.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 
 (vi)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
B - The calculation of ECLs (continued) 
 
 POCI: POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only 

recognizes the cumulative changes in lifetime ECLs since initial recognition, discounted by the credit 
adjusted EIR. 

 Loan commitments and letters of credit: When estimating 12mECL or LTECLs for undrawn loan 
commitments, the Bank estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down 
over 12-month period or over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present value of the expected 
shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is drawn down. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted at an 
approximation to the expected EIR on the loan. For revolving facilities that include both a loan and an 
undrawn commitment, ECLs are calculated and presented together with the loan. For loan commitments 
and letters of credit, the ECL is recognised within Provisions. 

 
C - Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI 

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets 
in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance 
that would arise if the assets were measured at amortized cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated 
impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in OCI is 
recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets. 
 
D - Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI) 

For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognizes the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial 
recognition in the loss allowance. 
 
E - Other revolving facilities 

The Bank’s product offering includes retail overdraft facilities, in which the Bank has the right to cancel and/or 
reduce the facilities with one day’s notice. The Bank does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the 
contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Bank’s expectations of 
the customer behavior, its likelihood of default and the Bank’s future risk mitigation procedures, which could 
include reducing or cancelling the facilities. Based on past experience and the Bank’s expectations, the period 
over which the Bank calculates ECLs for these products, is seven years for retail products. 

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving facilities is 
similar to other lending products. This is based on shifts in the customer’s internal credit rating, but greater 
emphasis is also given to qualitative factors such as changes in usage. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 
 (vi)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

F - Forward looking information 

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as economic inputs, such as: 
 GDP growth 
 Unemployment rates 
 Bank of Albania base rates 
 Consumer price index 

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into the measurement of ECL. The Bank has identified 
and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, 
using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between GDP growth and credit losses. 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at 
the date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made 
as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material. Detailed information about these 
inputs and sensitivity analysis are provided in Note 36 (b) (vii) and Note 36 (b) (xi). 
 
(vii) Collateral valuation 

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral 
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, 
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. The proceeds from 
sale of collaterals assigned to the Bank through its lending arrangements are used as one of the potential 
scenarios for ECL calculation purposes. Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement 
of financial position. 

However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, 
at inception and re-assessed on a three-year basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities 
relating to margining requirements, is valued daily. Details of the impact of the Bank’s various credit 
enhancements are disclosed in Note 36 (b) (xii). 

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other 
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using models. Non-financial 
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as external independent 
appraisal. 

(viii) Write-offs 

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has no reasonable 
expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. If the amount to be written off is 
greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that 
is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss 
expense. 

(ix)  Forborne and modified loans 

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the 
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. 

The Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the 
borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the 
borrower had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or 
significant concerns raised by the Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment 
arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

 (ix)  Forborne and modified loans (continued) 

Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated before 
the modification of terms. It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future payments 
continue to be likely to occur. 

Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case 
basis. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 
3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off. 

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognized, the Bank also reassesses whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk, as set out in Note 36 (b) (viii). The Bank also considers whether 
the assets should be classified as Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain forborne 
for a minimum 24-month probation period. In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, 
the customer has to meet all of the following criteria: 

 All of its facilities have to be considered performing 
 The probation period of six months has passed from the date the forborne contract was considered 

performing 
 Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during at 

least half of the probation period 
 The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due.  

(x) Offsetting 

The Bank does not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless required or permitted by an 
IFRS. In addition, the Bank presents on a net basis gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions, 
for example, foreign exchange gains and losses. However, the Bank presents such gains and losses separately 
if they are material. 

(xi) Fair value measurement 
Valuation principle 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement under current market conditions 
(i.e., an exit price), regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation 
technique. In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a 
hierarchy of valuation techniques. 

Valuation governance 

The Bank’s fair value methodology and the governance over its models includes a number of controls and 
other procedures to ensure appropriate safeguards are in place to ensure its quality and adequacy. All new 
product initiatives (including their valuation methodologies) are subject to approvals by various functions of 
the Bank including the risk and finance functions. The responsibility of ongoing measurement resides with the 
business and product line divisions. 

The Asset-Liability Committee approves the methods applied by OTP Bank Albania for determining fair value. 
Middle Office Department puts forward proposals with regard to the methods applied by OTP Bank Albania 
for determining fair value in conjunction with the Accounting and Finances Department, it consults with the 
Bank’s auditor with regard to the measurement principles. It determines the fair value of all money and capital 
market instruments traded by the Bank on a daily basis as far as possible, but at least once a month and 
continuously checks the compliance of the inputs used for the purposes of measurement and that of the 
valuation techniques. If it detects persisting deviations, it commences a review of the inputs and measurement 
principles used for the measurement. In accordance with the monthly closure orders, it forwards the fair value 
data to the Treasury Back Office Department and to the Accounting/Finance Department for processing. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

(xi)     Fair value measurement (continued) 

Valuation governance (continued) 

Treasury Back Office Department corrects within its own competence or have corrected all discrepancies 
detected in the analytical system without delay and notifies the designated competent persons at the Middle 
Office Department and at the Treasury Department simultaneously with regard to the discrepancies detected 
in the position keeping system.  

Accounting and Finance Department performs the required IFRS accounting based on the fair values provided. 
Treasury Department ensures the completeness of the transactions conducted by the Treasury Department in 
the position keeping system. In the event of incorrect recording, it performs the necessary correction(s) in the 
position keeping system and concurrently, notifies the competent persons at the Treasury Back Office 
Department and at the Middle Office Department for repeated verification. It provides opinion on the reliability 
of the data sources used for the measurement and on the compliance of the measurement principles. 

Valuation technique 

The Bank shall use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available. 

Valuation techniques can be typically classified into two main groups: 
- Market approach 
- Income approach 

The market approach primarily uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
involving identical or similar instruments. The Bank applies the market approach for the measurement of liquid 
position-based products (purchase and sale of bonds). This is the ideal approach to measure the fair value of 
all the Albanian Governments T-Bills and Bonds, however, only a limited number of bonds have daily quotes. 
For long positions, the market bids are the main input in the fair value measurement for: 
- The benchmark bonds denominated in ALL and the 
- Albanian Eurobonds. 
The income approach defines the discounted net present value of future cash flows. When the income approach 
is used, the fair value measurement reflects current market expectations about future amounts. 
The group of valuation techniques applying the income approach include, among others, present value 
calculation techniques using the constructed yield curve which is derived mainly from the average market mid-
quotes and also the latest T-Bills or Bonds Auctions’ results. All the bond portfolio excluding 
Benchmark bonds denominated in ALL currency and Albanian Eurobond are valued using the income 
approach. 
In present value measurement, the following factors need to be considered: 

 an estimate of future cash flows 
 expectations about possible variations in future cash flows 
 the time value of money 
 the risk premium for bearing the uncertainty inherent in the cash flows 
 other factors that market participants would take into account under the circumstances 
 for a liability, the non-performance risk, including the entity’s own credit risk. 

The bank uses the Kondor + system for the construction of the ALL yield curve and the valuation of the whole 
securities portfolio designated at fair value in accordance with the above stated valuation techniques. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

(xi)     Fair value measurement (continued) 

Valuation techniques used to measure fair value should maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimize the use of estimated inputs. Based on the selected significant inputs, the Bank classifies fair value 
measurement into one of three different hierarchy levels. 
 Level 1 includes measurements based on quoted prices observed for identical instruments in active 

markets where: the Bank has access to trading and the frequency and volume of transactions are sufficient 
to continuously provide information in the appropriate quality for the measurement. 

       Currently the bank doesn’t have a trading portfolio, even though the bank has the access to trading. 
Moreover, from the past experiences, the bank has found it difficult to buy from secondary market for 
bonds denominated in ALL or EUR currencies. The benchmark bonds on ALL might satisfy the above 
conditions, however, the frequency and volume of transactions are not that satisfactory. 

 Level 2 includes measurements based on inputs that are not included within Level 1 but provide directly 
or indirectly observable information about the measurement of a given instrument: 

       - quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets. 
       - quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active (markets that have few 

transactions and where prices are not up-to-date or fluctuate in an excessively broad range either in terms 
of time profile or among the market makers are considered to be not active). This is the case for Albanian 
Benchmark Bonds, denominated in ALL and for Albanian Eurobonds. 

        - other observable market data that may influence the price of the instrument (yield curves for main 
tenors). This is to be used for ALL only by constructing the ALL yield curve based on latest Auction 
results and daily quotations for the benchmark bonds (bonds traded by market makers). The constructed 
yield curve produces mid quotes. 

 The measurements based on Level 3 inputs use inputs that cannot be observed in the market either directly 
or indirectly but reflect the Bank’s own calculations about how an independent market participant would 
define the value of the given input. The Bank should base its own calculations on the best available 
information under the circumstances. The bank currently doesn’t hold any instruments of this type. 

(xii) Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost, debt financial assets 
carried at FVOCI, finance lease receivables, financial guarantees and loan commitments are credit impaired 
(referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are credit-impaired can include: 

1. default or delinquency by a borrower,  
2. restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider,  
3. indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy,  
4. the disappearance of an active market for a security,  
5. or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of 

borrowers or issuers in the Bank, or 
6. economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the Bank. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability 
of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred. Default rates, loss rates and the expected 
timing of future recoveries are benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

(xiii) Reversal of impairment  

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any 
increase in fair value is recognized through other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Any subsequent recovery 
in the fair value of an impaired financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is always 
recognized in OCI. 
(k) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises notes and coins on hand, 
unrestricted balances held with central banks and highly liquid financial assets with remaining maturities of 
less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the 
Bank in the management of its short-term commitments.  
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position. 

(l) Loans and advances 

‘Loans and advances’ captions in the statement of financial position include: 
–– loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair value plus incremental 
direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method; and 

(m) Finance Lease  
Where the Bank is a lessor in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership to the lessee, the assets leased out are presented as a finance lease receivable and carried at the present 
value of the future lease payments. Finance lease receivables are initially recognised at commencement (when 
the lease term begins) using a discount rate determined at inception (the earlier of the date of the lease agreement 
and the date of commitment by the parties to the principal provisions of the lease). 
The difference between the gross receivable and the present value represents unearned finance income. This 
income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which reflects a 
constant periodic rate of return by applying the rate implicit in the lease to (i) the gross book value of lease 
receivables in stage 1 and 2 and (ii) net carrying amount of lease receivables in stage 3 of the ECL model. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to negotiating and arranging the lease are included in the initial 
measurement of the finance lease receivable and reduce the amount of income recognised over the lease term. 
Finance income from leases is recorded within other similar income in profit or loss.  
Credit loss allowance is recognised [in accordance with the general ECL model] / [using a simplified approach 
at lifetime expected credit losses (ECL). The ECL is determined in the same way as for loans and advances 
measured at amortized cost and recognised through an allowance account to write down the receivables’ net 
carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows discounted at the interest rates implicit in the finance 
leases. The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result from obtaining and selling the 
assets subject to the lease. 
(n) Investment in debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 

The ‘investment in debt securities’ caption in the statement of financial position includes debt securities 
measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI). 

For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, which 
are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost: 
–– interest revenue using the effective interest method; 
–– ECL and reversals; and 
–– foreign exchange gains and losses. 
When debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(o) Repossessed Assets  
The Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset is best used for its internal operations or should 
be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations of the Bank are transferred to their relevant 
asset category at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. As at 
31 December 2021 and 2020 there are no such assets.   
The Bank holds the rest of the repossessed assets, i.e. enforcement of collateral over loans and advances as 
inventory. The Bank measures these assets initially at their cost (purchase price). At the end of each reporting 
period, these assets are measured at the lowest of their carrying amount or net realizable value. Gains and 
losses arising from changes in the net realizable value of these assets are included in profit or loss in the period 
in which they arise, as inventory write-downs. These assets are derecognized upon disposal or when there are 
no future economic benefits expected from disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of these assets 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognized. 

(p) Property and equipment 
(i) Recognition and measurement 
Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

(ii) Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost 
can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred. 
  
(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised in Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Improvements to 
leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.  
 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 (in years) 
Buildings  30 
Computers and IT equipment 5 
Installations and various equipment 5 
Office furniture 10 
Motor vehicles 5 
Leasehold improvements 5 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. Depreciation is not 
provided on construction-in-progress.  

(q) Intangible assets 
Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Amortisation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is available for use. The estimate 
useful life of software is ten years. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Impairment of non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash inflows 
that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in Statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.  

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

(s) Deposits and other financial liabilities 

Deposits and other financial liabilities are part of the Bank’s sources of debt funding.  

When the Bank sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into a “repo” agreement to repurchase the 
asset (or a similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date, the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, and 
the underlying asset continues to be recognised in the Bank’s financial statements. 

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognized from the 
statement of financial position as the Bank retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. The 
corresponding cash received is recognised in the statement of financial position as an asset with a 
corresponding obligation to return it, including accrued interest as a liability within cash collateral on securities 
lent and repurchase agreements, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan to the Bank. The 
difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of 
agreement using the EIR.  
The Bank classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual terms of the instrument.  

Deposits and other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and 
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

(t) Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation.  

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

(u) Share capital  
Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares with discretionary dividends are both classified as 
equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of 
shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 
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3.       Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(v) Dividends 

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the 
end of the reporting period and before the financial statements are authorized for issue, are disclosed in the 
subsequent events note. The IFRS accounting reports of the Bank are the basis for profit distribution and other 
appropriations. 

(w) Financial guarantees and loan commitments 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank issues financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, 
guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within 
‘other liabilities’) at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s 
liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortization recognised in the income statement, and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any 
financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to financial 
guarantees is recorded in the income statement in credit loss expense. The premium received is recognised in 
the income statement in net fees and commission income on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. 
Subsequently, financial guarantees are measured at the higher of the loss allowance determined in accordance 
with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15. 
Loan commitments are subsequently measured net of loss allowance recognized in accordance with IFRS 9. 
(x) Presentation of statement of financial position in order of liquidity.  

The Bank does not have a clearly identifiable operating cycle and therefore does not present current and non-
current assets and liabilities separately in the statement of financial position. Instead, assets and liabilities are 
presented in order of their liquidity. Refer to Note 35 for analysis of financial instruments by their maturity.  

4. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
4.1. New and amended standards and interpretations  
The following new amendments to the existing standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) are effective for the current reporting period, but their adoption has not led to any changes in 
the Bank’s accounting policies: 

 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments) – 
In August 2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide 
temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is 
replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments provide for a 
practical expedient when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of 
financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest rate to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in 
a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs from discontinuing hedge relationships 
including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR 
instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate 
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. While application is 
retrospective, an entity is not required to restate prior periods. The amendments of reference rates or known 
as just benchmark rates had no impact on the financial statements of the Bank since the contracts are with 
Minimum rates and the replacement of reference interest rate with an alternative benchmark rate had no effects 
of changes to contractual cash flows. The assessment of the Bank in accounting implications of the 
implementation of the new requirements has started before the IBORs reform start. The Bank assessed for the 
IBOR reform that no impact in financial statements will results. The amendments of the replacement of 
reference interest rate of the contracts with Minimum rates with an alternative benchmark rate for the bank 
has results in no modification of the contracts and the de-recognitions of the assets has not been applied, since 
the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities had no changes in order to require the effective 
interest rate to be adjusted. 
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4. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

4.1. New and amended standards and interpretations (continued) 

 IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendment) 

The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard 
to provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising 
as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account 
for any change in lease payments resulting from the covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for 
the change under IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions are met: 
 The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or 
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change. 
 Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 
 There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 
The Bank did not negotiate any Covid related rent concessions with its lessors and has no impact from this 
amendment. 
4.2. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted  

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following standards, revisions and interpretations 
were in issue but not yet effective: The Bank has not adopted early any other standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

The following new and amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements. 

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 
(Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
application permitted. The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows: 
 IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business 
combinations. 

 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from 
the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the 
company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognize such sales 
proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. 

 IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which 
costs a company includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing 
whether a contract is onerous. 

 Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the 
Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16 Leases. Management has assessed that these 
amendments will not have material impact on the Bank. 

 Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements" - Classification of liabilities as current 
or non-current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendments were 
initially effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier application 
permitted. However, in response to the covid-19 pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by 
one year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes 
resulting from the amendments. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements 
by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities 
with an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current or non-current.  
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4. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

   4.2. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued) 

 Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements" - Classification of liabilities as current 
or non-current (continued) 

The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position and do not change 
existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or 
expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the 
classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments.  
In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft (ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that are 
subject to covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. In particular, the 
Board proposes narrow scope amendments to IAS 1 which effectively reverse the 2020 amendments 
requiring entities to classify as current, liabilities subject to covenants that must only be complied with 
within the next twelve months after the reporting period, if those covenants are not met at the end of the 
reporting period.  Instead, the proposals would require entities to present separately all non-current liabilities 
subject to covenants to be complied with only within twelve months after the reporting period. Furthermore, 
if entities do not comply with such future covenants at the end of the reporting period, additional disclosures 
will be required. The proposals will become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2024 and will need be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, while early adoption is 
permitted. The Board has also proposed to delay the effective date of the 2020 amendments accordingly, 
such that entities will not be required to change current practice before the proposed amendments come into 
effect. Management has assessed that this amendment will not have material impact on the Bank.  

 IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment) -The 
Amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with earlier application 
permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at the date the amendment is issued. 
In March 2021, the Board amended the conditions of the practical expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief 
to lessees from applying the IFRS 16 guidance on lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct 
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. Following the amendment, the practical expedient now applies to 
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 
30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are met. Management has 
assessed that this amendment will not have material impact on the Bank. 

 Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” – 
definition of accounting estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).In 
February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting 
estimates’. The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes 
in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement 
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Bank. 

 Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements" and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – 
Disclosure of Accounting policies (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). In 
February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality 
Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures 
that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting 
policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how 
entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.  The 
Bank is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on the 
Bank’s accounting policy disclosures 
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4. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

   4.2. Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued) 

 Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – Deferred tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
single transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. In 
May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition 
exception under IAS 12 and specify how companies should account for deferred tax on transactions such as 
leases and decommissioning obligations. Under the amendments, the initial recognition exception does not 
apply to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. It only applies if the recognition of a lease asset and lease liability (or decommissioning liability 
and decommissioning asset component) give rise to taxable and deductible temporary differences that are 
not equal. The Bank is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will 
have on the Bank’s accounting policy disclosures. 

 
5. Use of estimates and judgments 

Management discussed with the Board of Directors the development, selection and disclosure of the Bank’s 
critical accounting policies and estimates, and the application of these policies and estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These 
disclosures supplement the commentary on financial risk management (see note 36). 

A. Judgements 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on 
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes. 
–– Note 36 (b)(vi): establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, determining the methodology for incorporating forward-
looking information into the measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL. 
–– Notes 3 (k)(ii): classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets 
are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are SPPI on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

(a) ECL measurement 
ECL measurement. Measurement of ECLs is a significant estimate that involves determination of 
methodology, models and data inputs. Details of ECL measurement methodology are disclosed below: 
The following components have a major impact on credit loss allowance:  
- segmentation of financial assets for the ECL assessment purposes;  
- determination of a level of ECL assessment on an individual instrument basis or on a collective basis; - 
definition of default applied by the Bank.  
- development and application of internal credit grading models, which assigns PDs to the individual credit risk grades;  
- development and application of internal models used to estimate exposure at default (“EAD”) for financial 
instruments and credit related commitments;  
- assessment of loss given default (“LGD”), including the judgments made in valuation of collaterals; - criteria 
for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk;  
- selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings. 
The Bank regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models to reduce any differences 
between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience.  
Due to significant and rapid changes in the economic environment, the Bank decided to adjust the approach 
to measure ECL for the Standard loans, Specialised loans, and loans issued to SMEs.  
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5. Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 
 

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

(a) ECL measurement (continued) 
 

Overlays applied by the management resulted in the increase of ECL for corporate borrowers in the following 
industries:  
- Accommodation and food services– average ECL increase of Lek 269,842 thousand or 965%. 
- Travel agency activities- – average ECL increase of Lek 40,620 thousand or 1060%. 
- Other red sectors – average ECL increase of Lek 7,108 thousand or 117%;  

 Other red sectors include: 
- Travel agency activities, tour operator reservation service and related activities 
- Beverage serving activities, 
- Event catering and other food service activities, 
- Activities of sport clubs / Arts, entertainment and recreation, 
- Holiday and other short-stay accommodation, 
- Library and archives activities. 
- Air transport / Manufacture of other transport equipment (airplane, ship, bus, train). 

 

The Bank used supportable forward-looking information for measurement of ECL, primarily an outcome of 
its own macro-economic forecasting model. The most significant forward-looking assumptions that correlate 
with ECL level and their assigned weights were as follows at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

- Customer relief measures. The Bank implemented relief measures stipulated in the law passed in April 
2020 in response to the spread of COVID-19. Individuals and SMEs that are negatively affected by the virus 
and lost more than 20% (no threshold for private individuals) of their income can apply for payment holidays 
for up to six months, which have to be granted by the Bank. The Bank concluded that generally such 
applications provide evidence of a significant increase in credit risk of the loan, unless observable mitigating 
factors such as return to regular payment 3 months after expiry of moratorium and behavioural rating above 
cut-off level. Loans to individuals who applied for the relief and for whom, significant increase in credit risk 
occurred, amounted to Lek 640,569 thousand as of 31 December 2020. Loans to Businesses (Micro, small, 
medium and Large enterprises) who applied for the relief and for whom significant increase in credit risk 
occurred, amounted to Lek 1,696 million as of 31 December 2020.The Bank offered payment holidays and 
temporary reduction in interest rates on certain consumer loans. The Bank concluded that these measures result 
in contractual modification of the respective loans. During 2021 the Moratoria was not available and the clients 
of the Bank that were subject of Moratoria has lower credit risk amounted to Lek 201,950 thousand for 
Individuals and 527,203 for Business. 

(b) Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”)  
In order to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank compares the risk 
of a default occurring over the life of a financial instrument at the end of the reporting date with the risk of 
default at the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers relative increase in credit risk rather than 
achieving a specific level of credit risk at the end of the reporting period.  
 

The Bank considers all reasonable and supportable forward-looking information available without undue cost 
and effort, which includes a range of factors, including behavioural aspects of particular customer portfolios. 
The Bank identifies behavioural indicators of increases in credit risk prior to delinquency and incorporated 
appropriate forward-looking information into the credit risk assessment, either at an individual instrument, or 
on a portfolio level. In 2020, application for payment holidays which were conditional on losing a job or a 
major source of income was considered as an indicator of SICR, as explained above. For 2021 no moratoria 
are applied.  

(c) Business model assessment 

The bank considers its strategy for 2021-2023 on increasing lending to customers, while building at the same 
time a suitable base of deposits from customers. Therefore, investment in securities is serving liquidity needs 
and part of this portfolio is expected to be sold to cover for need of funds on the customer lending activity. 
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5. Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

(c) Business model assessment (continued) 

Before being used to expand lending activity, these securities can be used as collateral in Repo transactions 
with the Central Bank of Albania and all the securities portfolio is part of the liquidity buffers needed locally 
and for “Liquidity Coverage Ratio Basel III liquidity ratios”. This is in line with the Group’s ALM strategy 
because according to the Group level operative liquidity concept, securities that are eligible for repo 
transactions with central bank, should be part of the liquid asset portfolio and they can be used as coverage of 
contractual cash outflows and potential liquidity shocks.   
According Article 20 of the OTP Group ALM Policy, asset selling forms part directly of the liquidity 
management including assets from secondary liquidity or illiquid assets. Therefore, the bank and OTP Group 
believes that the business model of the securities portfolio is in line with the IFRS 9 “Hold to collect and sell” 
principles and so they are measured at “Fair Value through OCI” 
(d) Modification of financial assets.  
When financial assets are contractually modified (e.g. renegotiated), the Bank assesses whether the 
modification is substantial and should result in derecognition of the original asset and recognition of a new 
asset at fair value. This assessment is based primarily on qualitative factors, described in the relevant 
accounting policy and it requires significant judgment. In particular, the Bank applies judgment in deciding 
whether credit impaired renegotiated loans should be derecognised and whether the new recognised loans 
should be considered as credit impaired on initial recognition. The derecognition assessment depends on 
whether the risks and rewards, that is, the variability of expected (rather than contractual) cash flows, change 
as a result of such modifications. Management determined that risks and rewards did not change as a result of 
modifying such loans and therefore in substantially all such modifications, the loans were neither derecognised 
nor reclassified out of the credit-impaired stage. In general, loans modified in relation to COVID-19 pandemic 
should not be derecognised because the primary reason for their modification is to provide relief to borrowers 
and it is expected that providing such relief generate a loss for lenders, in the absence of full compensation for 
time value of money. Derecognition of the loan and recognition of a new loan at fair value (and a new EIR) 
would result in spreading the modification loss, which is not appropriate. 
(e) Fair value of financial instruments  
The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date 
under current market conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined 
using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models 
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimation is required in 
establishing fair values. Judgements and estimates include considerations of liquidity and model inputs related 
to items such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), latest interest rates from the market, correlation and 
volatility. For further details about determination of fair value please see Note 3 (j) (xi). 
(f)Estimating the incremental borrowing rate  
The Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Bank would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the 
Bank ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for 
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms 
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).The 
Bank estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required 
to make certain entity-specific adjustments (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating, or to reflect the  
terms and conditions of the lease).   
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5. Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 

B. Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

(g) Tax Exposures 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Bank takes into account the impact of uncertain tax 
positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become 
available that causes the Bank to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such 
changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 
 
(h)  Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Judgement is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the likely timing and level of 
future taxable profits, together with future tax-planning strategies. 
 
(i) Provisions and other contingent liabilities 

The Bank Management has established an internal process with respect to recognition and measurement of 
provisions and contingencies due to actual or threaten litigations. Key assumptions about the likelihood and 
magnitude of an outflow of resources are based on the internal and external legal advice following the 
respective successful defense strategies against resulting actions. Each action and corresponding risk are 
assessed on its merits and the underlying constructive or legal obligation and the estimate of cash outflows 
considered payable. Management believes that existing or potential future litigation are remote, however due 
to causes beyond legal background and framework further risks might be triggered. 
 
(j) Determination of the lease term for lease contracts with renewal and termination options (Bank as a lessee) 
The Bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  
The Bank has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Bank applies 
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or 
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise 
either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Bank reassesses the lease term if there is 
a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control that affects its ability to exercise or not 
to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or 
significant customisation of the leased asset).  
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6. Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Cash on hand    
 In Lek   1,101,294   779,814  
 In foreign currencies   918,633   693,414  
Current accounts with Bank of Albania    1,114,296   2,676  
Current accounts with other banks    3,566,886   2,823,022  
Money market placements    2,710,287   1,237,000  
Allowance for impairment losses (Note 36 b) (ii)) (28,927)  - 
Total 9,382,469  5,535,926 

 
Allowance for impairment losses was recognised for the first time on 31 December 2021 as it was insignificant 
in prior years, and is detailed as followed: 

Allowance for impairment losses 31 December 2021  
Current accounts with Bank of Albania 10  
Current accounts with other banks    10,096  
Money market placements 18,821   
Total 28,927  

The annual interest rates applied for term deposits with resident banks for the year ended 31 December 2021 
range from 0.1% to 1.00% (2020: 0.01% to 1.03%) and for term deposits with non-resident banks from -5.00% 
to 0.04% (2020: -0.60% to 0.82%). Current accounts with other banks as of 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020 are detailed geographically as follows: 
 
 31 December 2021   31 December 2020 
Hungary    1,985,979   53,879  
Austria 316,328   399,766  
France 570,875   1,869,544  
Albania   162    303  
Switzerland    98,166   64,169  
Great Britain    595,376   435,361  
Total gross amount 3,566,886  2,823,022 
Allowance for impairment losses (Note 36 b) (ii)) (10,096)  - 
Total net amount after impairment 3,556,790  2,823,022 

 
Money market placements as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed geographically as 
follows and maturities vary from 5 – 8 days: 
 31 December 2021   31 December 2020 
Albania    1,080,027   -  
Belgium    966,080   -  
Italy 664,180   -  
Hungary -  1,237,000 
Total 2,710,287  1,237,000 
Allowance for impairment losses (Note 36 b) (ii)) (18,821)  - 
Total net amount after impairment 2,691,466  1,237,000 
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7. Restricted balances with Bank of Albania 
In accordance with the Bank of Albania requirements relating to the deposit reserve, the Bank should maintain 
compulsory reserve at the Bank of Albania a restricted balance. The reserve is not available for use in the 
Bank’s day–to–day operations, however according to the applicable regulation reserve, the Bank can make 
use of up to 70% (2020:70%) of the compulsory reserve in Lek, provided that the average of the reserve 
balance on the last day of the maintenance period does not fall below the required reserve level.   
Compulsory reserve balances with the Central Bank are detailed as following as at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Compulsory reserve 8,020,734  7,235,096 
Accrued interest (314)  (1) 
Allowance for impairment losses  (12,701)  - 
Total 8,007,719  7,235,095 

The reserve ratio is different depending on maturity of the liability and the currency. The reserve ratio is: 
 7.5% for customer deposits in LEK with an initial maturity term up to 12 months 
 5.0% for customer deposits in LEK with an initial maturity over 12 months and up to 2 years 
 12.5% for customer deposits in foreign currencies, when the ratio of “customer deposits denominated 

in foreign currencies over the total customer deposits” is up to 50% 
 20% for customer deposits in foreign currencies, when the ratio of “customer deposits denominated 

in foreign currencies over the total customer deposits” is higher than 50%. 

8. Loans and advances to financial institutions 

Loans and advances to financial institutions as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as 
follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Resident    

Loans to financial institution 1,427,096  1,608,154 
Non-resident    
 - Escrow accounts for bank guarantees 12,076  - 
Expected Credit Losses (Note 36 b) (i)) (61,346)  (49,893) 
Total 1,377,826  1,558,261 

Information regarding the ECL allowance is presented in Note 36 b) (i) Loans and advances to financial institutions. 

9. Investment in debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Investments in debt securities as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Albanian Government bonds  25,111,835  21,779,703 
Total  25,111,835  21,779,703 

 

During the 2021 year, the Bank has sold FVOCI debt instruments with a principal value of 5 million Euro 
(Lek 616 million) and Lek 200 million. Additionally, out of the Bank’s FVOCI debt portfolio, instruments 
with a principal of Lek 1,470 000 thousand matured.  In relation to this, the Bank transferred Lek 7,697 
thousand unrealised gains from OCI to the Income statement. The Bank did not dispose of or derecognise any 
FVOCI equity instruments in 2021 and 2020.The interest of Government bonds is received semi-annually at 
a coupon rate as of 31 December 2021 ranging from 1.96% to 9.25% (31 December 2020: from 1.76% to 
9.25%). During 2021 the Bank increased the investment in Eurobond by 21.9 million Euro (equivalent to Lek 
2,656 million (2020: Eurobond amounting 7 million Euro, equivalent to Lek 866 million.)  The Bank did not 
have any debt instruments measured at FVOCI which were pledged as collateral as of 31 December 2021 
(2020: nil). 

Information regarding the ECL allowance for debt instruments measured at FVOCI is presented in Note 36 
b) (ii) Debt instruments measured at FVOCI. 
More information regarding the valuation methodologies can be found in Note 3(j) (xi). 
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10. Loans and advances to customers, net 
Loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Corporate Lending 40,592,170   32,886,528 
Private individual Lending 13,818,534   13,962,552 
Mortgage Lending 17,628,443   14,940,619 
 72,039,147  61,789,689 
Less allowance for impairment  (4,603,900)  (4,498,455) 
Total 67,435,247  57,291,244  
    

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Term Loans  53,788,468   46,172,622  
Overdrafts 18,130,680   15,532,822  
Credit Cards 119,999   84,255  
Total Gross 72,039,147  61,789,689 

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank has written off a loan of Lek 47,792 thousand (2020: loans of Lek 103,777 
thousand). 
Loan by type of customer and product wise are presented in Note 36 b) (iii) Loans and Advances to Customers. 
 
The credit loss allowance for loans and advances to customers recognised in the period is impacted by a variety 
of factors details of ECL measurement are provided in Note 3 (j).  

The main movements in the table are described below:  
 Transfers between Stage 1, 2 and 3 due to balances experiencing significant increases (or decreases) of credit 

risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent "step up" (or "step down") between 12-
month and Lifetime ECL;  

 Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases for 
financial instruments derecognised in the period;  

 Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes to model assumptions, including changes in PDs, EADs 
and LGDs in the period, arising from update of inputs to ECL models  

 Unwinding of discount due to the passage of time because ECL is measured on a present value basis;  
 Foreign exchange translations of assets denominated in foreign currencies and other movements; and  
 Write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off during the period.  
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10. 
L

oans and advances to custom
ers, net (continued) 

M
ovem

ent in the im
pairm

ent for loan losses by classes of loans and advances, and type of im
pairm

ent for the year ending on 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 and 31 D
ecem

ber 
2020 are presented below

:  

 
 

 C
orporate 
Lending  

 Private individuals 
Lending  

 M
ortgage 

L
ending  

 Total  

Balance at 1 January 2021 
 

 2,653,702  
 1,065,553  

 779,202  
 4,498,457  

A
llow

ance for expected credit losses 
 

1,067,084 
172,283 

123,309 
 1,362,676  

Recoveries 
 

 (791,752) 
 (299,062) 

 (126,264) 
 (1,217,078) 

W
rite off 

 
- 

 (23,680) 
 (16,475) 

 (40,155) 
Balance at 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 

 
2,929,034 

 915,094  
 759,772  

 4,603,900  
 

 
 

 
 

 
Individual im

pairm
ent 

 
 1,670,416  

 -   
 36,121  

 1,706,537  
Collective im

pairm
ent 

 
 1,895,738  

 277,974  
 723,651  

 2,897,363  
A

s at 31 D
ecem

ber 2021   
 

3,566,154 
277,974 

759,772 
 4,603,900  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Individual im
pairm

ent 
 

1,556,865 
- 

- 
  1,556,865 

Collective im
pairm

ent 
 

1,855,429 
306,962    

779,202 
2,941,593 

A
s at 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

 
3,412,294 

306,962    
779,202 

4,498,458 
G

ross am
ount of loans individually determ

ined to be im
paired, 

before deducting the individually assessed im
pairm

ent 
allow

ance,2021 
 

1,928,219 
- 

- 
1,928,219 

G
ross am

ount of loans individually determ
ined to be im

paired, 
before deducting the individually assessed im

pairm
ent 

allow
ance,2020 

 
2,015,582 

- 
- 

2,015,582 
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10. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 

Corporate lending 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances for the loans and advances 
to customers-corporate lending is as follows:  

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 27,892,598  2,842,336  2,151,594  32,886,528 
New assets originated or purchased 14,740,266  936,497  707,936  16,384,699 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (6,981,177)  (773,791)  (886,194)  (8,641,162) 
Transfers to Stage 1 163,074  (163,074)  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (76,000)  76,000  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (41,326)  (18,017)  59,343  - 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (32,046)  16,817  (22,666)  (37,895) 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021 35,665,389  2,916,768  2,010,013  40,592,170 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021  502,253  455,700  1,695,749  2,653,702 
New assets originated or purchased 247,182  151,397  613,272  1,011,851 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (51,231)  (145,176)  (595,345)  (791,752) 
Transfers to Stage 1 20,342  (20,342)  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (1,368)  1,368  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (743)  (1,599)  2,342  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL (99,899)  34,791  104,296  39,188 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (18,480)  8,945  25,580  16,045 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2021 598,056  485,084  1,845,894  2,929,034 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 26,726,279  1,259,195  2,569,960  30,555,434 
New assets originated or purchased 11,129,479  2,179,961  162,447  13,471,887 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (10,335,020)  (518,520)  (229,187)  (11,082,727) 
Transfers to Stage 1 615,180  (615,180)  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (167,171)  644,359  (477,187)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (61,874)  (107,759)  169,634  - 
Amounts written off -  -  (58,634)  (58,634) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (14,274)  281  14,561  568 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 27,892,598  2,842,336  2,151,594  32,886,528 

 
 
  

Annual Report 202198



OTP BANK ALBANIA SH.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated) 

 38 

 
10. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 

Corporate lending (continued) 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 under IFRS 9 392,776  192,655  2,019,725  2,605,156 
New assets originated or purchased 200,608  375,168  81,113  656,889 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (146,564)  (28,849)  (26,766)  (202,179) 
Transfers to Stage 1 11,070  (11,070)  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (21,582)  79,006    (57,424)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (28,716)  (58,458)  87,174  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 96,307  (96,245)  (364,532)  (364,470) 
Amounts written off -  -  (57,753)  (57,753) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (1,646)  3,493  14,212  16,059 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2020 502,253  455,700  1,695,749  2,653,702 

 
Private individual Lending  
 
An analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances for the loans and advances 
to customers-private individual lending is as follows:  
 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 7,747,890  5,500,810  713,852  13,962,552 
New assets originated or purchased 4,532,516  667,209  134,462  5,334,187 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (2,873,604)  (2,135,914)  (135,333)  (5,144,851) 
Transfers to Stage 1 1,003,026  (994,228)  (8,798)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (360,338)  372,103  (11,765)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (61,061)  (188,167)  249,228  - 
Amounts written off -  -  (27,676)  (27,676) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (209,331)  (49,369)  (46,978)  (305,678) 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021 9,779,098  3,172,444  866,992  13,818,534 
 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 51,806  484,561  529,186  1,065,553 
New assets originated or purchased 35,901  57,732  65,112  158,745 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (11,555)  (221,264)  (66,243)  (299,062) 
Transfers to Stage 1 88,106  (82,096)  (6,010)   -   
Transfers to Stage 2 (2,482)  11,369  (8,887)  -   
Transfers to Stage 3 (412)   (19,669)  20,081  -   
Net re-measurement of ECL (3,173)  (106,885)  3,235   (106,823) 
Amounts written off -   -   (23,680)  (23,680) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (77,523)  114,529   83,355   120,361  
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2021 80,668  238,277  596,149  915,094 
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10. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 
 
Private individual Lending (continued) 
 
An analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances for the loans and 
advances to customers-private individual lending is as follows: 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 10,841,562  163,596  690,034  11,695,192 
New assets originated or purchased 4,714,538  3,924,203  88,993  8,727,734 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (6,150,550)  (95,634)  (197,095)  (6,443,279) 
Transfers to Stage 1  20,904    (15,962)   (4,942)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2  (1,544,577)   1,546,652    (2,075)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3  (144,083)   (22,046)   166,129   - 
Amounts written off -  -  (29,841)  (29,841) 
Foreign exchange adjustments 10,096  1  2,649  12,746 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 7,747,890  5,500,810  713,852  13,962,552 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 151,818  43,723  512,427  707,968 
New assets originated or purchased 31,305  351,900  49,489  432,694 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (63,677)  (17,222)  (79,934)  (160,833) 
Transfers to Stage 1 147  (112)  (35)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (129,640)  129,709  (69)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (87,522)  (13,916)  101,438  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 148,648  (9,708)  (26,086)  112,854 
Amounts written off -  -  (30,723)  (30,723) 
Foreign exchange adjustments 727  187  2,679  3,593 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2020 51,806  484,561  529,186  1,065,553 

 
Mortgage Lending  
An analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances for the loans and advances 
to customers-mortgage lending is as follows: 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 12,202,645  2,066,273  671,701  14,940,619 
New assets originated or purchased 5,214,214  193,349  153,011  5,560,574 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (2,074,674)  (398,059)  (157,988)  (2,630,721)
Transfers to Stage 1 1,286,926  (1,253,680)  (33,246)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (312,528)  314,405  (1,877)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (34,375)  (167,815)  202,190  - 
Amounts written off -  -  (19,009)  (19,009) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (150,196)  (49,980)  (22,844)  (223,020) 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021 16,132,012  704,493  791,938  17,628,443 
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10. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 

Mortgage Lending (continued) 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021  59,642  199,538  520,022  779,202 
New assets originated or purchased 27,884  17,677  91,711  137,272 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (5,677)  (42,675)  (77,912)  (126,264) 
Transfers to Stage 1 136,474  (113,700)  (22,774)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (1,530)  3,463  (1,933)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (165)  (20,303)  20,468  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL (2,109)  (1,857)  (15,488)  (19,454) 
Amounts written off -  -  (16,475)  (16,475) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (128,322)  20,031  113,782  5,491 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2021  86,197  62,174  611,401  759,772 

 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 12,333,545  358,055  672,382  13,363,982 
New assets originated or purchased 5,412,395  1,318,478  66,524  6,797,397 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (4,903,178)  (189,829)  (168,475)  (5,261,482) 
Transfers to Stage 1 101,077   (83,393)   (17,683)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2  (685,029)   685,672    (643)  - 
Transfers to Stage 3  (108,315)   (23,097)   131,412   - 
Amounts written off -  -  (15,204)  (15,204) 
Foreign exchange adjustments 52,151  387  3,388  55,926 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 12,202,645  2,066,273  671,701  14,940,619 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020  59,085  77,749  324,959  461,793 
New assets originated or purchased 26,156  128,161  40,132  194,449 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (19,881)  (38,056)  (61,206)  (119,143) 
Transfers to Stage 1 511   (416)  (95)  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (64,600)  49,793  14,807  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 (68,325)  -  68,325   - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 126,065  (18,207)  145,278  253,136 
Amounts written off -  -  (15,204)  (15,204) 
Foreign exchange adjustments 631  514  3,026  4,171 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2020  59,642  199,538  520,022  779,202 
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10. Loans and advances to customers, net (continued) 

10.1. Financial Leases Receivable 

Finance lease receivable for the year ending on 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are presented below: 

   31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
      
- Less than one year    115,870   132,669 
- Between one and two years    318,178   206,811 
- Between two and three years    295,482   478,765 
- Between three and four years    358,686   397,459 
- Between four and five years    347,235   228,122 
Gross investment in financial leases, receivable 1,435,451  1,443,826 
Less unearned finance income   (78,344)  (106,351) 
Net Investments in Financial Leases   1,357,107  1,337,475 
Less expected credit losses   (133,550)  (175,047) 
Total   1,223,557  1,162,428 

 
Movement in the allowance for impairment related to financial leases contracts for the year ended 31 December 
2021 and 31 December 2020 is presented as follows: 
 
  31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
At the beginning of the year  175,047  151,963 
Allowance charges for expected credit losses  31,763  68,298 
Allowance releases for expected credit losses  (73,260)  (45,214) 
At the end of period  133,550  175,047 

Exposure to credit risk by grade and stage are presented in Note 36 b) (iii) Financial Leasing Net. 
11. Other assets 

Other assets as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Prepayment Corporate Income Tax    -    63,148 
Debtors   321,712   326,052  
Prepayments   45,668   34,398  
Other inventory -  - 
Clearing accounts 20,725  31,506 
- for MoneyGram transactions  -    3,818  
- for ATM transactions   16,161   26,472  
-  for other operational transactions   2,735   1,168  
- for finance lease contracts   1,829    48  

Total 388,105  455,104 
 
At the debtors’ balance is included in accordance with IAS 19 for the benefits offered to the employees of the Bank 
by granting credit facilities at preferential interest rates due to the amount of Lek 309 million (2020: 281 million). 
Clearing accounts represents normal banking transactions which have not been settled at the end of the period due 
to their value date. Clearing accounts for financial lease contracts represents the payments for the purchase of 
vehicles or equipment in favour of customers, where the financial lease contract is in the pipeline, not yet disbursed.
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 12. 
Property and equipm

ent 

Property and equipm
ent for the year ending on 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 and 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 are presented below

: 

 

 

Buildings 

 
C

om
puters 
and IT 

equipm
ent 

 
Furniture and 

office 
equipm

ent 
M

otor 
vehicles

 
Leasehold 

im
provem

ents 
C

onstruction in 
progress 

 

Total 
C

ost 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
t 1 January 2020 

 
239,045 

 
577,412 

 
448,467 

 
50,974 

 
383,572 

42,392 
 

1,741,862 
A

dditions 
 

- 
 

 100,502  
 

 15,243  
 

 3,410  
 

 18,569  
133,140 

 
270,864  

Sale 
 

- 
 

 (45,223) 
 

 (13,666) 
 

 (6,043) 
 

 -   
- 

 
(64,932) 

Transfers 
 

- 
 

 (93) 
 

 11,478  
 

 10,049  
 

 -   
(54,476) 

 
      (33,042) 

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

 
239,045 

 
632,598 

 
461,522 

 
58,390 

 
402,141 

121,056 
 

1,914,752 
A

dditions 
 

- 
 

18,501 
 

9,503 
 

8,491 
 

1,570 
114,201 

 
152,266 

D
isposals 

 
- 

 
(296) 

 
(2,285) 

 
(12,754) 

 
(29) 

 
 

 (15,364) 
Transfers 

 
- 

 
(445) 

 
18,712 

 
 

 
7,264 

(55,060) 
 

(29,529) 
A

t 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
 

239,045 
 

650,358 
 

487,452 
 

54,127 
 

410,946 
180,197 

 
2,022,125 

A
ccum

ulated depreciation 
A

t 1 January 2020 
 

(70,128) 
 

(441,769) 
 

(389,253) 
 

(19,738) 
 

(332,846) 
- 

 
(1,253,734) 

Charge for the year 
 

 (8,092) 
 

 (41,479) 
 

 (11,191) 
 

 (9,592) 
 

 (17,382) 
- 

 
 (87,736) 

D
isposals 

 
 -    

 45,058  
 

 12,814  
 

 5,138  
 

 -   
- 

 
 63,010  

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

 
 (78,220) 

 
 (438,190) 

 
 (387,630) 

 
 (24,192) 

 
 (350,228) 

- 
 

 (1,278,460) 
Charge for the year 

 
(8,092) 

 
(50,724) 

 
(13,560) 

 
(10,422) 

 
(17,002) 

- 
 

(99,799) 
D

isposals 
 

- 
 

404 
 

1,801 
 

12,284 
 

- 
- 

 
14,488 

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 

 
(86,312) 

 
(488,510) 

 
(399,389) 

 
(22,330) 

 
(367,230) 

- 
 

(1,363,771) 
N

et carrying value 
A

t 1 January 2020 
 

168,917 
 

135,643 
 

59,214 
 

31,236 
 

50,726 
42,392 

 
488,128 

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

 
160,825 

 
194,408 

 
73,892 

 
34,198 

 
51,913 

121,056 
 

636,292 
A

t 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
 

152,733 
 

161,848 
 

88,063 
 

31,797 
 

43,716 
180,197 

 
658,354 

There are no item
s of property equipm

ent given as collateral against other financing tow
ard third parties as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 and 2020.  

Transfer am
ount by 29,529 thousand Lek (2020: 33,042 thousand Lek)  are intangible assets refer to N

ote 14.
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13. Right-of-use assets 

The Bank leases various offices and spaces for ATMs. All leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability from the date when the leased asset becomes available for use by the Bank. The right of 
use assets by movements of underlying items is analysed as follows: 

 2021  2020 
Balance at 1 January 581,385 571,370 
Additions to right-of-use assets 193,082 192,340 
Depreciation charge for the period (184,250) (182,325) 
Derecognition of right-of-use assets - - 
Balance at 31 December 590,217 581,385 

 
The Bank had total cash outflows for leases 226 million (2020: 193 million) refer to Note 18. 
 

14. Intangible assets 
 

 Software Total 
Cost   
At 1 January 2020 730,972 730,972 
Additions  42,088  46,877 
Disposals (5,564) (5,564) 
Transfers from work in progress (Note 12) 33,042 33,042 
At 31 December 2020 800,538 800,538 
Additions 32,823 32,823 
Disposals   
Transfers from work in progress (Note 12) 29,527 29,527 
At 31 December 2021 862,888 862,888 
   
Accumulated amortization   
At 1 January 2020 (525,017) (525,017) 
Charge for the year (70,754) (70,754) 
Disposals 3,456  3,456  
At 31 December 2020 (592,315)  (592,315) 
Charge for the year (59,069) (59,069) 
Disposals -  -  
At 31 December 2021 (651,384) (651,384) 
Net carrying value   
At 1 January 2020 205,955 205,955 
At 31 December 2020 208,223 208,223 
At 31 December 2021 211,504 211,504 
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15.  Repossessed Assets  

Repossessed assets as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Gross Value Opening Balance  470,450  478,158 

Additions  -    6,874  
Disposals  (153,571)   (14,582) 

Gross Value Total  316,879  470,450 
Impairment Fund Opening Balance  (433,328)  (356,048) 
Additions  -   (2,977) 
Disposal   143,319   237  
Write down to net realizable value  (11,236)  (74,540) 

Impairment Fund Closing Balance  (301,245)  (433,328) 
Net Value of repossessed assets  15,634  37,122 

 

Repossessed collateral represents real estate assets acquired by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The 
Bank expects to dispose of the assets in the foreseeable future. The assets do not meet the definition of non-
current assets held for sale and are classified as inventories in accordance with IAS 2 “Inventories”. The assets 
were initially recognised at fair value when acquired. 
During 2021, the Bank has sold 17 repossessed collaterals with a corresponding net gain of LEK 60,520 
thousand. 
 
16. Due to financial institutions and banks 

Due to financial institutions as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Term deposits 1,859,046  2,092,599 
     Resident 1,859,046  2,092,599 
Current accounts 943,724  1,766,998 
     Resident 943,724  1,457,694 
     Non-Resident -  309,304 
Borrowings from banks 14,625,988  8,726,054 
     Resident  -    1,704,720  
     Non-Resident   14,625,988   7,021,334  
Total 17,428,758  12,585,651 

Term deposits and current accounts relate to balances with financial institutions, mainly insurance companies 
which are required to maintain guarantee funds with commercial banks. 

Borrowings from banks refer to borrowings from OTP Bank NYRT amounting by 113 million Euro and 8.6 
million USD for the year end 2021. The increase of borrowings during  2021 is to support the increase of lending 
activity of the Bank.
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 17. 
D

ue to custom
ers 

D
ue to custom

ers as at 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 and 31 D
ecem

ber 2020 are detailed as follow
s: 

 
31 D

ecem
ber 2021 

 
31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

 
L

ocal 
currency  

 
Foreign 

currency  
 

Total 
 

L
ocal 

currency  
 

Foreign 
currency  

 
T

otal 
C

urrent accounts 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Individuals 
7,675,884 

 
7,960,590 

 
15,636,474 

 
6,262,043 

 
5,920,070 

 
12,182,113 

Private enterprises 
5,503,181 

 
9,405,802 

 
14,908,983 

 
4,357,943 

 
6,413,385 

 
10,771,328 

Public enterprises 
493,752 

 
33,401 

 
527,153 

 
411,942 

 
56,098 

 
468,040 

 
13,672,817 

 
17,399,793 

 
31,072,610 

 
11,031,928 

 
12,389,553 

 
23,421,481 

Savings accounts 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Individuals 
2,369,510 

 
4,091,305 

 
6,460,815 

 
2,158,163 

 
3,400,559 

 
5,558,722 

Private enterprises 
146,934 

 
22,349 

 
169,283 

 
294,235 

 
2,091,908 

 
2,386,143 

 
2,516,444 

 
4,113,654 

 
6,630,098 

 
2,452,398 

 
5,492,467 

 
7,944,865 

Term
 deposits 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Individuals 

21,460,530 
 

19,983,842 
 

41,444,372 
 

19,683,865 
 

20,177,192 
 

39,861,057 
Private enterprises 

2,203,174 
 

763,424 
 

2,966,598 
 

1,092,941 
 

347,564 
 

1,440,505 
 

23,663,704 
 

20,747,266 
 

44,410,970 
 

20,776,806 
 

20,524,756 
 

41,301,562 
O

ther accounts 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Individuals 
114,148 

 
297 

 
114,445 

 
98,920 

 
332 

 
99,252 

Private enterprises 
4,302 

 
184 

 
4,486 

 
4,621 

 
160 

 
4,781 

Public enterprises 
34 

 
0 

 
34 

 
34 

 
0 

 
34 

 
118,484 

 
481 

 
118,965 

 
103,575 

 
492 

 
104,067 

A
ccrued interest 

137,440 
 

7,490 
 

144,930 
 

110,815 
 

7,311 
 

118,126 
T

otal 
40,108,892 

 
42,268,684 

 
82,377,573 

 
34,475,522 

 
38,414,579 

 
72,890,101 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
31 D

ecem
ber 2021 

 
31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

 
 

 
m

in 
 

m
ax 

 
m

in 
 

m
ax 

 
 

 
 

L
EK

 
0.01%

 
 

6.50%
 

 
0.01%

 
 

6.50%
 

 
 

 
 

E
U

R
 

0.01%
 

 
4.00%

 
 

0.01%
 

 
5.00%

 
 

 
 

 
U

SD
 

0.01%
 

 
3.60%

 
 

0.05%
 

 
3.50%

 
 

 
 

 
C

urrent accounts bear an interest rate of 0.01%
 p.a. w

hile saving accounts bear an interest rate of 0.01%
 to 6.50%

 p.a. O
ther custom

er accounts represent guarantee 
accounts of Lek 118,965 thousand (2020: Lek 104,067 thousand) w

hich as at 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 and 31 D
ecem

ber 2020, bear no interest. D
eposits of Lek 118 m

illion 
(2020: 103 m

illion) held as collateral for irrevocable com
m

itm
ents under im

port letters of credit w
ere included in D

ue to custom
ers.
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17. Due to customers (continued) 

Due to customers term deposits are presented by maturity as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
One month:    
 Foreign currency 1,959,080  2,287,981 
 Local currency 312,315  536,672 
 2,271,395  2,824,653 
Three months:    
 Foreign currency 751,831  740,407 
 Local currency 291,110  446,224 
 1,042,941  1,186,631 
Six months:    
 Foreign currency 1,373,230  1,466,409 
 Local currency 1,698,122  1,231,245 
 3,071,352  2,697,654 
Twelve months:    
 Foreign currency 14,736,877  13,926,121 
 Local currency 7,496,256  7,442,959 
 22,233,133  21,369,080 
Twenty four months:    
 Foreign currency 1,080,571  1,189,161 
 Local currency 6,972,796  5,891,627 
 8,053,367  7,080,788 
Thirty six months    
 Foreign currency 845,676  914,676 
 Local currency 527,504  547,834 
 1,373,181  1,462,510 
Sixty months    
 Local currency 3,153,016  2,548,013 
 3,153,016  2,548,013 
Eighty four    
 Local currency 3,212,585  2,132,233 
 3,212,585  2,132,233 
Total 44,410,970  41,301,562 

18. Lease liabilities 
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period are as per below: 
 2021 2020 
Balance at 1 January 601,945 577,611 
Additions  216,223 191,804 
Accretion of interest 17,090 17,565 
Payments  (226,799) (193,605) 
Foreign exchange adjustments  (12,215) 8,570 
Balance at 31 December 596,244 601,945 

Finance lease liabilities from active lease contracts treated as finance lease under the light of IFRS 16, as at 31 
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

   2021    2020 
Lease Liabilities – Current 173,097  170,148 
Lease Liabilities – Non-current 423,147  431,797 
Total Lease Liabilities 596,244  601,945 
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18. Lease liabilities (continued) 

The terms and conditions of outstanding lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 
2021 Currency Incremental 

borrowing rate 
Year of 
maturity 

Minimum monthly lease payments  
In OCY In LCY (‘000) 

Lease liabilities EUR 2.29% 2022-2031 114,748 13,857 
Lek 3.53% 2022-2031 2,201,044 2,201 

      
2020 Currency Incremental 

borrowing rate 
Year of 
maturity 

Minimum monthly lease payments  
In OCY In LCY (‘000) 

Lease liabilities EUR 2.83% 2021-2030 112,616 13,931 
Lek 5.42% 2021-2030 2,042,450 2,042 

Below are presented undiscounted cash outflows for the repayments of lease liabilities as per year of maturity: 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
- Less than one year  46,812  6,260 
- Between one and two years  13,324  33,286 
- Between two and three years  171,030  107,694 
- Between three and four years  65,066  230,569 
- Between four and five years  64,502  91,078 
- More than five years  290,377  180,208 
  651,111  649,095 
Less future interest expense  (54,867)   (47,150) 
Finance lease liability  596,244  601,945 

19. Other liabilities 

Other liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Transactions as agents    1,649,239   82,758  
Accrued payables (see Note 19.1)   230,871   190,341  
Taxes payable other than income tax   24,725   23,049  
Payables Corporate Income Tax    25,119     -   
Other creditors 426,785  328,132 

- Suppliers & Other creditors   102,760   139,231  
- Payments in transit for public finance    3,666   6,573  
- Operational suspense accounts   33,864   42,195  
- Other   286,495   140,133  

Total 2,356,739  624,280 

“Transactions as agents” is composed mainly by 1.5 billion Lek on 31 December 2021 present escrow accounts 
agreements applied between several parties in bank accounts and will remain in this account until a legal 
representative of these companies approves the Final Agreement between the Parties (within 15 days). The 
"Escrow Agent" within 10 days will transfer the relevant amount to the beneficiary parties. 

“Operational suspense account” is composed by the incoming transfers booked on 31 December 2021 which are 
to be cleared in first dates of January 2022 after investigation.  

The group of “Other” is mostly composed by the suspense for Letter Guarantee purpose and the transactions 
with cards which are to be cleared in first dates of January 2022.  

19.1 Accrued Payables  

Accrued payables as at 31 December 2021 include balances payable for utilities, stationeries, insurance, staff 
expenses and other similar expenses related to year 2021. 
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20.  Provisions for liabilities and charges 

Movements in provisions for liabilities charges and during the year are as follows: 

 Litigations Off-Balance Sheet 
items Total 

Balance at 1 January 2020 - 122,231 122,231 
Provisions made/(reversed)during the year   294,208  294,208 
Provisions used during the year -  (233,421) (233,421) 
Balance at 31 December 2020 - 183,018 183,018 
Provisions made during the year 3,560  117,467  121,027 
Provisions used during the year -  (81,491) (81,491) 
Balance at 31 December 2020 3,560 218,994 222,554 

Provisions on Off-Balance Sheet items comprise of expected credit losses provision held in respect of: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Financial guarantees  118,573  121,068 
Letters of credit for customers  4,089  10,337 
Other commitments  96,332  51,613 
Total 218,994  183,018 

For financial guarantees and letters of credit for customers, the expected credit loss is calculated based on the 
provision coverage applied to the customer segment the facility is being granted, while for other commitments, 
that consist of unused amounts of loans and advances, the expected credit loss is calculated based on the 
provision coverage applied based on the customer segment and type of product. The movement of expected 
credit loss and balances as per stages as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 is stated as per below: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Opening Balance 183,018  122,231 
Increase of provisions 35,966  60,787 
 - Financial guarantees (2,495)  39,715 
 - Letters of credit for customers (6,249)  6,902 
 - Other commitments 44,710  14,170 
Total 218,994  183,018 

 
 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Stage 1 187,244   144,931  
Stage 2 10,013   22,403  
Stage 3 21,737   15,684  
Total 218,994   183,018  
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21. Deferred tax liability, net 

Deferred tax asset and liability are attributable to temporary differences from the following items: 

  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Tax depreciation in excess of reference tax rates  (27,135)  (26,111) 
Impact from IFRS 16 Lease liability  (89,354)  (90,209) 
Deferred tax asset  (116,489)  (116,320) 
Tax depreciation less of reference tax rates    46,919   58,246  
Financial assets at FVOCI    113,028   110,399  
Impact from IFRS 16 Right of use    88,533   87,208  
Deferred tax liability  248,480  255,853 
Deferred tax liability, net  131,991  139,533 

 

The deferred tax liability has been recorded net of the deferred tax assets as the amounts are and will be due to 
the same tax authority and are expected to be settled on a net basis. Movement in temporary differences during 
the year are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The enacted tax rate 
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 15%. 

 

31 December 2021 Opening 
balance 

Recognized in 
profit or loss 

Recognized in 
OCI 

Closing 
balance 

Deferred Tax Assets (116,320) (169) - (116,489) 
Tax depreciation in excess of reference tax rates (26,111) (1,024) - (27,135) 
Lease Liability (90,209) 855 - (89,354) 
Deferred Tax Liability 255,853 (10,002) 2,629 248,480 
Tax depreciation less of reference tax rates 58,246 (11,327)  46,919 
Financial assets at FVOCI 110,399 - 2,629 113,028 
Right of use 87,208 1,325 - 88,533 
Deferred tax (asset)/liability, net 139,533 (10,171) 2,629 131,991 

 

31 December 2020 Opening 
balance 

Recognized in 
profit or loss 

Recognized in 
OCI 

Closing 
balance 

Deferred Tax Assets (107,587) (8,733) - (116,320) 
Tax depreciation in excess of reference tax rates (25,204) (907) - (26,111) 
Lease Liability (82,383) (7,826) - (90,209) 
Deferred Tax Liability 315,189 20,332 (79,668) 255,853 
Tax depreciation less of reference tax rates 43,676 14,570  58,246 
Financial assets at FVOCI 190,067 - (79,668) 110,399 
Right of use 81,446 5,762 - 87,208 
Deferred tax liability/(asset), net 207,602 11,599 (79,668) 139,533 

22. Share capital 
The paid-up capital represents the fully paid shares subscribed by the Bank’s shareholders. As at 31 December 
2021 to Lek 6,740,900 thousand (31 December 2020: Lek 6,740,900).  

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
 Number of Shares  (%)  Number of Shares  (%) 
OTP Bank NYRT 67,409  100  67,409  100 
 67,409  100  67,409  100 

During 2021 and 2020, the Bank has not paid any dividend.  
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23. Reserves 

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the reserves are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Legal reserve (see (i) below)   129,638   96,488  
Regulatory reserve (see (ii) below)  1,068,170    1,068,170  
Fair value reserve (see (iii) below)   914,782    991,160  
Total 2,112,590  2,155,818 

Nature and purpose of the reserves is as explained below: 

(i) The legal reserve was established according to the provisions of the Commercial Law requiring the 
creation of reserves of 5% of the Bank’s net income after deduction of accumulated losses from previous years, 
until the balance of this reserve reaches 10% of the Bank’s share capital. At 31 December 2021, the balance 
represented 1.92% of the Bank’s share capital (2020: 1.43%). During 2021 the Bank transfer the amount Lek 
33,150 thousand from retained earnings to regulatory reserve (2020: Lek 46,320 thousand). 

(ii) The regulatory reserve was established according to the Bank of Albania regulation “On the Bank’s 
Regulatory Capital”, no.69, dated 18 December 2014. Banks and branches of foreign banks are required to create 
reserves of 1.25% to 2% of total risk-weighted assets, by appropriating one fifth of the profit after taxes and 
before payment of dividends, until the balance on this measure reaches at least 1.25% of total risk-weighted 
assets. At 31 December 2021, the regulatory reserve represented 1.69% of total risk-weighted assets (2020: 
1.86%). 

(iii) The Fair value reserve represent the cumulative net change in fair value of investment securities at 
FVOCI until the asset are derecognised or reclassified. 

24. Interest income using effective interest method 
Interest income using effective interest method for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 
are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Loans and advances to customers    2,961,006    2,638,452 
Investment’s debt securities FVOCI   921,701   1,008,710  
Loans and advances to financial institutions   70,208   75,439  
Finance leases contracts 65,276  73,867 
Total interest income 4,018,191  3,796,468 

25. Interest expense using effective interest method  

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest method for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Due to customers 326,376   294,320  
Due to banks and financial institutions   45,636   42,912 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 18)   17,090   17,564  
Negative interest on interest bearing assets 8,988  7,386 
Total 398,090  362,182 
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26. Fee and Commission income 
 

Fee and commission income for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as 
follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Fee income earned from services that are provided over 
a certain period of time      
    - Account maintenance fees 181,825   167,513  
    - Cards and E-banking  maintenance fees   199,434   112,799  
Fee income from providing financial services and 
earned on the execution of a transaction      
    - Transfer and payment orders   172,049   131,783  
     -Other banking services    242,171   169,733  
     -Other  55,069   41,402  
Total 850,548  623,230 

27. Fee and Commission expenses 

Fee and commission expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as 
follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Interbank transactions    23,241   22,343  
Forex & arbitrage operations   9,519   6,325  
Master Card and Visa Activity   149,170   112,042  
Guarantee received    39,384   31,806  
Other 59,941  32,114 
Total 281,255  204,630 

 
28. ECL charges on financial assets  

ECL charges on financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as 
follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Charges for ECL on loans and advances to customers    129,876   815,120  
Charges for ECL on loans to banks   11,453   38,834  
Charges for ECL on Cash and cash equivalent  28,927  - 
Charges for ECL on compulsory reserve 12,701  - 
Reversal of ECL on financial assets at FVOCI   (91,252)   159,649  
Charges for ECL on debtors account   22,180   26,494  
Charges for provision on Off Balance Sheet items    35,965   60,799  
Total ECL charges on financial assets 149,850  1,100,896 

During the year 2021 the ECL charges for loan and advances to customers is lower compared to the year 2020 
due to the low-risk parameters in 2021 and good level of non-performing loans. During the year 2020 the higher 
charges of ECL on loans and advances to customers and charges of ECL on financial assets at FVOCI is related 
to higher risk parameter due to pandemic situation. The same reason is for ECL charges on financial assets at 
FVOCI.  
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28. ECL charges on financial assets (continued) 

31 December 2021 Stage 1 
Individual 

Stage 1 
Collective 

Stage 2 
Collective Stage 3 Total 

Charges for ECL on loans and advances 
to customers and finance lease receivable - (73,182) (120,996) 324,054 129,876 
Charges for ECL on debt accounts - 22,180 - - 22,180 
Charges for ECL on loans to banks 53,081 - - - 53,081 
Reversal of ECL on financial assets at 
FVOCI (91,252) - - - (91,252) 
Charges for provisions on Off Balance 
sheet items - 31,497 (2,889) 7,357 35,965 
Total (38,171) (19,505) (123,885) 331,411 149,850 
 

31 December 2020 Stage 1 
Individual 

Stage 1 
Collective 

Stage 2 
Collective Stage 3 Total 

Charges for ECL on loans and advances 
to customers and finance lease 
receivable - (127,511) 725,997 216,634 815,120 
Charges for ECL on debt accounts - 26,494 -  26,494 
Charges for ECL on loans to banks 38,834  - - 38,834 
Reversal of ECL on financial assets at 
FVOCI 159,649 - - - 159,649 
Charges for provisions on Off Balance 
sheet items - 51,615 7,529 1,655 60,799 
Total 198,483 (49,402) 733,526 218,289 1,100,896 

 

29. Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Salaries 663,654  637,789 
Social insurance 97,390  88,512 
Bonuses and rewards 183,953  168,432 
Total 944,997  894,733 
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30. Administrative and Operating Expenses 

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Insurance expenses 272,217  257,920 
Maintenance and repairs  110,275  119,032 
External services  93,759  83,905 
Communication 75,446  96,223 
Advertising and promotions  65,469  62,112 
Electricity 25,915  24,911 
Stationery and printings 25,187  28,951 
Consulting expenses 21,502  24,987 
Taxes other than income tax 16,198  13,603 
Travel and transportation 15,683  13,361 
Board of Directors and Audit Committee expenses 14,235  14,288 
Audit expenses 10,237  12,521 
Training and other HR activity 7,551     5,938    
Rent expenses  81  7,022 
Other expenses 21,142  17,674 
Total 774,897  782,448 

 
Other expenses represent different nature of expenses related to e-banking expenses, publicity sponsorship and 
other similar expenses that are not classified in the lines above. 
External services represent expenses for security, other utilities and professional services. Technical assistance 
from Parent Company is related to management services, new standards implemented, and IT services offered. 

31. Income tax expense 

Income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 is detailed as follows 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Current income tax expense    352,312    155,596 
Deferred tax income expense/(benefit) (see Note 21)   (10,171)   11,599  
Total 342,141  167,195 

Income tax in Albania is assessed at the rate of 15% by the end of December 2021 (2020: 15%) of taxable 
income. Starting from January 1st, 2014 according to income tax law amendment dated December 28, 2013 the 
provision calculated based on International Financial Reporting Standards are applied for the calculation of the 
income tax. Due to the change of the income tax law there are no temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

 
 

Effective 
Tax rate 2021 

Effective 
Tax rate 2020 

Profit before tax   2,254,432  830,199 
Income tax at 15%  15.00%   338,165 15.00%  124,530  
Non-deductible expenses  1.24%   27,875 3.74%  31,066  
Income exempted from income tax -0.61% (13,729) 0.00%                            0.00% 
Income tax expense   15.63% 352,312  18.74% 155,596 
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31.   Income tax expense (continued) 

The following represents a reconciliation of the profit before tax to the taxable results for the year ended  
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020: 
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Profit before tax  2,254,432  830,199 
Non- tax deductible expenses  185,836  207,110 

Allowances  41,344  116,422 
- Effect on revaluation of assets acquired through 
adjudication 11,235  77,517 
- Effect on provisions of rewards 26,549  35,923 
- Effect on provision of legal cases 3,560  2,982 
- Effect on provision of other assets  -    -  
Loss from write off of debit accounts   1,624    601  
Loss from write off of loans and advances to 
customers   6,805   29,591  
Other operational loss   4,387   4,867  
Amortization   93,256   17,340  
Personal Consumption expenses    3,357   3,678  
Travel and reception expenses    1,011   1,480  

  Marketing expenses   3,715   7,911  
Other expenses 30,337   10,902  
Impact from IFRS 16 Leases   -    14,318  

Income Exempted from Profit Tax (91,524)   -  
Taxable results 2,348,744  1,037,309 

Current income tax at 15% (15% in 2020) 352,312  155,596 
Income exempted from Income tax represent the reversal of write down for assets acquired through adjudication 
which have been sold during the year. The corresponding charge has been treated as non-deductible expense in 
prior periods. 

32. Commitments and contingencies 

Commitments and contingencies as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 include guarantees received 
from and extended to customers as follows: 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Guarantees in favour of customers  12,939,678   12,654,966 
Un-drawn credit commitments  6,727,336   3,058,740 
Guarantees pledged from financial institutions  446,812   457,690 
Commitments on securities   1,086,840   247,400 
Other commitments  1,932,160   1,492,432 
Collaterals received from credit customers   349,904,775   289,655,526 

 
The Bank has collaterals pledged from customers including cash collateral, mortgages and other assets in favour 
of the Bank.  
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32. Commitments and contingencies (continued) 
 
The nominal values of financial guarantees, letters of credit and their ECL allowance are disclosed as below: 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
   

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 12,533,424 87,210 34,332 12,654,966 
New assets originated or purchased 3,453,528 0 13,284 3,466,812 
Assets de-recognized or repaid  (3,129,680)         (25,134)              (33,132)  (3,187,946) 
Transfers between stages                     -                   -                        -                   -   
Amounts written off                     -                   -                        -                   -   
Foreign exchange adjustments                     -                   -                        -                   -   
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021 12,857,272 62,076 14,484 12,933,832 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 10,481,658 408,883 12,840 10,903,381 
New assets originated or purchased 4,696,779 100 19,792 4,716,671 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (2,942,575) (17,737) (4,774) (2,965,086) 
Transfers between stages 297,562 (304,036) 6,474 - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 12,533,424 87,210 34,332 12,654,966 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 under IFRS 9 114,885 4,177 12,343 131,405 
New assets originated or purchased 29,491 0 8,626 38,117 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (34,820) (760) (11,280) (46,860) 
Transfers between stages - - - - 
Net re-measurement of ECL - - - - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2021 109,556 3,417 9,689 122,662 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 under IFRS 9 41,183 36 320 41,539 
New assets originated or purchased 43,801 3 5,769 49,573 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (56,308) - (4,140) (60,448) 
Transfers between stages 24,321 (26,434) 2,113 - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 61,888 30,572 8,281 100,741 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2020 114,885 4,177 12,343 131,405 

Annual Report 2021116



OTP BANK ALBANIA SH.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated) 

 56 

32.   Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

Legal 

The Bank operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation 
risk inherent in its operations. As a result, the Bank is involved in various litigation under Albanian jurisdictions 
in the ordinary course of its business. The Bank has formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. Based 
on professional legal advice, the Bank provides and/or discloses amounts in accordance with its accounting 
policies. At year end, the Bank had several unresolved legal claims that have no material impact on the Bank’s 
activity.  
 
Bank as lessee 

The Bank has entered into commercial leases for premises. The leases have an average life of between three and 
five years. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these.  
The Bank has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are negotiated 
by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Bank’s business 
needs. Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these extension and termination 
options are reasonably certain to be exercised. 
All the lease contracts that has extension options it is defined that on expire date the lessee is preferable to lease 
again the premised but both parties should agree on the new terms of the contract.  
All the lease contracts that has a termination option is forecasted in the contract and the notification time is 1 up 
to 6 month. During this period the lessor use the assets and pay the monthly rent and per contract in force. During 
2021 and 2020 year there are not extension and termination option to be exercised since the exercises are not 
reasonably certain by the Bank. 
 
33. Related party transactions  

The ultimate controlling party of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 is OTP BANK NYRT. A number of banking 
transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions include 
money-market placements, deposits and other transactions carried out on normal commercial terms and at 
market rates (at arm’s length transaction). 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Bank had the following contractual terms and transactions with its sole 
shareholder, OTP Bank Plc : 

31 December 2021 Amount Interest Rates %  Value date Maturity date 
Due from OTP Bank Plc (Lending) - - - - 
Due from OTP Bank Plc (Current account) 1,947,714 0.00 - - 
Due from OTP Bank Plc (Current account) 38,266 0.00 - - 
Due to OTP Bank Plc (Current account) - - - - 
Due to OTP Bank Plc (Current account) - - - - 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 3,260,520 -0.30 20-Oct-21 18-Jan-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 1,207,600 0.35 29-Oct-21 10-Feb-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 3,019,000 0.42 15-Nov-21 10-Mar-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 1,932,160 -0.32 25-Nov-21 10-Feb-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 3,019,000 0.31 15-Dec-21 13-Apr-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 426,160 0.57 29-Dec-21 5-Jan-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 1,207,600 0.20 30-Dec-21 11-May-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 426,160 0.57 30-Dec-21 6-Jan-22 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 63,924 1.25 31-Dec-21 7-Jan-22 
Interest expense OTP Bank Plc 16,690 - - - 
Interest income to OTP Bank Plc 25,180 - - - 
Guarantee received OTP Bank Plc 3,019,000 - - - 
Guarantee fee expense  39,384 - - - 
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33.  Related party transactions (continued) 
 
31 December 2020 Amount Interest rate % Value date Maturity date 
Due from OTP Bank Plc (Lending) 1,237,000 -0.35 31-Dec-20 5-Jan-21 
Due to OTP Bank Plc (Current account) 309,304 0.00 - - 
Due to OTP Bank Plc (Current account) 53,879 0.00 - - 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 2,721,400 -0.32 25-Nov-20 26-Jan-21 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 3,092,500 -0.29 29-Dec-20 26-Feb-21 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 742,200 -0.23 31-Dec-20 5-Jan-21 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 201,680 1.85 29-Dec-20 5-Jan-21 
Borrowing      (OTP Bank Plc) 201,680 0.53 30-Dec-20 6-Jan-21 
Interest expense (OTP Bank Plc) 14,184 - - - 
Interest income  (OTP Bank Plc) 20,519 - - - 
Guarantee received OTP Bank Plc 1,739,832 - - - 

As of 31 December 2021, the guarantee received is composed from 14 million Euro with maturity terms from 
31 March 2021 to 31 March 2022 and 9 million Euro with maturity terms from 29 December 2021 to 29 
December 2022 (31 December 2020: 2 million Euro & 14.8 million USD both with maturity terms from 31 
July 2020 to 31 July 2021). The annual fee paid of guarantee received ranges from 0.52% to 2% (31 December 
2020: 1.5%). 

 Directors  Board of Directors  
 2021                  2020  2021 2020 
Loans      
Loans outstanding at beginning of the year  70,708   69,344   - - 
Loans issued during the year  9,569   18,034   - - 
Loans repaid during the year  (17,677)   (16,670)  - - 
Loans outstanding at end of the year 62,599 70,708  - - 
      
Bank guarantees issued 10,627 10,886  - - 
Interest income earned  618 738  - - 

 
 Directors  Board of Directors 
Deposits 2021 2020  2021 2020 
Current accounts and deposits      
Deposits at beginning of the year 144,809 90,322   8,660   4,809  
Deposits received during the year 47,952 72,371   5,048   3,851  
Deposits repaid during the year  (44,444)  (17,884)   (203)  -   
Deposits at end of the year 148,317 144,809  13,505 8,660 
      
Interest paid   (1,518)  (1,203)   (1)  (0.67) 
Fee and commission income  117   92    18   3.62  
Profit from foreign exchange transactions  60   44    1   0.00  
Management compensation  (146,076) (143,279)   (11,421)   (9,123) 

Amounts disclosed in relation to Directors and Board of Directors classifications include close members of their 
families and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant 
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any director or close family member. 

34. Events after the reporting date 
In February 2022, following the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, Albania was joining EU and 
Western sanctions on Russia over the invasion of Ukraine, presenting its raft of measures. Economic sanctions 
include measures in the finance, energy, transport and technology fields. Albania also joined the EU and UK in 
closing its airspace to all aircraft registered in Russia. 
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34. Events after the reporting date (continued) 
The impact of the above events may affect in longer-term the macro-economic conditions in Albania when the 
Bank operates and may will impact in the trading volumes, cash flows and profitability. The bank does not have 
direct exposures to Ukraine/Russia/Belarus and no material indirect effects are expected in the foreseeable 
future. The Bank consider these events as non-adjusting events after the reporting period of 31 December 2021.  
Currently, the Bank management is analyzing the possible impact of changing macroeconomic conditions on 
the Bank's financial position and results of operations on the future.
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 35. 
M

aturity analysis of assets and liabilities 

The table below
 show

s an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to w
hen they are expected to be recovered or settled. Financial assets and liabilities 

have been classified to m
ature and/or be repaid according to their actual contractual m

aturities of the products (w
ithout m

aking any assum
ptions over any 

possibility for earlier repaym
ent). W

ith regard to loans and advances to custom
ers, the Bank uses the sam

e basis of expected repaym
ent behaviour that w

as used 
for estim

ating the EIR. 
 

 
 

31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
 

31 D
ecem

ber 2020 
 

 
 

<12 m
onths 

>12 m
onths 

Total 
 

< 12 m
onths  

> 12 m
onths  

 Total  
A

ssets 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
ash and cash equivalents 

 
 

 9,382,469  
 -   

9,382,469 
 

 5,535,926  
 -   

5,535,926 
R

estricted balances w
ith Central Bank 

 
 

 7,330,251  
 677,468  

8,007,719 
 

 6,626,603  
 608,492  

7,235,095 
Loans and advances financial institutions 

 
 

 1,377,826  
 -   

1,377,826 
 

 1,558,261  
 -   

1,558,261 
Investm

ent in debt securities at fair value 
through other com

prehensive incom
e (FV

O
CI) 

 
 

 2,948,314  
 22,163,521  

25,111,835 
 

 1,546,543  
 20,233,160  

21,779,703 
Loans and advances to custom

ers, net  
 

 15,555,920  
 51,879,327  

67,435,247 
 

24,352,786 
   32,938,458 

57,291,244 
Finance lease receivables 

 
 465,294  

 758,263  
1,223,557 

 
192,347 

  970,081  
1,162,428 

Property and equipm
ent and intangible assets 

 
- 

869,858 
 869,858 

 
- 

844,515 
844,515   

R
epossessed A

ssets  
 

 
 -   

 15,634  
15,634 

 
 -   

 37,122  
37,122 

O
ther assets  

 
 

388,105    
 -   

 388,105  
 

 455,104  
 -   

455,104 
R

ight of use, net 
 

 
 -   

  590,217 
 590,217  

 
 -   

 581,385  
581,385 

T
otal 

 
 

  37,448,179 
  76,954,288 

 114,402,467 
 

 40,267,570  
  56,213,213  

  96,480,783 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
L

iabilities and equity 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
ue to financial institutions 

 
 

 17,234,429  
 194,329  

 17,428,758  
 

 12,354,448  
 231,203  

 12,585,651  
D

ue to custom
ers 

 
 

 71,981,976  
 10,395,597  

 82,377,573  
 

 64,293,691  
 8,596,410  

 72,890,101  
Lease liabilities 

 
 

 2,356,739  
 -   

 2,356,739  
 

 601,945  
 -   

 601,945  
D

eferred tax liability, net 
 

 
 -   

 218,994  
 218,994  

 
 -   

 139,533  
 139,533  

O
ther liabilities 

 
 

 -   
 131,991  

 131,991  
 

 -   
 624,280  

 624,280  
Provisions for liabilities and charges 

 
 

 
 596,244  

 596,244  
 

 
 183,018  

 183,018  
T

otal 
 

 
   91,573,144 

  11,537,155 
  103,110,299 

 
  77,250,084 

  9,774,444 
  87,024,528 

N
et exposure 

 
 

  (54,124,965) 
65,417,133 

11,292,168 
 

 (36,982,514) 
46,438,769 

9,456,255 
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36. Financial risk management 

(a) Overview 
 

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 credit risk 
 climate-related risk 
 liquidity risk 
 market risks 
 operational risk 
 foreign exchange risk 
 compliance risk 

 
This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks and its objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk and capital. 
 
Risk management framework 
 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk 
management framework. The Board has established the Bank Asset and Liability (ALCO), Credit and 
Operational Risk committees, which are responsible for developing and monitoring Bank risk management 
policies in their specified areas. All Board committees have both executive and non-executive members and 
report regularly to the Board of Directors on their activities. 
 
The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Bank, 
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
 
The Bank Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies 
and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced 
by the Bank. The Bank Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit 
undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit Committee.  
 
Current developments 
 
Management of the Bank performs daily monitoring over all positions of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses, as well as the development of the international financial markets, applying the best banking practices. 
Based on this, the management analyses profitability, liquidity and the cost of funds and implements adequate 
measures in respect to credit, market (primarily interest rate) and liquidity risk, thus limiting the possible 
negative effects from the global economic. In this way the Bank responds to the challenges of the market 
environment, maintaining a stable capital and liquidity position. 
 
(b) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances to customers and 
other banks and financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk 
exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). For risk management purposes, credit 
risk arising on trading securities is managed independently, but reported as a component of market risk exposure. 
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36.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk 

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to its Bank Executive 
directors supervised from Head Office. A consolidated Credit Risk Sector, reporting to the Chief Risk Officer 
and in parallel to the Executive Officer, is responsible for oversight of the Bank’s credit risk.  
 
The management of credit risk is accomplished through: 
 
 Formulating credit risk policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements, credit 

assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory 
and statutory requirements. 
 

 Establishing and monitoring of the delegation levels and escalating process regarding the credit approvals. 
Board of Directors delegates its power of approval authority to the Executive Members of the Bank 
(currently for the amount up to Euro 3 million for non-retail and EUR 1 million for Retail or its equivalent 
in Lek or other currencies). Above this amounts all credit files are approved in Risk structure of OTP Bank 
in Head office up to 10% of regulatory capital values, approximately EUR 6.5 million as of end of December 
2020, the maximal local regulatory limit. Above this limit Board of directors’ approval is needed.  
 

 Reviewing and assessing credit risk. Bank Management through specific structures of Credit Risk 
Management assesses all credit exposures limits, prior to the final approval and disbursement. Renewals and 
reviews of facilities are subject to the same process. 
 

 Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties. The bank structures the levels of credit risk it 
undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower or groups of 
borrowers. Moreover, concentration limits by sectors of economy are being established. Such risks are 
monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, as considered necessary.  
 

 Monitoring the actual exposures against limits on a frequent basis. Exposure to credit risk is also managed 
through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital 
repayment obligations, even by changing these lending limits where appropriate.   
 

 Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk grading in order to categorise exposures according to the degree 
of risk of financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks. The risk grading system is 
used in determining where impairment provisions may be required against specific credit exposures. The 
current risk grading framework is based on a general categorization of the loan portfolio in performing and 
non-performing loans, classified into 3 categories and sub-categories for performing loans (5,6,7) and 3 
categories for default (8,9,10), which reflect various degrees of risk of default and the availability of 
collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The responsibility for appropriate setting and monitoring the risk 
grades in line with the financial situation of the non-retail counterparty remains with the Credit Risk 
Management and is subject to the final approval by the final approval authority of the file. The risk grading 
is also subject to regular reviews performed by OTP Bank, and the Group risk and impairment measurement 
policies and guidelines. 
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36.   Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

The references below show where the Bank’s impairment assessment and measurement approach is set out in 
this report. It should be read in conjunction with the Summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
The Bank’s definition and assessment of default and cure Note 36 (b) (i) 
An explanation of the Bank’s internal rating system Note 36 (b) (ii) 
How the Bank defines, calculates and monitors the probability of default, exposure  
at default and loss given default) 

Note 36 (b) (iii), Note 36 (b) 
(iv) and Note 36 (b) (xi) 

When the Bank considers there has been a significant increase in credit risk of an  
Exposure 

Note 36 (b) (v) 

The Bank’s policy of segmenting financial assets where ECL is assessed on a  
collective basis 

Note: 36 (b) (vi) 

The details of the ECL calculations for Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 assets Note: 3 (j) (iv)  
 
i) Definition of default and cure 
 
The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL calculations 
in all cases when the borrower becomes more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments. The Bank 
defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when 
it meets either of the following criteria: 
1. Unlikeliness to pay (“UTP”): The client is flagged as defaulted due to unlikeliness to pay (indicated in 

default indicators file) and at the same time has at least 1 active financing, or  
a. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor.  
b. a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.  
c. the creditor, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the 

borrower a concession that the creditor would not otherwise consider.  
d. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.  
e. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or  
f. observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 

group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet 
be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:  

i. adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group (e.g., an increased number of 
delayed payments); or  

ii. national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group (e.g. 
an increase in the unemployment rate in the geographical area of the borrowers, a decrease in 
property prices for mortgages in the relevant area, a decrease in oil prices for financing assets to 
oil producers, or adverse changes in industry conditions that affect the borrowers in the group).or 

2. 90 DPD: The exposure is more than 90 days past due (DPD90) and at the same time is active and marked 
as defaulted by the bank (this identification is needed because for some financings with misaligned 
payments/financing, the DPD counter is not correctly reflecting the past due time)  

 
The above criteria have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with the 
definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes.  
Starting from 1 January 2021 the new definition of default has been introduced according to EBA’s (European 
Banking Authority) Guidelines. The affected segmentation is only retail impacted stage 3 in EAD balance and 
ECL allowance 114,623 thousand Lek and 54,689 thousand Lek respectively.  
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36.   Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

i) Definition of default and cure (continued) 

It is the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 
when none of the default criteria have been present for at least three consecutive months. The decision whether 
to classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated credit grade, at the time of the cure, 
and whether this indicates there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition. 
The exit from default may not occur before a minimum period of one year after the restructuring and subject to 
compliance with the restructured agreement and the absence of any payments in arrears as explained in Note 3 
(k) viii). 
Based on the guideline of EBA on the application of the definition of default under Article 178 of Regulation 
(EU) No 575/2013 the Bank has adopted new definition of default which has entered in force on 1st of January 
2021. Materiality threshold is a defined limit amount taken in consideration when assessing the default status. 
Disregards to the days past due, the below amounts are deemed non-material for dropping the counterparties’ 
credit obligations to a defaulted status. If the past due amount exceeds this limit it should be considered material. 
The examination of the materiality threshold must be performed for the overdue part of the exposure. 
The overdue amount always includes all the outstanding dues of the client, i.e. the interests, fees and principal 
debt. 
In the case of the Retail Segment: 

 Absolute threshold: EUR 100 or 
 Relative threshold: the ratio of the client's total overdue debt exceeds 1% of the contracted 

amount. 
In the case of the Non-Retail segment: 

 The absolute threshold: EUR 500 or 
 Relative threshold: the ratio of the client's total overdue debt exceeds 1% of the contracted 

amount. 
 
Default is considered to have occurred with regard to a particular obligor when either or both of the two 
following events have taken place: 

 The obligor is past due more than 90 consecutive days on any material credit obligation (DPD > 90 & 
the materiality threshold) 

Days overdue starts counting on the following day after the missed payment and it increases by each calendar 
day until a payment is made from client 
 
(ii) The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process  
 
The Bank’s independent Risk Department manages its internal credit rating model for non-retail portfolio and 
assures the total compliance of rating, financial situation of the non-retail counterparty and provisioning rate. 
The Stage 1 part of sound portfolio has to be rated between rates 5- (Albanian country rating) and 7+. Watch list 
of non -retail which is equivalent to Stage 2 has to be graded 8 or 9- and stage 3 has to be rated 10. The models 
incorporate both qualitative and quantitative information and, in addition to information specific to the borrower, 
utilize supplemental external information that could affect the borrower’s behavior. 
 
PDs associated with each rating are then used for modelling the IFRS 9 ECL calculations, while incorporating 
forward looking information and the IFRS 9 Stage classification of the exposure.  
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(ii) The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process (continued) 

Treasury, trading and interbank relationships 
 
The Bank’s treasury, trading and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise financial services 
institutions, banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearinghouses. For these relationships, the approval for green 
list of counterparties is issued from Market Risk department of OTP Bank NYRT Head Office in line with the 
counterparty's “Rating Agency” and assigns the internal OTP scale rating. The local Market Risk monitors the 
limits granted for these counterparties on different frequencies (daily/monthly/quarterly and yearly). 
Corporate and small business lending 
For corporate loans, the borrowers are assessed by specialized risk employees of the Bank. The credit risk 
assessment is based on a specialized assessment and takes into account various historical, current and forward-
looking information such as: 
 
• Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This financial 

information includes realized and expected results, solvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any other relevant 
ratios to measure the client’s financial performance. 

• Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating grades 
issued by rating agencies if available, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond or CDS prices or 
press releases and articles. 

• Any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.g., GDP growth relevant for the specific industry and 
geographical segments where the client operates. 

• Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management relevant 
for the company’s performance. 

• Counterparty credit behaviors in the banking system 
• Quality and feasibility of the project subject of financing request 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(ii) The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process (continued) 

Consumer lending and retail mortgages 

Unsecured and Secured retail lending products  

Unsecured lending comprises personal / express loans, leasing, overdrafts and revolving credit cards.  

While the secured comprises mortgages with its types differentiated by tenor and destination such as real estate, 
housing, home equity and restructuring loans. 

Consumer uncovered loans are originated with salary or rent incomes are approved from a statistical scorecard 
build internally from the bank that assign approval or rejection status to all application which pass through the 
flow of the application. The scorecard takes into account all credit policy and risk criteria’s in force by weighting 
with a final score and compared to a cutoff value for the final decision. 

The secured loans are all analyzed in branches first and final approval is made from a specialized team in credit 
risk that evaluates the ability of the client to financially support the repayment of loan granted during the life of 
the loan and quality of the collateral as secondary source of repayment.  

From the beginning of Q3-2021 and on there is implemented a statistical scoring tool which has apart the scoring 
all the risk and policy criteria’s implemented in it for automating the decision and helping the risk analyst on 
taking the final decision on approval or rejection. The clients after scored they are rated based on the rating OTP 
Group Master scale, where the rating 10 is assigned by definition to defaulted clients. 

GRADE PD Low bound PD High bound 
1 0.00% 0.27% 
2 0.27% 0.53% 
3 0.53% 0.93% 
4 0.93% 1.56% 
5 1.56% 2.62% 
6 2.62% 4.36% 
7 4.36% 8.07% 
8 8.07% 19.78% 
9 19.78% <100% 

10 (Defaulted) 100% 
 

 (iii) Exposure at Default 

Exposure at Default is the expected outstanding amount at the moment of default, which is composed by the on-
balance part owed and the part usable of the off-balance by the client at the default moment and is applicable to 
non-defaulted clients at the observation period /month or to the next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime. 
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by product 
type. For amortising products and bullet repayment financings, this is based on the contractual repayments owed 
by the borrower over a 12-month or lifetime basis.  

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Bank assesses the possible default events within 12 months for the 
calculation of the 12mECL. However, if a Stage 1 loan that is expected to default in the 12 months from the 
balance sheet date and is also expected to cure and subsequently default again, then all linked default events are 
taken into account. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the exposure at default is considered for 
events over the lifetime of the instruments. 
The Bank determines EADs by modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time, 
corresponding the multiple scenarios. The IFRS 9 PDs are then assigned to homogenous groups based on the 
outcome of Bank’s models. 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(iv) Probability of Default 

The probability of default represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation over the 
next 12 months or over the remaining lifetime of the obligation. As a rule, the lifetime probability of default is 
calculated using the regulatory 12-month probability of default, stripped of any margin of conservatism, as a 
starting point. Thereafter, various statistical methods are used to generate an estimate of how the default profile 
will develop from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the financing or portfolio of 
financings.  
(v) Loss Given Default 
For loan portfolio, financial institutions as well as sovereign exposures LGD values are assessed at least each 
year by the Bank’s specialized risk department in headquarter. The risk assessment is based on a standardized 
LGD assessment framework that results in a certain LGD rate. These LGD rates take into account the expected 
EAD in comparison to the amount expected to be recovered only from cash transactions. The Bank segments its 
portfolio into business and retail lending, based on key characteristics that are relevant to the estimation of future 
cash flows.  
OBA with the help of the group defines LGD for collectively assessed exposures: 

 Retail PI mortgage loans and non-retail portfolios (MSE and MLE) that are significantly secured by 
mortgage: modified LGL methodology based on the Asset Quality Review (AQR). The primary source 
of the data is cash recovery. No collateral data taken in consideration  

 PI: Consumer loans, car finance and unsecured exposures: recovery based LGL methodology estimated 
from historical data 

Banks retail lending products are segmented in more detailed categories based on the characteristics of portfolio, 
which are: 
• Consumer loans, 
• CAR loans, 
• Overdrafts, 
• Revolving Credit Cards and  
• Other loans. 

When estimating LGD for loans in the absorbing state the following should also be considered: 

• Definition of an appropriate workout period through which recoveries are likely to occur  
• Time already spent in the absorbing status 
• The effect of time already spent in the absorbing state should be properly reflected in the estimated 
parameters (e.g. FSR)  
• Any event occurring during the workout process should be incorporated in the parameters  
OBA send the historical data for all client segments of PI, MSE and MLE from to the Head Quarter. All the 
modelling work and final ratios are made available from modelling team in the head quarter. The frequency of 
re-running the exercise is yearly, each Q4 of the year. 
Further recent data and forward-looking economic scenarios are used in order to determine the IFRS 9 LGD rate 
for each group of financial instruments. When assessing forward-looking information, the expectation is based 
on multiple scenarios. Examples of key inputs involve changes in payment status or other factors that are 
indicative of losses in the group. 
The Bank estimates regulatory and IFRS 9 LGDs on a single basis. Under IFRS 9, LGD rates are estimated for 
the Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI IFRS 9 segment of each asset class. The inputs for these LGD rates are 
estimated and, where possible, calibrated through back testing against recent recoveries. These are repeated for 
each economic scenario as appropriate.  
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(vi) Significant increase in credit risk 

The Bank continuously monitors all credit exposures subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an 
instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Bank considers an exposure to have 
significantly increased in credit risk when the IFRS 9 lifetime PD has doubled since initial recognition and has 
increased by more than 10 dpd (commercial phase starting point). 

The Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an 
asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne. In certain cases, 
the Bank may also consider that events explained in Note 34 (b) (i) are a significant increase in credit risk as 
opposed to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, if contractual payments are more than 10 days 
past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition. 

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets (as set out in Note 34 (b) (vi) the Bank 
applies the same principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. 
 
Covid 19 – increased risk for specific clients 

Considering the uncertainty caused by Covid 19, during 2020 the Bank has screened all the portfolio in order to 
be able to identify, analyse, and measure and response to significant increase in credit risk. 

Based on the identifications, as well as analysis, the Bank has downgraded a portion of the loan portfolio, mostly 
based on the sectors which have been affected from Covid 19. Considering that Hotel and Accommodation 
sector has been one of the most affected sectors, detailed individual analysis is done for each client, and for 
those which have been affected, are downgraded. 

These clients are monitored in continuation, in order to the Bank to be fully aware of the risk these clients carry. 
During the year, all clients which have showed significant decrease in credit risk have been treated accordingly 
in Note 36.b.  

(vii) Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis  

As explained in Note 3 (k) (iv) dependent on the factors below, the Bank calculates ECLs either on a collective 
or an individual basis. Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on an individual basis include: 

 all clients that in the reporting date are classified in Stage 3 and have EAD of at least EUR 0.4 MIO 
 the specific nature of the financing and its contractual and financial conditions (maturity, reference rate, 

etc.);  
 the exposure profile until maturity in relation to potential market movements.  
 the existence of collateral or guarantees; and  
 the potential for default based on the internal risk rating. 
 The treasury, trading and interbank relationships (such as Due from Banks, Cash collateral on securities 

borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements and debt instruments at amortized cost/FVOCI 
  Exposures that have been classified as POCI when the original loan was derecognized, and a new loan 

was recognized as a result of a credit driven debt restructuring. 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(vii) Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis (continued) 

Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on a collective basis include: 
• Stage 1 and 2 business and retail 
• Loan balances less than EUR 400,000  
• Purchased POCI exposures managed on a collective basis 

The Bank groups these exposure into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on a combination of internal and 
external characteristics of the loans that constitute a homogenous group. 

• Non-retail lending is grouped in one category, no subdivision 
• Retail lending homogenous groups as follows: 

- Mortgage loans 
- Professional and Very Small business loans 
- Consumer loans 
- Other loans 

 
(viii) Forward-looking Information 

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk and the calculation of expected credit losses both 
incorporate forward-looking information. The Bank has performed historical analysis and identified key 
economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio.  

This is achieved by applying different macroeconomic scenarios with 100% sum of weights, which may be 
integrated in the PD, LGD and EAD parameters. 

Th Bank send the historical data to the Head Quarter. All the modelling work macroeconomic scenarios are 
made available from modelling team in the head quarter. The frequency of re-running the exercise is yearly, 
each Q4 of the year. 

The impact of economic variables on the probability of default and loss given default is determined using 
statistical regression to understand the impact changes in these variables have had historically on default rates 
and on the components of loss given default and exposure at default.  

In addition to the base economic scenario, the model also provides a best case and worst case scenario and 
scenario weightings to ensure non-linearities are captured. The Bank has concluded that three scenarios or less 
appropriately captures non-linearity. The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical 
analysis, taking account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen scenario is representative of.  

The Bank considers these forecasts represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and cover any potential 
non-linearities and asymmetries in the Bank’s different portfolios. 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(ix) Expected Credit Losses General  

The calculation of expected credit losses requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will 
rarely equal the actual results. Management exercises judgement in applying the Bank’s accounting policies. 
The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its debt instrument assets 
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from financing commitments, leasing 
receivables and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each 
reporting date. 
Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their expected credit loss measured at an amount equal to the portion of 
lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible in the next 12 months. Instruments in 
Stages 2 or 3 have their expected credit losses measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. 
According to IFRS 9, when measuring expected credit losses, it is necessary to consider forward-looking 
information.  

(x) Explanation of Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation Techniques  

The expected credit loss is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime basis depending on whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition, or whether an asset is considered to be credit-
impaired. Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD, 
EAD. These assumptions vary by clients type divided into Business and Retail. Expected credit losses are the 
product of the probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD). 

(xi) Sensitivity Analysis 

The most significant assumptions affecting the expected credit loss allowance are as follows: 
Business portfolios  

 Quarterly GDP by Production Approach, Seasonally adjusted – GDP current prices:  
- Industry  
- Real Estate Services  
- VSHB Gross Value Added  
- PBB gross Domestic Product  

 Quarterly GDP by expenditure approach, constant prices  
- Final Consumption Expenditures  
- Gross fixed Capital Formation  
- Domestic Absorption  
- Net Export  
- Import  
- Export  

 Retail portfolios Labor Market – Labor Force Survey:  
- Unemployment rate  
- Labour Force Participation   
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(xi) Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 

 Prices:  
- Consumer Price Index (CPI)  
- Producer Price Index (PPI)  

 
Collateral and other credit enhancements 
The Bank holds collateral against financial receivables in the form of mortgage interests over property, other 
registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral 
assessed at the time of borrowing and are updated on three years frequency and also when the asset is 
individually assessed as impaired. An estimate of the fair value of collateral held against financial receivables 
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is shown below: 
 2021  2020 

 Over-
collateralized 

Under-
collateralized  

Over-
collateralized 

Under-
collateralized 

 Fair value of 
collateral 

Fair value of 
collateral  

Fair value of 
collateral 

Fair value of 
collateral 

      
Real Estate 116,263,419 3,517,053  108,419,514 5,205,196 
Of which Moratoria  - -  31,183,475 2,126,006 
Machinery, Equipment Inventories 31,919,832 220,328  41,446,194 348,722 
Of which Moratoria  - -  32,019,740 26,459 
Cash Collateral 4,998,142 37,536  2,276,746 466,961 
Of which Moratoria  - -  664,360 6,593 
Other 9,641,810 3,106,641  1,980,198 299,543 
Of which Moratoria  - -  - 660 
Of which Sovran guarantee  - -  1,918,030 294,618 
Total 162,823,203 6,881,558  154,122,652 6,320,422 
 
Collateral generally is not required for balances with banks and financial institutions, and no such collateral  
was held at 31 December 2021 or 2020. 

The financial effect of the collateral is being presented by dividing the value of the collateral separately  
(i) those assets where the value of collateral are equal or overpassed the accounting value of the assets 

(over- collateralized), and 
(ii) those assets where the value of collateral is less than the accounting value of the assets (under 

collateralized assets). 
The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers. The Bank implements its internal guidelines 
on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.   
The Bank holds collateral mainly in the form of:   
 Real Estate mortgages over residential as well as business properties. 
 Pledge over business assets in operation such as machinery and equipment, inventory, and accounts 

receivable. 
 Cash collateral and certain securities (i.e. Government bonds), etc. 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(xi) Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 

Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued) 
Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are 
not updated on an annual basis. The revision takes place when the loan is individually assessed as impaired, 
except for cases where the review is requested by the customer, the loan is in arrears, or there is a significant 
decrease in the market prices for real estate premises. Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances 
to banks, except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity.  

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Total collaterals received    

For loans and advances to financial institutions 446,812  457,690 
For investing in Government Bond in Euro 1,086,840  247,400 
For other investments 1,932,160  1,492,432 
For loans and advances to customers  349,904,775  289,655,526 
-of which moratoria -  87,286,507 

Total 353,370,587  291,853,048 

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements (gross 
of any impairment). The following table shows the current maximum exposure to credit risk for the applicable 
components of statement of financial position. The gross maximum exposure is presented without taking into 
account any collateral and other credit enhancements (gross of any impairments) 

  Gross maximum exposure  
  31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Cash balances with Central Bank (excluding cash on hand)  15,411,889  11,297,793 
Due from Banks 1,439,172 1,608,154 
Investment debt securities at FVOCI 24,358,317 21,043,709 
Loans and advances to customers (including financial lease) 73,396,257 63,138,879 
Total 114,605,635 97,088,535 
Un-drawn credit commitments 6,727,336 3,058,740 
Letters of credit 487,692 1,148,938 
Guarantees in favor of customers 12,446,140 11,114,520 
Total credit related commitments 19,661,168 15,322,198 
Total Credit Risk exposure 134,266,803 112,410,733 
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 36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

(xi) Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 

Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued) 

Fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financial assets  

31 December 2021 Over-collateralized  Under-collateralized 
assets  Assets 

 
Carrying 

value of the 
assets 

Fair value 
of collateral 

 Carrying 
value of the 

assets 

Fair value of 
collateral 

Loans to individuals 17,610,427 49,416,445  4,424,865 256,562 
Housing  13,402,021   38,637,045    260,214   148,971  
Real Estate & Reconstruction  3,765,088   10,185,812    201,120   102,005  
Consumer  2,130   15,764    3,570,314   -   
Other  441,188   577,824    393,217   5,586  
Loans to large corporate customers  28,069,331   93,672,944    15,302,391   6,236,768  
Loans to SME   5,904,176   15,947,559    727,959   381,707  
Total 51,583,934 159,036,948  20,455,215 6,875,037 
Finance lease contracts  1,330,572   3,786,255    26,535   6,521  
Total including finance lease contracts 52,914,506 162,823,203  20,481,750 6,881,558 

 

31 December 2020 Over-collateralized  Under-collateralized 
assets  Assets 

 
Carrying 

value of the 
assets 

Fair value 
of collateral 

 Carrying 
value of the 

assets 

Fair value of 
collateral 

Loans to individuals  15,141,453   43,193,747    3,671,474   264,675  
Housing  10,877,732   32,854,327    224,524   174,502  
Real Estate & Reconstruction  3,713,659   9,674,751    124,759   84,587  
Consumer  4,681   22,589    2,998,171   -   
Other  545,381   642,080    324,020   5,586  
Loans to large corporate customers  22,703,742   93,252,447    14,267,304   5,258,655  
Loans to SME   5,047,812   14,024,854    969,620   796,967  

Total  42,881,303  
 

150,471,048    18,908,398   6,320,297  
Finance lease contracts  1,291,610   3,651,603    45,865   124  

Total including finance lease contracts  44,172,913 
 

154,122,651    18,954,263   6,320,421  
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36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 

C
redit risk grades 

The Bank allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determ
ined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced 

credit judgem
ent. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the 

nature of the exposure and the type of borrow
er. Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit 

risk grade deteriorates. Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available inform
ation about the borrow

er. Exposures are subject 
to ongoing m

onitoring, w
hich m

ay result in an exposure being m
oved to a different credit risk grade. The B

ank classifies its loans in the follow
ing categories adopting 

the follow
ing credit risk grades: 

 
R

isk category 
D

ays in arrears for loans 
D

ays in arrears for overdrafts 
G

rade: Low
-fair risk 

up to 30 days 
up to 30 days 

G
rade: W

atch list 
31 to 90 days 

31 to 60 days 
G

rade: Substandard  
91 to 180 days 

61 to 90 days 
G

rade: D
oubtful 

181 to 365 days 
91 to 180 days 

G
rade: Loss 

O
ver 365 days 

O
ver 181 days 

 The m
onitoring typically involves use of the follow

ing data. 
- 

Inform
ation obtained during periodic review

 of custom
er files – e.g. audited financial statem

ents, m
anagem

ent accounts, budgets and projections for corporate 
custom

ers and Internally collected data on custom
er behavior for retail ones 

- 
Paym

ent record – this includes overdue status as w
ell as a range of variables about paym

ent ratios 
- 

U
tilization of the granted lim

it 
- 

Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and econom
ic conditions 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

 (b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 

C
redit risk grades (continued) 

C
arrying am

ount allocated to a credit risk grade is disclosed as below
 on 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 and 31 D

ecem
ber 2020: 

 
L

oans &
 A

dvances to custom
ers 

  
Finance Lease receivable 

  
2021 

 
2020 

  
2021 

 
2020 

C
arrying am

ount 
67,435,248 

 
57,330,148 

  
1,223,555 

 
1,162,423 

A
m

ount com
m

itted / G
uaranteed 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
A

t am
ortized cost 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
G

rade: Low
-fair risk 

 67,674,675  
 

 55,463,182  
  

 1,114,402  
 

 903,161  
G

rade: W
atch list 

 1,060,422  
 

 2,900,295  
  

 128,273  
 

 278,362  
G

rade: Substandard 
 782,808  

 
 989,495  

  
 5,509  

 
 25,251  

G
rade: D

oubtful 
 304,794  

 
 278,739  

  
 78,792  

 
 94,906  

G
rade: Loss 

 2,216,449  
 

 2,169,693  
  

 30,132  
 

 35,790  
T

otal gross am
ount 

  72,039,148 
 

 61,801,404  
  

1,357,108 
 

1,337,470 
Expected Credit Losses 

 (4,603,900) 
 

 (4,471,256) 
  

(133,553) 
 

(175,047) 
N

et C
arrying A

m
ount 

67,435,248 
 

57,330,148 
  

1,223,555 
 

1,162,423 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

 (b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 

C
redit risk grades (continued) 

 
Loans &

 A
dvances to banks 

Investm
ent securities at FV

O
C

I 
L

ending com
m

itm
ents and financial 

guarantees 
 

2021 
 

2020 
2021 

 
2020 

2021 
 

2020 
C

arrying am
ount 

1,377,826 
 

1,558,261 
25,111,835 

 
21,779,703 

 
 

 
A

m
ount com

m
itted / G

uaranteed 
 

 
 

 
 

 
19,661,168 

 
15,322,198 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
t am

ortized cost 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

G
rade: Low

-fair risk 
1,439,172 

 
1,608,154 

- 
 

- 
- 

 
- 

G
rade: W

atch list 
- 

 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

 
- 

G
rade: Substandard 

- 
 

- 
- 

 
- 

- 
 

- 
G

rade: D
oubtful 

- 
 

- 
- 

 
- 

- 
 

- 
G

rade: Loss 
- 

 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

 
- 

Total gross am
ount 

1,439,172 
 

1,608,154 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Expected Credit Losses 

(61,346) 
 

(49,893) 
(204,928) 

 
(296,180) 

(214,785) 
 

(183,019) 
N

et C
arrying A

m
ount 

1,377,826 
 

1,558,261 
24,906,908 

 
21,483,523 

19,446,383 
 

15,139,179 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Financial assets at FV

O
C

I 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

G
rade: Low

-fair risk 
- 

- 
- 

25,316,763 
 

22,075,883 
- 

 
- 

Total carrying am
ount 

- 
- 

- 
25,316,763 

 
22,075,883 

- 
 

- 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
O

ff Balance Sheet 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Lending com
m

itm
ents 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
G

rade: Low
-fair risk 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

6,722,723 
 

3,058,740 
G

rade: W
atch list 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

3,970 
 

- 
G

rade: Substandard 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
637 

 
- 

G
rade: D

oubtful 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
6 

 
- 

G
rade: Loss 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
Financial G

uarantees 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

 
- 

G
rade: Low

-fair risk 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
12,933,832 

 
12,263,458 

Total Exposure 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
19,661,168 

 
15,322,198 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Expected Credit Losses 
(i) Other financial assets 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 
Loans and advances to financial institutions are assigned in Stage 1 as 31 December 2021 and 2020. An 
analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances is as follows: 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2021 1,608,156  -  - 1,608,156 
New assets originated or purchased 1,439,172  -  - 1,439,172 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (1,608,156)  -  - (1,608,156) 
Transfers between stages -  -  - - 
Amounts written off -  -  - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments -  -  - - 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2021 1,439,172  -  - 1,439,172 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021  49,893  -  -  49,893 
New assets originated or purchased 35,413  -  -  35,413 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (30,333)  -  -  (30,333) 
Transfers between stages  -  -  -  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 7,423  -  -  7,423 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (1,050)  -  -  (1,050) 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2021 61,346  -  -  61,346 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 1,640,756  -  - 1,640,756 
New assets originated or purchased 1,608,684  -  - 1,608,684 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (1,640,756)  -  - (1,640,756) 
Transfers between stages  -  -  - - 
Amounts written off -  -  - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (528)  -  - (528) 
Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 1,608,156  -  - 1,608,156 
 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 11,059  -  -  11,059 
New assets originated or purchased 69,646  -  -  69,646 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (66,006)  -  -  (66,006) 
Transfers between stages -  -  -  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 35,193  -  -  35,193 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange adjustments 1  -  -  1 
ECL allowance as at December 31, 2020 49,893  -  -  49,893 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Expected Credit Losses (continued) 
(i)   Other financial assets (continued) 

Debt instruments measured at FVOCI 

A reconciliation of changes in the fair value and corresponding allowance for ECL by stage for debt instruments 
measured at FVOCI is, as follows: 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Fair value as at 1 January 2021 21,779,703  -  -  21,779,703 
New assets originated or purchased 4,943,730  -  -  4,943,730 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (1,470,000)      (1,470,000) 
Transfers to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Fair value change 17,522      17,522 
Foreign exchange adjustments (159,120)  -  -  (159,120) 
Fair Value as at December 31, 2021 25,111,835  -  -  25,111,835 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowances as at 1 January 2021 296,180  -  -  296,180 
New assets originated or purchased 38,810  -  -  38,810 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (21,088)  -  -  (21,088) 
Transfers to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL (108,974)  -  -  (108,974) 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange adjustments -  -  -  - 
ECL allowances as at December 31, 2021 204,928  -  -  204,928 
ECL change for the year       89,199 
Foreign exchange       2,053 
Total ECL income statement credit for the year      91,252 

 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Fair value as at 1 January 2020 22,448,698  -  -  22,448,698 
New assets originated or purchased 3,237,625  -  -  3,237,625 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (3,350,300)      (3,350,300) 
Transfers to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Fair value change (531,116)      (531,116) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (25,204)  -  -  (25,204) 
Fair value as at December 31, 2020 21,779,703  -  -  21,779,703 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Expected Credit Losses (continued) 
(i)   Other financial assets (continued) 

Debt instruments measured at FVOCI (continued) 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

ECL allowances as at 1 January 2020 136,531  -  -  136,531 
New assets originated or purchased 14,133  -  -  14,133 
Assets de-recognized or repaid (32,897)  -  -  (32,897) 
Transfers to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfers to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Net re-measurement of ECL 177,809  -  -  177,809 
Amounts written off -  -  -  - 
Foreign exchange adjustments 604  -  -  604 
ECL allowances as at December 31, 2020 296,180  -  -  296,180 
ECL change for the year       159,045 
Foreign exchange       604 
Other adjustments       - 
Total ECL income statement credit for the year       159,649 

 

(ii) Loans and Advances to Customers 

Loans and advances to customers are assigned as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. An analysis of changes in 
gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances is presented in Note 10. 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal 
credit rating system. The amounts presented are gross of allowance for ECL. 

31 December 2021  
 

 
 Collectively assessed Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
  Grade: Standard  61,510,626    6,034,012    130,038    67,674,676  
  Grade: Special  49,965    730,178    104,599    884,742  
  Grade: Substandard  12,153    23,081    375,862    411,096  
  Grade: Doubtful  3,697    2,979    205,727    212,403  
  Grade: Loss  58    3,456    924,498    928,012  
  Gross amount   61,576,499    6,793,706    1,740,724    70,110,929 
Expected Credit Losses  (764,921)  (785,535)   (1,346,908)   (2,897,364) 
Carrying amount (A)  60,811,578   6,008,171  393,816    67,213,565 
        
Individually assessed Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
  Grade: Standard -  -   -   -  
  Grade: Special -  -   175,680    175,680  
  Grade: Substandard -  -   371,713    371,713  
  Grade: Doubtful -  -   92,391    92,391  
  Grade: Loss -  -   1,288,436    1,288,436  
Gross amount -  -    1,928,220    1,928,220 
Expected Credit Losses -  -  (1,706,536)     (1,706,536)  
Carrying amount (B) -  -  221,684  221,684  
Total carrying amount (A+B) 60,811,578  6,008,171  615,500  67,435,249 
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 36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Expected Credit Losses (continued) 

(ii) Loans and Advances to Customers  (continued) 

31 December 2020    
 Collectively assessed Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
  Grade: Standard  47,331,387   8,021,773    2,926   55,356,086 
Of which Moratoria 9,549,987  4,211,058   -  13,761,045 
  Grade: Special  514,310    2,385,083    901    2,900,294  
Of which Moratoria 50,175  759,368   -  809,543 
  Grade: Substandard  -     -     415,266    415,266  
Of which Moratoria -  -  199,576   199,576 
  Grade: Doubtful  -     -     278,739    278,739  
Of which Moratoria -  -  13,121    13,121   
  Grade: Loss  -     -     823,733    823,733  
Of which Moratoria -  -  2,342  2,342 
  Gross amount  47,845,697   10,406,856   1,521,565    59,774,118 
Of which Moratoria 9,600,162  4,970,426   215,039  14,785,627 
Expected Credit Losses  (613,699)  (1,139,801)   (1,188,093)   (2,941,593) 
Of which Moratoria (121,155)  (515,765)  (124,937)  (761,857) 
Carrying amount (A)  47,231,998   9,267,055  333,472    56,832,525 
        
Individually assessed Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
  Grade: Standard -  -   95,394    95,394  
Of which Moratoria     33,519  33,519 
  Grade: Special -  -   -    -  
Of which Moratoria        
  Grade: Substandard -  -  574,229   574,229   
Of which Moratoria     118,132   118,132  
  Grade: Doubtful -  -   -    -  
Of which Moratoria        
  Grade: Loss -  -  1,345,960   1,345,960 
Of which Moratoria      -   - 
Gross amount -  -   2,015,583   2,015,583 
Of which Moratoria     151,651   151,651  
Expected Credit Losses -  -  (1,556,864)    (1,556,864)  
Carrying amount (B) -  -  458,7189  458,719  
Total carrying amount (A+B) 47,231,998  9,267,055  792,1901  57,291,244 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Expected Credit Losses (continued)  

(ii) Loans and Advances to Customers (continued) 

An analysis of stage 1, 2 and 3 is presented below. The table shows loans and advanced to customers less than 
90 dpd and loans greater than 90 dpd by, thus presenting the loans classified as stage 1,2 and 3 due to ageing 
and those identified at an earlier stage due to other criteria. 

 

(iii) Financial Leasing  
        31 December 2021 

 Collectively assessed Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Grand Total 
        
  Grade: Standard 1,031,952  82,450  -  1,114,402 
  Grade: Special -  128,273  -  128,273 
  Grade: Substandard 1,168  -  4,341  5,509 
  Grade: Doubtful -  -  796  796 
  Grade: Loss -  -  24,077  24,077 
Gross amount 1,033,120  210,723  29,213  1,273,056 
Expected Credit Losses (14,303)  (19,238)  (24,155)  (57,696) 
Carrying amount (A) 1,018,817  191,485  5,058  1,215,360 
        
Individually assessed Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Grand Total 
        
  Grade: Standard -  -  -  - 
  Grade: Special -  -  -  - 
  Grade: Substandard -  -  -  - 
  Grade: Doubtful -  -  77,996  77,996 
  Grade: Loss -  -  6,055  6,055 
Gross amount -  -  84,051  84,051 
Expected Credit Losses -  -  (75,856)  (75,856) 
Carrying amount (B) -  -  8,195  8,195 
Total carrying amount (A+B) 1,018,817  191,485  13,253  1,223,555 

31 December 2021 Stage 1  Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
        
  Current (0 dpd)  51,303,212    5,429,723    697,165    57,430,100  
  Up to 30 days   10,273,287    1,177,207    283,882    11,734,376  
  30 days to 90 days   -     175,736    541,814    717,550  
  More than 90 days  -     11,040    2,146,081    2,157,121  
Gross amount    61,576,499     6,793,706    3,668,942    72,039,147 
Expected Credit Losses  (764,921)   (785,535)  (3,053,444)    (4,603,900) 
Total carrying amount    60,811,578  6,008,171   615,498   67,435,247 

31 December 2020 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Grand Total 
        
  Current (0 dpd) 42,246,805  7,066,482  195,386  49,508,673 
  Up to 30 days  4,789,977  2,804,034  94,791  7,688,803 
  30 days to 90 days  808,915  536,340  437,713  1,782,968 
  More than 90 days -  -  2,809,257  2,809,257 
Gross amount 47,845,697  10,406,856  3,537,147  61,789,701 
Expected Credit Losses (613,699)  (1,139,801)  (2,744,957)  (4,498,457) 
Total carrying amount  47,231,998  9,267,055  792,190  57,291,244 
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36.      Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Financial Leasing (continued) 
       31 December 2020 

 Collectively assessed Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
        
  Grade: Standard  806,142    97,020    -     903,162  
Of which Moratoria 115,659  -  -  115,659 
  Grade: Special  19,675    258,691    -     278,362  
Of which Moratoria -  51,151  -  51,151 
  Grade: Substandard  -     -     25,251    25,251  
Of which Moratoria -  -  22,167  22,167 
  Grade: Doubtful  -     -     4,909    4,909  
  Grade: Loss  -     -     24,180    24,180  
Gross amount  825,817    355,711    54,340    1,235,868  
Of which Moratoria 115,659  103,075   22,167  240,901 
Expected Credit Losses  (11,651)   (35,243)   (45,193)   (92,087) 
Of which Moratoria (1,801)  (9,065)  (19,584)  (30,450) 
Carrying amount (A)  814,166    320,468    9,147    1,143,778  
        
Individually assessed Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
        
  Grade: Standard -  -  -  - 
  Grade: Special -  -  -  - 
  Grade: Substandard -  -  -  - 
  Grade: Doubtful -  -   89,997    89,997  
Of which Moratoria -  -  89,997  89,997 
  Grade: Loss -  -   11,610    11,610  
Gross amount -  -   101,607    101,607  
Expected Credit Losses -  -   (82,960)   (82,960) 
Of which Moratoria -  -  (76,408)  (76,408) 
Carrying amount (B) -  -   18,647    18,647  
Total carrying amount (A+B) 814,166  320,468  27,794  1,162,428 

 
 

31 December 2021 Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
  Current  922,045    140,144    5,165    1,067,354  
  Up to 30 days   111,075    46,673    1,284    159,032  
  30 days to 90 days   -     23,906    -     23,906  
  More than 90 days  -     -     106,815    106,815  
Gross amount 1,033,120    210,723   113,264  1,357,107 
Expected Credit Losses   (14,303)  (19,238)    (100,012)    (133,553) 
Total carrying amount   1,018,817    191,485   13,252   1,223,554 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

(iii) Financial Leasing Net (continued) 

 
31 December 2020 Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Grand Total 
  Current  777,993    160,606    179   938,778 
  Up to 30 days   40,586    185,390    846   226,822 
  30 days to 90 days   7,238    9,715    27,730   44,683 
  More than 90 days  -    -    127,192   127,192 
Gross amount  825,817    355,711    155,947   1,337,475 
Expected Credit Losses  (11,651)   (35,243)   (128,153)  (175,047) 
Total carrying amount   814,166    320,468    27,794   1,162,428 

 
Analysis of gross loans and advances to customers by risk grade 

Analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of individually impaired loans and 
advances to customers by risk grade are presented as follows: 
 
 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

Gross  Net  Gross  Net 
Individually impaired        
  Grade:  Standard 175,680   43,864    95,394    53,876  
  Grade: Special 371,713   67,871   -  - 
  Grade: Substandard 92,391   32,393    574,229    282,084  
  Grade: Doubtful 1,288,436   77,556    -     -   
  Grade: Loss 175,680   43,864    1,345,960   149,959 
Total  1,928,220   221,684  2,015,583  485,919 

 
Analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of individually impaired finance leases by 
risk grade are presented as follows: 
 
 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

Gross  Net  Gross  Net 
Individually impaired        
  Grade:  Standard  -     -    -  - 
  Grade: Substandard  -     -    -  - 
  Grade: Doubtful  77,996    6,279    89,997    13,589  
  Grade: Loss  6,055    1,916    11,610    5,058  
Total  84,051    8,195    101,607    18,647  
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 36.  Financial risk m
anagem

ent (continued) 
  (b) 

C
redit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
(iv)      A

nalysis of stage 3 loans 
 A

n analysis of stage 3 loans is presented below
. The table show

s loans less than 90 dpd and loans greater than 90 dpd by portfolio and by stage, thus presenting the loans classified as stage 3 due to 
ageing and those identified at an earlier stage due to other criteria. Stage 3 exposures are further analysed to indicate those w

hich are no longer credit im
paired but in cure period that precedes a 

transfer back to stage 2. A
nalysis of stage 3 loans is presented below

 as at 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 and 31 D
ecem

ber 2020. 
 

31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
C

orporate lending 
Sm

all business lending 
C

onsum
er lending 

R
esidential m

ortgage 
T

otal 

 
G

ross 
carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L

 
C

overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L 

C
overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L

 
C

overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L

 
C

overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L 

C
overage 

L
ess than 90 days 

907,871 
840,867 

93%
 

201,559 
114,112 

57%
 

66,166 
32,650 

49%
 

347,265 
237,202 

68%
 

1,522,861 
1,224,831 

80%
 

M
ore than 90 days 

1,102,142 
1,005,027 

91%
 

285,816 
245,795 

86%
 

313,451 
203,591 

65%
 

444,672 
374,199 

84%
 

2,146,081 
1,828,612 

85%
 

T
otal  

2,010,013 
1,845,894 

92%
 

487,375 
359,907 

74%
 

379,617 
236,241 

62%
 

791,937 
611,401 

77%
 

3,668,942 
3,053,443 

83%
 

-N
o longer im

paired 
but in cure period 

- 
- 

- 
5,755 

3,366 
58%

 
28,002 

13,814 
49%

 
33,447 

22,894 
68%

 
67,204 

40,074 
60%

 
-O

ther 
2,010,013 

1,845,894 
92%

 
481,620 

356,541 
74%

 
351,615 

222,427 
63%

 
758,490 

588,507 
78%

 
3,601,738 

3,013,369 
84%

 
   

31 D
ecem

ber 2020 
C

orporate lending 
Sm

all business lending 
C

onsum
er lending 

R
esidential m

ortgage 
T

otal 

 
G

ross 
carrying 
am

ount 
EC

L
 

C
overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
EC

L
 

C
overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
EC

L 
C

overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L

 
C

overage 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
E

C
L

 
C

overage 
L

ess than 90 dpd 
490,789 

260,821 
53%

 
61,240 

36,772 
60%

 
32,908 

21,123 
64%

 
142,955 

104,930 
73%

 
727,892 

423,646 
58%

 
M

ore than 90 dpd 
1,660,805 

1,434,927 
86%

 
352,825 

280,409 
79%

 
266,879 

190,884 
72%

 
528,747 

415,093 
79%

 
2,809,256 

2,321,313 
83%

 
T

otal  
2,151,594 

1,695,748 
79%

 
414,065 

317,181 
77%

 
299,787 

212,007 
71%

 
671,702 

520,023 
77%

 
3,537,148 

2,744,959 
78%

 
-N

o longer im
paired but 

in cure period 
- 

- 
- 

11,001 
8,740 

79%
 

12,690 
8,077 

64%
 

36,392 
25,950 

71%
 

60,083 
42,767 

71%
 

-O
ther 

2,151,594 
1,695,748 

79%
 

403,064 
308,441 

77%
 

287,097 
203,930 

71%
 

635,310 
494,073 

78%
 

3,477,065 
2,702,192 

78%
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36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 
Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
(v) Loans and advanced to custom

ers 
An analysis of risk concentration in gross carrying am

ounts and corresponding ECL in the loans portfolio by type of lending, industry and geographical location is presented below.  
31 D

ecem
ber 2021 

G
ross C

arrying am
ount 

A
llow

ance for E
C

L 
E

C
L

 C
overage 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Stage 1 

Stage 2 
Stage 3 

PO
C

I 
T

otal 
Stage 1 

Stage 2 
Stage 3 

PO
C

I 
T

otal 
Stage 1 

Stage 2 
Stage 3 

PO
C

I 
T

otal 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Individuals 

19,811,897 
1,051,839 

1,171,555 
- 

22,035,291 
106,840 

83,263 
847,642 

- 
1,037,745 

0.54%
 

7.92%
 

72.35%
 

- 
4.71%

 
Trade 

13,565,331 
608,647 

355,146 
- 

14,529,124 
213,321 

54,852 
292,653 

- 
560,826 

1.57%
 

9.01%
 

82.40%
 

- 
3.86%

 
M

anufacturing 
13,613,586 

1,612,604 
1,579,953 

- 
16,806,143 

218,645 
297,739 

1,485,814 
- 

2,002,198 
1.61%

 
18.46%

 
94.04%

 
- 

11.91%
 

C
onstruction 

5,588,295 
8,032 

50,937 
- 

5,647,264 
91,951 

448 
50,884 

- 
143,283 

1.65%
 

5.58%
 

99.90%
 

- 
2.54%

 
Services 

5,874,163 
3,385,375 

435,649 
- 

9,695,187 
87,398 

340,333 
317,994 

- 
745,725 

1.49%
 

10.05%
 

72.99%
 

- 
7.69%

 
O

thers 
3,123,227 

127,208 
75,703 

- 
3,326,138 

46,766 
8,900 

58,457 
- 

114,123 
1.50%

 
7.00%

 
77.22%

 
- 

3.43%
 

T
otal 

61,576,499 
6,793,705 

3,668,943 
- 

72,039,147 
764,921 

785,535 
3,053,444 

- 
4,603,900 

1.24%
 

11.56%
 

83.22%
 

- 
6.39%

 
Financial Lease 

1,033,120 
210,723 

113,264 
- 

1,357,107 
14,303 

19,238 
100,012 

- 
133,553 

1.38%
 

9.13%
 

88.30%
 

- 
9.84%

 
T

otal 
62,609,619 

10,762,566 
3,782,207 

- 
73,396,254 

779,224 
804,773 

3,153,456 
- 

4,737,453 
1.24%

 
11.49%

 
83.38%

 
- 

6.45%
 

Per R
egion 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A

lbania 
62,609,619 

7,004,428 
3,782,207 

- 
73,396,254 

779,224 
804,773 

3,153,456 
- 

4,737,453 
1.24%

 
11.49%

 
83.38%

 
- 

6.45%
 

 
 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 

G
ross C

arrying am
ount  

A
llow

ance for E
C

L  
E

C
L C

overage  
 

 
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

Stage 1 
Stage 2 

Stage 3 
PO

C
I 

T
otal 

Stage 1 
Stage 2 

Stage 3 
PO

C
I 

T
otal 

Stage 1 
Stage 2 

Stage 3 
PO

C
I 

T
otal 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Individuals 
14,950,909 

2,880,982 
971,489 

- 
18,803,380 

76,133 
278,002 

732,029 
- 

1,086,164 
0.51%

 
9.65%

 
75.35%

 
- 

5.78%
 

Trade 
12,779,552 

785,504 
401,838 

- 
13,966,894 

213,771 
69,719 

311,198 
- 

594,688 
1.67%

 
8.88%

 
77.44%

 
- 

4.26%
 

M
anufacturing 

10,663,130 
1,963,962 

1,615,992 
- 

14,243,084 
179,756 

310,390 
1,318,892 

- 
1,809,038 

1.69%
 

15.80%
 

81.62%
 

- 
12.70%

 
C

onstruction 
4,435,247 

47,381 
84,016 

- 
4,566,644 

72,150 
3,591 

80,731 
- 

156,472 
1.63%

 
7.58%

 
96.09%

 
- 

3.43%
 

Services 
1,917,987 

4,520,829 
403,334 

- 
6,842,150 

26,296 
460,328 

256,848 
- 

743,472 
1.37%

 
10.18%

 
63.68%

 
- 

10.87%
 

O
thers 

3,098,872 
208,198 

60,478 
- 

3,367,548 
45,593 

17,771 
45,259 

- 
108,623 

1.47%
 

8.54%
 

74.84%
 

- 
3.23%

 
T

otal 
47,845,697 

10,406,856 
3,537,147 

- 
61,789,700 

613,699 
1,139,801 

2,744,957 
- 

4,498,457 
1.28%

 
10.95%

 
77.60%

 
- 

7.28%
 

Financial Lease  
825,812 

355,710 
155,947 

- 
1,337,469 

11,651 
35,243 

128,152 
- 

175,046 
1.41%

 
9.91%

 
82.18%

 
- 

13.09%
 

T
otal  

48,671,509 
10,762,566 

3,693,094 
- 

63,127,169 
625,350 

1,175,044 
2,873,109 

- 
4,673,503 

1.28%
 

10.92%
 

77.80%
 

- 
7.40%

 
Per R

egion  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
lbania  

48,671,509 
10,762,566 

3,693,094 
- 

63,127,169 
625,350 

1,175,044 
2,873,109 

- 
4,673,503 

1.28%
 

10.92%
 

77.80%
 

- 
7.40%

 
The category others com

prise m
ainly on loans and finance lease granted to individuals and entities operating in other econom

ic sectors such as real estate, 
education, health and social services etc 
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36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
(vi) O

verview
 of m

odified and forborne loans and advanced to custom
ers 

The follow
ing tables provide a sum

m
ary of the Bank’s forborne assets as of 31 D

ecem
ber 2021. A

ccounting policies of forbearance are described in note 3 j) (ix) 
 31 D

ecem
ber 2021    

 
Perform

ing portfolio 
 

N
on-perform

ing portfolio 
 

 

 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
R

efinancing  

Total 
perform

ing 
forborne loans  

 
R

efinancing 

Total non-
perform

ing 
forborne loans  

Total 
forborne 

loans  
 

Forbearance 
ratio  

L
oans and advanced to custom

ers 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

orporate lending 
40,592,170 

1,948,231 
1,948,231 

 
998,875 

998,875 
2,947,106 

 
7.26%

 
Sm

all Business lending  
9,411,686 

427,520 
427,520 

 
204,267 

204,267 
631,787 

 
6.71%

 
C

onsum
er lending 

4,406,848 
6,228 

6,228 
 

6,948 
6,948 

13,176 
 

0.30%
 

R
esidential m

ortgages 
17,628,443 

92,622 
92,622 

 
223,542 

223,542 
316,164 

 
1.79%

 
T

otal 
72,039,147 

2,474,601 
2,474,601 

 
1,433,632 

1,433,632 
3,908,233 

 
16.07%

 
Financial Lease  

1,357,107 
4,819 

4,819 
 

- 
- 

4,819 
 

0.36%
 

T
otal  

73,396,254 
2,479,420 

2,479,420 
 

1,433,632 
1,433,632 

3,913,052 
 

5.33%
 

  31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
G

ross am
ount of forborne loans 

 
EC

L
 allow

ance 
  

Stage 2 
Stage3 

T
otal 

 
Stage 2 

Stage3 
T

otal 
L

oans and advanced to custom
ers 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

orporate lending 
1,948,231 

998,875 
2,947,106 

 
380,674 

867,875 
1,248,549 

Sm
all B

usiness lending  
427,520 

204,267 
631,787 

 
70,267 

137,332 
207,599 

C
onsum

er lending 
6,228 

6,948 
13,176 

 
636 

3,370 
4,006 

R
esidential m

ortgages 
92,622 

223,542 
316,164 

 
11,281 

152,917 
164,198 

T
otal gross am

ount 
2,474,601 

1,433,632 
3,908,233 

 
462,858 

1,161,494 
1,624,352 

Financial Lease 
4,819 

- 
4,819 

 
369 

- 
369 

T
otal  

2,479,420 
1,433,632 

3,913,052 
 

463,227 
1,161,494 

1,624,721 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
There are no tem

porary and perm
anent m

odification during 2021 and 2020. 
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36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
(vi) O

verview
 of m

odified and forborne loans and advanced to custom
ers (continued) 

 
31 D

ecem
ber 2020   

 
Perform

ing portfolio 
N

on-perform
ing portfolio  

 
 

 

G
ross 

carrying 
am

ount 
R

efinancing  

Total 
perform

ing 
forborne loans  

R
efinancing  

Total non-
perform

ing 
forborne loans  

T
otal 

forborne 
loans  

Forbearance 
ratio  

L
oans and advanced to custom

ers 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

orporate lending 
32,886,527 

2,105,570 
2,105,570 

627,675 
627,675 

2,733,245 
8.31%

 
Sm

all Business lending  
10,099,793 

704,960 
704,960 

109,419 
109,419 

814,379 
8.06%

 
C

onsum
er lending 

3,862,758 
4,223 

4,223 
1,960 

1,960 
6,183 

0.16%
 

R
esidential m

ortgages 
14,940,621 

144,361 
144,361 

108,891 
108,891 

253,252 
1.70%

 
T

otal 
61,789,699 

2,959,114 
2,959,114 

847,945 
847,945 

3807059 
6.16%

 
Financial Lease  

1,337,470 
36,018 

36,018 
- 

- 
36,018 

2.69%
 

T
otal  

63,127,169 
2,995,132 

2,995,132 
847,945 

847,945 
3,843,077 

6.09%
 

  31 D
ecem

ber 2020 
G

ross am
ount of forborne loans 

 
EC

L
 allow

ance 
  

Stage 2 
Stage3   

Total 
 

Stage 2 
Stage3 

Total 
L

oans and advanced to custom
ers 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
orporate lending 

2,105,570 
627,675 

2,733,245 
 

369,019 
403,164 

772,183 
Sm

all Business lending 
704,960 

109,419 
814,379 

 
89,766 

89,211 
178,977 

C
onsum

er lending 
4,223 

1,960 
6,183 

 
580 

1,242 
1,822 

R
esidential m

ortgages 
144,361 

108,891 
253,252 

 
20,646 

82,495 
103,141 

T
otal gross am

ount 
2,959,114 

847,945 
3,807,059 

 
480,011 

576,112 
1,056,123 

Financial Lease 
36,018 

- 
36,018 

 
3,030.00 

- 
3,030.00 

T
otal 

2,995,132 
847,945 

3,843,077 
 

483,041 
576,112 

1,059,153 
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  36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 
Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
(vii) Sum

m
ary C

redit R
isk 

The table below
 provides a break dow

n by stage, of loans and advances to custom
ers, debt instrum

ents subject to ECL im
pairm

ent and off-balance sheet 
exposures including loan com

m
itm

ents, financial guarantees and letters of credit: 

31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
 

L
oans and advanced to custom

ers 
 

 
 

N
otion am

ount 
  

C
orporate 

lending 

Sm
all 

business 
lending 

C
onsum

er 
lending 

R
esidential 
m

ortgage 
Total 

Finance 
Lease 

C
ontracts 

D
ebt 

instrum
ents 

at FV
O

C
I 

L
oans and 

advances to 
banks 

Financial 
guarantees 
and letters 

of credit 
U

ndraw
n  

com
m

itm
ents 

Stage 1 
35,665,389 

6,099,213 
3,679,885 

16,132,012 
61,576,499 

1,033,120 
25,111,835 

1,439,172 
12,857,272 

6,625,211 
Stage 2 

2,916,768 
2,825,098 

347,346 
704,493 

6,793,705 
210,723 

- 
- 

62,076 
82,306 

Stage 3 
2,010,013 

487,375 
379,617 

791,938 
3,668,943 

113,264 
- 

- 
14,484 

19,819 
PO

C
I 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
 

- 
- 

- 
- 

T
otal  

40,592,170 
9,411,686 

4,406,848 
17,628,443 

72,039,147 
1,357,107 

25,111,835 
1,439,172 

12,933,832 
6,727,336 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
E

C
L  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Stage 1 
598,056 

60,024 
20,643 

86,197 
764,920 

14,303 
204,928 

61,346 
109,555 

73,482 
Stage 2 

485,084 
217,188 

21,089 
62,174 

785,535 
19,238 

- 
- 

3,417 
6,595 

Stage 3 
1,845,894 

359,907 
236,241 

611,401 
3,053,443 

100,012 
- 

- 
9,690 

12,047 
PO

C
I 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

T
otal  

2,929,034 
637,119 

277,973 
759,772 

4,603,898 
133,553 

204,928 
61,346 

122,662 
92,124 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

overage ratio 
Stage 1 

1.68%
 

0.98%
 

0.56%
 

0.53%
 

1.24%
 

1.38%
 

0.82%
 

4.26%
 

0.85%
 

1.11%
 

Stage 2 
16.63%

 
7.69%

 
6.07%

 
8.83%

 
11.56%

 
9.13%

 
- 

- 
5.50%

 
8.01%

 
Stage 3 

91.83%
 

73.85%
 

62.23%
 

77.20%
 

83.22%
 

88.30%
 

- 
- 

66.90%
 

60.79%
 

PO
C

I 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
 

 
T

otal  
7.22%

 
6.77%

 
6.31%

 
4.31%

 
6.39%

 
9.84%

 
0.82%

 
4.26%

 
0.95%

 
1.37%
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  36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(b) 
C

redit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

(vii) Sum
m

ary C
redit R

isk 

The table below
 provides a break dow

n by stage, of loans and advances to custom
ers, debt instrum

ents subject to ECL im
pairm

ent and off-balance sheet 
exposures including loan com

m
itm

ents, financial guarantees and letters of credit: 

31 D
ecem

ber 2020 
 

L
oans and advanced to custom

ers 
 

 
 

N
otion am

ount 

 
C

orporate 
lending 

Sm
all 

business 
lending 

C
onsum

er 
lending 

R
esidentia

l m
ortgage 

Total 

Finance 
L

ease 
C

ontracts 

D
ebt 

instrum
ents 

at FV
O

C
I 

L
oans and 
advances 
to banks 

Financial 
guarantees 
and letters 

of credit 
U

ndraw
n  

com
m

itm
ents  

Stage 1 
27,892,597 

5,002,192 
2,748,261 

12,202,648 
47,845,698 

825,813 
21,779,703 

1,608,154 
12,533,424 

2,792,378 
Stage 2 

2,842,337 
4,683,537 

814,710 
2,066,272 

10,406,856 
355,710 

- 
- 

87,210 
258,760 

Stage 3 
2,151,594 

414,065 
299,787 

671,701 
3,537,147 

155,947 
- 

- 
34,332 

7,821 
PO

C
I 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

T
otal 

32,886,528 
10,099,794 

3,862,758 
14,940,621 

61,789,701 
1,337,470 

21,779,703 
1,608,154 

12,654,966 
3,058,959 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
E

C
L

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Stage 1 

501,918 
35,648 

16,492 
59,642 

613,700 
11,651 

296,180 
49,893 

114,885 
30,047 

Stage 2 
455,702 

406,097 
78,464 

199,538 
1,139,801 

35,243 
- 

- 
4,177 

18,226 
Stage 3 

1,695,748 
317,181 

212,006 
520,023 

2,744,958 
128,152 

- 
- 

12,343 
3,341 

PO
C

I 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
T

otal 
2,653,368 

758,926 
306,962 

779,203 
4,498,459 

175,046 
296,180 

49,893 
131,405 

51,614 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
overage ratio 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Stage 1 
1.80%

 
0.71%

 
0.60%

 
0.49%

 
1.28%

 
1.41%

 
1.36%

 
3.10%

 
0.92%

 
1.08%

 
Stage 2 

16.03%
 

8.67%
 

9.63%
 

9.66%
 

10.95%
 

9.91%
 

- 
- 

4.79%
 

7.04%
 

Stage 3 
78.81%

 
76.60%

 
70.72%

 
77.42%

 
77.60%

 
82.18%

 
- 

- 
35.95%

 
42.72%

 
PO

C
I 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

T
otal 

8.07%
 

7.51%
 

7.95%
 

5.22%
 

7.28%
 

13.09%
 

1.36%
 

3.10%
 

1.04%
 

1.69%
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

(viii)  Credit quality for other financial assets exposure to credit risk  
Concentration by location for balances with banks and financial institutions is measured based on the location 
of the Bank entity holding the asset, which has a high correlation with the location of the borrower. Concentration 
by location for investment securities is measured based on the location of the issuer of the security. The cash and 
balances with banks are held with the Central Bank of Albania which is rated B+ (2020: B+) and banks and 
financial institutions that based on Standard & Poor’s ratings were rated as follows: 
 
Loans and advances to banks 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

Rated A to BBB+ -  - 
Rated BBB to B- 1,439,172  1,608,154 
Not rated -  - 

Total carrying amount 1,439,172  1,608,154 
Investment securities at FVOCI 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 

Rated A to BBB+ -  - 
Rated BBB to B- 25,111,835  21,779,703 
Not rated -  - 

Total carrying amount 25,111,835  21,779,703 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Settlement risk 

The Bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is 
the risk of loss due to the failure of a company to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets 
as contractually agreed. 

For certain types of transactions, the Bank mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement / 
clearing agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement 
obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit approval / limit monitoring process described earlier. 
Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades requires transaction specific or counterparty specific 
approvals from Bank Risk Department. 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank does not have sufficient liquid financial resources to meet  
obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

Management of liquidity risk 

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. Liquidity policies and procedures are subject of 
approval and review by Board of Directors. Certain decisions may be delegated to ALCO. 

The Bank’s liquidity management process includes: 
 Day-to-day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. These 

include replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. 
 Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements; and 
 Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 

The responsibility for the management of daily liquidity position remains with the Treasury Department. Daily 
reports cover the projected estimated cash flows for the next day, week, and month, which are considered as key 
liquidity management periods. The starting point for those projections is the analysis of the contractual maturity 
of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date for the financial assets.  
The Management of short- and medium-term liquidity is a responsibility of ALCO. ALCO analyses on a monthly 
basis the liquidity position of the Bank and approves any actions deemed as necessary.  
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36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

 (c) 
L

iquidity risk (continued) 

E
xposure to liquidity risk 

 M
aturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities 

 The table below
 show

s the contractual expiry by m
aturity of the Bank’s contingent liabilities and com

m
itm

ents. Each undraw
n loan com

m
itm

ent is included in the 
tim

e band containing the earliest date it can be draw
n dow

n. For issued financial guarantee contracts, the m
axim

um
 am

ount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest 
period in w

hich the guarantee could be called.   
 

 
31 D

ecem
ber 2021 

C
arrying 

am
ount   

 G
ross nom

inal outflow
  

  
U

p to 1 
m

onth 
1 to 3 

m
onths 

3 to 6  
m

onths  
6 to 12 
m

onths 
1 to 5 years  

O
ver 5 years 

U
n-draw

n credit com
m

itm
ents 

 6,727,336  
 (160,102) 

 (1,929,628) 
 (602,310) 

 (2,511,514) 
 (791,603) 

 (732,179) 
Letters of credit 

 487,692  
 (35,264) 

 (62,874) 
 (389,554) 

- 
- 

- 
G

uarantees in favor of custom
ers 

 12,446,140  
 (1,129,980) 

 (1,246,984) 
 (1,752,110) 

 (4,755,284) 
 (3,561,782) 

 -   
  

 19,661,168  
 (1,325,346) 

 (3,239,486) 
 (2,743,974) 

 (7,266,798) 
 (4,353,385) 

 (732,179) 
  

31 D
ecem

ber 2020  
C

arrying 
am

ount   

 G
ross nom

inal outflow
  

  
U

p to 1 
m

onth 
1 to 3 

m
onths 

3 to 6  
m

onths  
6 to 12 
m

onths 
1 to 5 years  

O
ver 5 

years 
U

n-draw
n credit com

m
itm

ents 
 3,128,047  

 (332,901) 
 (95,623) 

 (288,577) 
 (1,685,972) 

 (465,046) 
 (259,928) 

Letters of credit 
 1,148,938  

 (218,719) 
 (930,219) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

G
uarantees in favor of custom

ers 
 11,506,027  

 (472,409) 
 (1,677,020) 

 (1,738,945) 
 (3,009,677) 

 (4,607,976) 
 -   

  
  15,783,012 

  (1,024,029) 
  (2,702,862) 

 (2,027,522) 
(4,695,649) 

  (5,073,022) 
 (259,928) 

 The B
ank expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or com

m
itm

ents w
ill be draw

n before expiry of the com
m

itm
ents.
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 
 
The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of highly liquid assets to short term 
liabilities, and the cumulative gap up to 3- months over total assets. For this purpose the highly liquid assets are 
considered as including cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at FVOCI portfolio. The Liquidity ratios 
defined by the Bank are in compliance with Central Bank requirements imposed by the Regulation ‘On Liquidity 
Risk Management”.  
 
Funds are raised using a range of instruments including deposits, other liabilities evidenced by paper, and share 
capital. This enhances funding flexibility, limits dependence on any one source of funds and generally lowers 
the cost of funds. The Bank makes its best efforts to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of liabilities with a range of maturity. The Bank continually assesses liquidity risk by 
identifying and monitoring changes in funding required to meet business goals and targets set in terms of the 
overall Bank strategy. 
 
The following tables show the discounted cash flows from the Bank’s assets and liabilities on the basis of their 
earliest possible remaining periods to repayment.  
 
The Bank’s expected cash flows may vary significantly from this analysis. For example, demand deposits from 
customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balance. 
 
In addition, the Bank holds a portfolio of liquid assets as part of its liquidity risk management strategy. 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(c) 
L

iquidity risk (continued) 

Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 
 The Bank’s exposure at the rem

aining undiscounted contractual cash flow
s of the financial assets and liabilities as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 is as follow

s: 
  

 
U

p to 1  
m

onth 
1 to 3  

m
onths 

3 to 6  
m

onths 
6 to 12  

m
onths 

1 to 5  
years 

O
ver 5 years 

Total 
Financial A

ssets 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  9,382,469 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 9,382,469  
Restricted balances w

ith Central Bank 
 

 4,298,789  
 557,539  

 526,660  
 1,947,263  

 587,317  
 90,151  

 8,007,719  
Loans and advances financial institutions 

 
 884  

 1,211,255  
 165,687  

 
 

 
 1,377,826  

Investm
ent in debt securities at FV

O
CI 

 
 -   

 1,456,614  
 867,414  

 624,286  
 13,821,242  

 8,342,279  
 25,111,835  

Loans and advances to custom
ers, net  

 
 1,388,979  

 5,562,070  
 3,498,168  

 5,106,703  
 36,937,208  

 14,942,119  
 67,435,247  

Finance Lease receivables 
 

 48,866  
 81,874  

 112,836  
 221,718  

 758,263  
 -   

 1,223,557  
O

ther assets  
 

20,725 
- 

- 
367,380 

- 
- 

388,105 
Total financial assets 

 
15,140,712 

  8,869,352 
  5,170,765 

  8,267,350 
   52,104,030 

   23,374,549 
    112,926,758 

 Financial Liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D

ue to financial institutions 
 

 5,709,970  
 6,180,217  

 4,487,855  
 856,387  

 194,329  
 -   

 17,428,758  
D

ue to custom
ers 

 
 41,900,647  

 6,030,825  
 5,585,368  

 18,465,136  
 8,769,997  

 1,625,600  
 82,377,573  

Lease liability 
 

246 
237 

2,213 
44,247 

297,423 
251,878 

596,244 
O

ther liabilities 
 

24,725 
2,101,142 

- 
230,872 

- 
- 

2,356,739 
T

otal financial liabilities 
 

 47,635,588 
 14,312,421 

 10,075,436 
 19,596,642 

 9,261,749 
 1,877,478 

 102,759,314 
L

iquidity G
A

P 
 

 (32,494,876) 
 (5,443,069) 

(4,904,671) 
 (11,329,292) 

  42,842,281 
  21,497,071 

 10,167,444 
C

um
ulative 

 
  (32,494,876) 

  (37,937,945) 
(42,842,616) 

  (54,171,908) 
  (11,329,627) 

    10,167,444 
 - 

 M
anagem

ent believes that in spite of a substantial portion of custom
er accounts being on dem

and, diversification of these deposits by num
ber and type of 

depositors, and the past experience of the B
ank w

ould indicate that these custom
er accounts provide a long-term

 and stable source of funding for the B
ank.  
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(c) 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

The Bank’s exposure to the liquidity risk of financial assets and liabilities by contractual m
aturities as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 is presented as follow

s: 

 
 

U
p to 1  

m
onth 

1 to 3  
m

onths 
3 to 6  

m
onths 

6 to 12  
m

onths 
1 to 5  
years 

O
ver 5 years 

Total 
Financial A

ssets 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 5,535,926  
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 5,535,926  
Restricted balances w

ith Central Bank 
 

 3,753,388  
 557,371  

 556,310  
 1,759,534  

 550,802  
57,690   

 7,235,095  
Loans and advances financial institutions 

 
 -  

 -   
 293,406   

 1,264,855   
 -   

 -   
 1,558,261  

Investm
ent in debt securities at FV

O
CI 

 
 -   

 1,028,893  
 -   

 517,650  
 20,233,160  

 -   
 21,779,703  

Loans and advances to custom
ers, net  

 
 1,988,483  

 5,912,924  
 3,968,155  

 12,483,224  
  22,244,700   

  10,693,758 
   57,291,244 

Finance Lease receivables 
 

 102,269  
 79,250  

 3,746  
 7,082  

 970,081  
 -   

 1,162,422  
O

ther assets 
 

31,506 
- 

- 
423,598 

- 
- 

455,104 
Total financial assets 

 
11,411,572 

 7,578,438  
 4,821,617  

 16,455,943 
  43,998,743 

  10,751,448 
   95,017,755 

 Financial Liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D

ue to financial institutions 
 

 7,937,342  
 3,103,783  

 406,331  
 906,992  

 231,203  
 -   

 12,585,651  
D

ue to custom
ers 

 
 31,521,053  

 10,331,863  
 5,906,421  

 16,534,460  
 7,586,284  

1,010,020    
 72,890,101  

Lease liability 
 

372 
736 

2,040 
6,080 

415,963 
176,754 

601,945 
O

ther liabilities 
 

23,049 
410,890 

- 
190,341 

- 
- 

624,280 
T

otal financial liabilities 
 

 39,481,816 
 13,847,272 

 6,314,792 
 17,637,873 

 8,233,450 
1,186,774   

 86,701,977 
L

iquidity G
A

P 
 

 (28,070,244) 
(6,268,834) 

(1,493,175) 
(1,181,930) 

35,765,293 
9,564,674 

8,315,778 
C

um
ulative 

 
(28,070,244) 

(34,339,078) 
(35,832,253) 

(37,014,183) 
(1,248,890) 

8,315,784 
 - 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, foreign exchange rates and credit 
spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank’s income or the 
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 
The Bank’s risk management strategy for its Banking book is different for each of the following categories of  
market risk and is set out in the subsequent subsections of these financial statements, as follows: 
 
Management of market risks 
The Bank separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading portfolios 
include those positions arising from market-making transactions where the Bank acts as principal with clients 
or with the market, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis. The 
foreign exchange position is treated as part of the Bank’s trading portfolios for risk management purposes. 
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and commercial 
banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of risks arising from the Bank’s held-to-
maturity and available-for-sale investments. 
Overall authority for market risk is vested in Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO). ALCO 
is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies and regular follow up of their 
implementation. Market risk limits are ultimately approved by the Board. 
At an operational level, market risk is primarily managed by the Bank’s treasury department, which is 
responsible for ensuring that the Bank’s exposures are in compliance with market risk limits approved by the 
Board and to take adequate actions when necessary. 
 
Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios 
The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its 
financial position and cash flows. 
 
Exposure to foreign exchange risk 
The Bank is exposed to currency risk through transactions in foreign currencies. As the currency in which the 
Bank presents its financial statements is the Albanian Lek, the Bank’s financial statements are affected by 
movement in the exchange rates between the Albanian Lek and other currencies. Currency risk is the risk that 
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 In accordance with the Bank’s policy, positions are calculated from Finance Department and are monitored 
on a daily basis by Risk Department and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within 
established limits.  
The limits for net positions the Bank can hold in each main currency as well as the individual limit for any 
other currency are set out, as follows: 
In thousands of local currency   2021 2020 
EUR  562,500 562,500 
USD 437,500 437,500 
CAD 62,500 62,500 
CHF 62,500 62,500 
GBP 62,500 62,500 
XAU 6,250 6,250 

The currency sensitivity analysis below calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency 
rate against the Albanian Lek (all other variables being constant) on the income statement (due to the fair value 
of currency sensitive monetary assets and liabilities) and equity (no special equity or hedging instruments that 
affect the sensitivity of equity, so effect is the same as the sensitivity of profit and loss). A negative amount in 
the table reflects a potential net reduction in the income statement or equity, while a positive amount reflects a 
net potential increase. An equivalent decrease in each of the currencies below against the Albanian Lek would 
result in an equivalent but opposite impact. 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(d)     Market risk (continued) 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

 

 

 

  31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
 Increase/(Decrease) in 

basis points 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
Effect on 

equity 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
Effect on 

equity 
LEK +/(-) 100  (191,806)  191,806   (225,724)  225,724 
USD +/(-) 100  7,723   (7,723)  8,984   (8,984) 
EURO +/(-) 100  (69,325)  69,325   4,740   (4,740)  
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36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(d) 
M

arket risk (continued) 

The analysis of m
onetary positions as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 by currencies in w

hich they w
ere denom

inated is as follow
s: 

 
A

LL
  

EU
R

  
U

SD
  

O
ther  

T
otal 

A
ssets 

  
  

  
  

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

3,280,321 
5,068,405  

210,792 
822,950 

9,382,469
Restricted balances w

ith Bank of A
lbania 

2,224,546  
5,485,216  

297,957 
- 

8,007,719
Loans and advances to banks and financial institutions 

1,365,888  
11,938  

- 
- 

1,377,826
Investm

ent securities at FV
O

CI 
17,122,291  

7,989,544  
- 

- 
25,111,835

Loans and advances to custom
ers, net 

29,176,229  
35,537,788  

2,721,230 
 

67,435,247
Finance lease receivables 

98,122  
1,124,340  

1,095 
- 

1,223,557
O

ther assets 
354,330  

32,234  
1,501 

40 
388,105

Property and equipm
ent 

658,354  
-  

-- 
- 

658,354
Intangible assets 

211,504  
-  

-- 
- 

211,504
Right of use, net 

590,217  
-  

-- 
- 

590,217
Repossessed assets 

15,634  
-  

-- 
- 

15,634
Total A

ssets  
53,267,397  

55,217,231  
3,231,074  

822,950  
112,538,653

 
  

  
  

  
 

Liabilities 
  

  
  

  
 

D
ue to financial institutions 

570,586  
 15,919,808  

 938,354  
 10  

 17,428,758 
D

ue to custom
ers 

40,108,891  
 39,141,004  

 2,304,380  
 823,298  

 82,377,573 
O

ther liabilities 
1,013,090  

1,330,077  
11,360 

2,212 
2,356,739

Lease Liability 
95,220  

493,048  
7,976 

- 
596,244

D
eferred tax liability, net 

131,991  
-  

- 
- 

131,991 
O

ther provisions 
155,582  

53,116  
- 

10,296 
218,994

Total Liabilities 
40,679,477  

 55,060,812  
 3,242,734  

 823,308  
 99,806,331 

Total equity 
11,273,621  

18,547  
- 

- 
11,292,168

N
et position  

   12,587,920  
156,419  

(11,660)  
 (358)  

12,732,322 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(d) 
M

arket risk (continued) 

The analysis of m
onetary positions as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 by currencies in w

hich they w
ere denom

inated is as follow
s: 

 
 

A
LL  

EU
R

  
U

SD
  

O
ther  

Total 
A

ssets 
  

  
  

  
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 779,913  

 3,774,398   
 252,498   

 729,117   
 5,535,926  

Restricted balances w
ith Bank of A

lbania 
 1,969,542   

 4,939,654   
 325,899   

 -    
 7,235,095  

Loans and advances to banks and financial institutions 
 1,558,261   

 -    
 -    

 -    
 1,558,261  

Investm
ent securities at FV

O
CI 

 15,625,686   
 6,154,017   

 -    
 -    

 21,779,703  
Loans and advances to custom

ers, net 
  25,920,366  

   28,751,640  
 2,619,238   

 -    
   57,291,244 

Finance lease receivables 
 137,261   

 1,020,882   
 4,285   

 -    
 1,162,428  

O
ther assets 

408,247  
44,397  

2,460  
-  

455,104 
Property and equipm

ent 
636,292  

-  
-  

-  
636,292 

Intangible assets 
208,223  

-  
-  

-  
208,223 

Right of use, net 
581,385  

-  
-  

-  
581,385 

Repossessed assets 
37,122  

-  
-  

-  
37,122 

Total A
ssets 

  47,862,298  
   44,684,988  

3,204,380  
 729,117   

96,480,783 
 

  
  

  
  

 
Liabilities 

  
  

  
  

 
D

ue to financial institutions 
 1,925,729   

 9,811,448   
 848,452   

 22   
 12,585,651  

D
ue to custom

ers 
 34,475,521   

 35,308,470   
 2,376,578   

 729,532   
 72,890,101  

O
ther liabilities 

274,251  
341,765  

8,694  
(430)  

624,280 
Lease Liability 

75,151  
516,892  

9,902  
-  

601,945 
D

eferred tax liability, net 
139,533  

-  
-  

-  
139,533 

O
ther provisions 

119,662  
53,060  

10,296  
-  

183,018 
Total Liabilities 

 37,009,847  
 46,031,635  

 3,253,922  
 729,124  

 87,024,528 
Total equity 

9,437,708  
18,547  

-  
-  

9,456,255 
N

et position  
1,414,743  

(1,365,194)  
(49,542)  

 (7)  
- 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Market risk (continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios 
 
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future 
cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.  
 
The ALCO defines and reviews the interest rate pricing policy for financial assets and liabilities.  
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates (all other 
variables being constant) of the Bank’s income statement. The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect 
of the assumed changes in interest rates on the profit or loss for a year, based on the floating rate non–trading 
financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. The total sensitivity 
of equity is assumed to be the same to the sensitivity in profit and loss, and is based on the assumption that 
there are parallel shifts in the yield curve. 
 
The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest rate 
scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 100 basis point (bp) parallel fall 
or rise in all yield curves.  
 
An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in market interest rates (assuming no 
asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a constant statement of financial position) is as follows: 
 

31 December 2021 up to 1 Year  over 1 Year 
 scenarios  Scenarios 
 100 bp  100 bp  100 bp  100 bp 
 increase  decrease  increase  decrease 
Estimated Profit (loss) effect 139,358  (139,358)  68,277  (68,277) 

 
31 December 2020 up to 1 Year  over 1 Year 
 scenarios  Scenarios 
 100 bp  100 bp  100 bp  100 bp 
 increase   decrease  increase   decrease 
Estimated Profit (loss) effect 83,520  (83,520)  122,120  (122,120) 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(d) 
M

arket risk (continued) 

The average effective yields of significant categories of financial assets and liabilities of the B
ank as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 and 31 D

ecem
ber 2020 w

ere as follow
s: 

 
 

W
eighted average 

interest rate (Lek) 
 

W
eighted average 

interest rate (U
SD

) 
 

W
eighted average 

interest rate (EU
R

) 
31 D

ecem
ber  

2021 
 

2020 
 

2021 
 

2020 
 

2021 
 

2020 
A

ssets 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Restricted balances w
ith Bank of A

lbania 
0.50%

 
 

0.50%
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-0.50%

 
 

-0.50%
 

Loans to financial institutions 
0.47%

 
 

2.08%
 

 
- 

 
- 

 
-0.64%

 
 

0.00%
 

Investm
ent securities at FV

O
CI 

2.10%
 

 
5.35%

 
 

-   
 

-    
0.00%

 
 

2.13%
 

Loans and advances to custom
ers (including finance lease receivables) 

5.10%
 

 
4.83%

 
 

3.99%
 

 
3.99%

 
 

2.45%
 

 
3.75%

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
Liabilities 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
D

ue to financial institutions 
0.00%

 
 

0.69%
 

 
0.55%

 
 

0.74%
 

 
0.09%

 
 

-0.20%
 

D
ue to custom

ers 
0.89%

 
 

0.82%
 

 
0.22%

 
 

0.28%
 

 
0.04%

 
 

0.04%
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(d) 
M

arket risk (continued) 

The follow
ing table provides an analysis of the Bank’s interest rate risk exposure on non–trading financial assets and liabilities as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2021 and 2020. 

The B
ank’s assets and liabilities are included at carrying am

ount and categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or m
aturity dates. 

 
 

U
p to 1 

m
onth 

 
1 to 3 

m
onths 

 
3 to 6 

m
onths 

 
6 to 12 

m
onths 

 
O

ver 1 
year 

 

N
on- 

interest 
bearing 

 
C

arrying 
am

ount 
A

ssets 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  
2,691,466 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
6,691,003 

 
9,382,469 

Restricted balances w
ith Bank of A

lbania 
8,007,719 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
8,007,719 

Loans and advances to financial 
institutions  

- 
 

1,191,651 
 

174,099 
 

- 
 

- 
 

12,076 
 

1,377,826 
Investm

ent in debt securities at FV
O

C
I 

6,081,441 
 

5,003,251 
 

7,676,006 
 

6,351,137 
 

 
 

 
 

25,111,835 
Loans to custom

ers, net 
1,889,900 

 
10,047,565 

 
20,405,143 

 
32,875,565 

 
80,736 

 
2,136,338 

 
67,435,247 

Finance Lease receivables 
99,831 

 
113,832 

 
259,961 

 
749,933 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,223,557 

 
18,770,357 

 
16,356,299 

 
28,515,209 

 
39,976,635 

 
80,736 

 
8,839,417 

 
112,538,653 

Liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
ue to financial institutions 

2,445,967 
 

5,278,001 
 

8,752,660 
 

818,181 
 

133,949 
 

- 
 

17,428,758 
D

ue to custom
ers  

45,425,103 
 

6,780,601 
 

8,801,033 
 

16,278,283 
 

5,092,553 
 

- 
 

82,377,573 
 

47,871,070 
 

12,058,602 
 

17,553,693 
 

17,096,464 
 

5,226,502 
 

- 
 

99,806,331 
G

ap  
(29,100,713) 

 
4,297,697 

 
10,961,516 

 
22,880,171 

 
(5,145,766) 

 
8,839,417 

 
12,732,322 

C
um

ulative gap  
(29,100,713) 

 
(24,803,016) 

 
(13,841,500) 

 
9,038,672 

 
3,892,906 

 
12,732,322 

 
- 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(d) 
M

arket risk (continued) 

The Bank’s interest rate re-pricing analysis as at 31 D
ecem

ber 2020 is as follow
s: 

 
 

U
p to 1 m

onth 
 

1 to 3 
m

onths 
 

3 to 6 
m

onths 
 

6 to 12 
m

onths 
 

O
ver 1 
year 

 

N
on- 

interest 
bearing 

 
C

arrying 
am

ount 
A

ssets 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  
1,237,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
4,298,926 

 
5,535,926 

Restricted balances w
ith Bank of A

lbania 
7,235,095 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
7,235,095 

Loans and advances to financial institutions  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,558,261 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,558,261 

Investm
ent in debt securities at FV

O
CI 

4,130,484 
 

6,195,172 
 

11,454,047 
 

- 
 

 
 

 
 

21,779,703 
Loans to custom

ers, net 
2,572,184 

 
7,407,353 

 
19,021,004 

 
25,384,877 

 
45,218 

 
2,860,608 

 
57,291,244 

Finance Lease receivables 
173,797 

 
107,877 

 
294,418 

 
586,336 

 
- 

 
 

 
1,162,428 

 
15,348,560 

 
13,710,402 

 
30,769,469 

 
27,529,474 

 
45,218 

 
7,159,534 

 
94,562,657 

Liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
ue to financial institutions 

5,215,942 
 

5,887,033 
 

397,495 
 

898,156 
 

187,025 
 

- 
 

12,585,651 
D

ue to custom
ers  

31,521,053 
 

10,331,863 
 

5,906,421 
 

16,534,460 
 

8,596,304 
 

- 
 

72,890,101 
 

36,736,995 
 

16,218,896 
 

6,303,916 
 

17,432,616 
 

8,783,329 
 

- 
 

85,475,752 
G

ap  
(21,388,435) 

 
(2,508,494) 

 
24,465,553 

 
10,096,858 

 
(8,738,111) 

 
7,159,534 

 
9,086,905 

C
um

ulative gap  
(21,388,435) 

 
(23,896,929) 

 
568,624 

 
10,665,482 

 
1,927,371 

 
9,086,905 

 
- 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(e) 
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities  

i) F
air value of financial instrum

ents  

 Set out below
 is a com

parison, by class, of the carrying am
ounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial instrum

ents that are not carried at fair value in the financial 
statem

ents. This table does not include the fair values of non–financial assets and non–financial liabilities. 
 

Financial A
ssets and Liabilities 

31 D
ecem

ber 2021 
C

arrying A
m

ount 
Fair V

alue  
 

 
Level 1 

L
evel 2 

Level 3 
Total  

Financial A
ssets 

 
 

 
 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

9,382,469 
- 

9,382,469 
- 

9,382,469 
Restricted balances w

ith C
entral Bank 

8,007,719 
- 

8,007,719 
- 

8,007,719 
Loans and advances to banks 

1,377,826 
- 

- 
1,377,826 

1,377,826 
O

ther assets 
33,507 

- 
- 

33,507 
33,507 

Loans and advances to custom
ers 

67,435,247 
- 

- 
74,606,941 

74,606,941 
Financial Leasing receivables 

1,223,557 
- 

- 
1,374,374 

1,374,374 
Total financial assets not carried at fair value 

87,460,325 
- 

17,390,188 
77,392,648 

94,782,836 
  

 
 

 
 

 
Financial Liabilities 

 
 

 
 

 
Loans and advances from

 financial institutions 
17,428,758 

- 
17,428,758 

- 
17,428,758 

D
ue to custom

ers 
82,377,573 

- 
- 

82,123,409 
82,123,409 

O
ther liabilities 

2,306,894 
- 

- 
2,306,894 

2,306,894 
Total financial liabilities not carried at fair value 

102,113,225 
- 

17,428,758 
84,430,303 

101,859,061 
 

 
 

 
 

 
O

ff-balance sheet item
s 

 
 

 
 

 
Financial guarantees 

12,446,140 
- 

- 
12,446,140 

12,446,140 
Letters of credit for custom

ers 
487,692 

- 
- 

487,692 
487,692 

O
ther com

m
itm

ents 
6,727,336 

- 
- 

6,727,336 
6,727,336 

Total off-balance sheet item
s 

19,661,168 
- 

- 
19,661,168 

19,661,168 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(e) 
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities  

i) F
air value of financial instrum

ents (continued) 

Financial A
ssets and Liabilities 

31 D
ecem

ber 2020 
C

arrying A
m

ount 
Fair V

alue  
 

 
Level 1 

Level 2 
Level 3 

Total  
Financial A

ssets 
 

 
 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
5,535,926 

- 
5,535,926 

- 
5,535,926 

Restricted balances w
ith C

entral Bank 
7,235,095 

- 
7,235,095 

- 
7,235,095 

Loans and advances to banks 
1,558,261 

- 
- 

1,558,261 
1,558,261 

O
ther assets 

76,246 
- 

- 
76,246 

76,246 
Loans and advances to custom

ers 
57,291,244 

- 
- 

62,677,619 
62,677,619 

Financial Leasing receivables 
1,162,428 

- 
- 

1,274,461 
1,274,461 

Total financial assets not carried at fair value 
94,638,903 

4,740,749 
29,809,975 

65,586,587 
100,137,311 

  
 

 
 

 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 

 
 

 
 

Loans and advances from
 financial institutions 

12,585,651 
- 

12,585,651 
- 

12,585,651 
D

ue to custom
ers 

72,890,101 
- 

- 
72,660,278 

72,660,278 
O

ther liabilities 
518,474 

- 
- 

518,474 
518,474 

Total financial liabilities not carried at fair value 
85,994,226 

- 
12,585,651 

73,178,752 
85,764,403 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
ff-balance sheet item

s 
 

 
 

 
 

Financial guarantees 
11,506,028 

- 
- 

11,506,028 
11,506,028 

Letters of credit for custom
ers 

1,148,938 
- 

- 
1,148,938 

1,148,938 
O

ther com
m

itm
ents 

3,058,961 
- 

- 
3,058,961 

3,058,961 
Total off-balance sheet item

s 
15,713,927 

- 
- 

15,713,927 
15,713,927 

This table includes financial assets and financial liabilities for w
hich fair value approxim

ates carrying am
ount. The Bank has determ

ined that for financial assets 
and financial liabilities that (a) have a short-term

 m
aturity (less than three m

onths), (b) are liquid and (c) are floating rate instrum
ents, their carrying am

ounts (w
hich 

are net of im
pairm

ent w
here applicable) are a reasonable approxim

ation of their fair value. Such instrum
ents include: cash and balances w

ith central banks; due to 
and due from

 banks. 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(e) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
Loans and advances to customers 
Loans and advances are presented net of allowances for impairment. The Bank’s loan portfolio has an estimated 
fair value approximately equal to its book value due to the floating nature of interest rates, with loans being re-
priced within one year cycle, with the exception of a bucket of loans granted in 2008 which were granted 
without a minimum floor applicable.  
 
Financial leasing contracts  
Financial leasing contracts have a fair value that is approximate to their carrying amount. The average tenor of 
these contracts is rather mid-term or close to maturity, and bear floating interest rate, which is re-priced within 
one year cycle.  
 
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value   
hierarchy:  
 

Financial Assets  31 December 2021 
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  
Investment in debt securities at FVOCI 6,532,931 18,578,904 - 25,111,835 
Total financial assets measured at fair value 6,532,931 18,578,904 - 25,111,835 

     

Financial Assets  31 December 2020 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  
Investment in debt securities at FVOCI 4,740,749 17,038,954 - 21,779,703 
Total financial assets measured at fair value 4,740,749 17,038,954 - 21,779,703 
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 36. 
Financial risk m

anagem
ent (continued) 

(e) 
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 For the purposes of m
easurem

ent, IFR
S 9 “Financial Instrum

ents: Recognition and M
easurem

ent”, classifies financial assets into the follow
ing categories: (a) 

financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FV
PL), b) debt instrum

ents at fair value through other com
prehensive incom

e (FV
O

CI), c) equity instrum
ents 

at fair value through other com
prehensive incom

e (FV
O

CI) and (c) financial assets at am
ortized cost ( A

C).  
A

s at 31 D
ecem

ber 2021 and 31 D
ecem

ber 2020 all financial instrum
ents are m

easured at am
ortized cost, except for investm

ent in securities w
hich are m

easure 
at fair value.  
   

31-D
ec-21 

  
31-D

ec-20 
  

T
otal C

arrying 
A

m
ount 

A
m

ortized C
ost 

FV
O

C
I 

 
T

otal C
arrying 

A
m

ount 
A

m
ortized C

ost 
FV

O
C

I 
  

 
A

ssets 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
ash and cash equivalents 

9,382,469 
9,382,469 

- 
 

5,535,926 
5,535,926 

- 
R

estricted balances w
ith C

entral B
ank 

8,007,719 
8,007,719 

- 
 

7,235,095 
7,235,095 

- 
Loans and advances to banks 

1,377,826 
1,377,826 

- 
 

1,558,261 
1,558,261 

- 
O

ther assets 
33,507 

33,507 
- 

 
76,246 

76,246 
- 

Investm
ents in debt securities at FV

O
CI 

25,111,835 
- 

25,111,835 
 

21,779,703 
- 

21,779,703 
Loans and advances to custom

ers 
67,435,247 

67,435,247 
- 

 
57,291,244 

57,291,244 
- 

Financial Leasing C
ontracts 

1,223,557 
1,223,557 

- 
 

1,162,428 
1,162,428 

- 
T

otal assets 
112,572,160 

87,460,325 
25,111,835 

 
94,638,903 

72,859,200 
21,779,703 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

L
iabilities 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Loans and advances from

 financial 
institutions 

17,428,758 
17,428,758 

- 
 

12,585,651 
12,585,651 

- 
D

ue to custom
ers 

82,377,573 
82,377,573 

- 
 

72,890,101 
72,890,101 

- 
O

ther liabilities 
2,306,894 

2,306,894 
- 

 
518,474 

518,474 
- 

T
otal liabilities 

102,113,225 
102,113,225 

- 
 

85,994,226 
85,994,226 

- 
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36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(f) Operational risks 
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the 
Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, 
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations and are 
faced by all business entities. 

The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage 
to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative 
and creativity. 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development 
of overall Bank standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 
 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions; 
 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 
 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 
 documentation of controls and procedures; 
 requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified; 
 requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action; 
 development of contingency plans; 
 training and professional development; 
 ethical and business standards; and 
 risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective. 
 

Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by specific 
operational risk structures as well as Internal Audit.  
 

(g) Compliance risk  
Compliance risk encompasses regulatory and legal compliance risk. Compliance risk is the risk that the Bank 
incurs financial or reputational risk through imposition of penalties or fines as a result of not adhering to 
applicable laws, rules and regulations and good market practice (including ethical standards). The Bank’s 
compliance function proactively seeks to enhance compliance risk management and the supporting control 
framework. The Bank operates in a market where there is a significant level of regulatory change activity, 
therefore, compliance risk is a key area of focus for Senior & Top Management. The compliance function 
monitors this risk through reference to metrics relevant to the Bank, review of incident reports and assessments, 
risk  and control assessments pertaining to the first and second lines of defence functions, results of regulatory 
assessments, following up of novelties coming from Legal Watch process and review of results internal audit 
and external audit reports. Remediation of controls is conducted in a timely manner. 
 
(h) Capital management 
 
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Bank complies with  
Externally imposed capital requirements and maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order 
to support its business and to maximise shareholder value. The Bank manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it according to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In 
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. However, last three year’s Bank of 
Albania has stopped the banks to distribute dividend. 

Annual Report 2021167



OTP BANK ALBANIA SH.A. 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 
(amounts in Lek‘000, unless otherwise stated) 

 107 

36. Financial risk management (continued) 

(h) Capital management (continued) 
 
Regulatory capital 
The Bank monitors the adequacy of its capital using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by 
the Albanian regulator, the Bank of Albania (“BoA”), which ultimately determines the statutory capital 
required to underpin its business. The regulation “On capital adequacy” is issued pursuant to Law No. 8269 
date 23.12.1997 "On the Bank of Albania", and Law No. 8365 date 02.07.1998 "Banking Law of the Republic 
of Albania". 
 
Capital Adequacy Ratio 
Starting from 1 April 2015, the Capital Adequacy Ratio (“CSR”) is the proportion of the regulatory capital to 
total risk weighted exposures, expressed as a percentage. The minimum required Capital Adequacy Ratio is 
12%. 
 
Risk-Weighted Exposures (RWEs) 
Risk- weighted exposures are calculated as a sum of the followings: 
• Risk weighted exposures due to credit and counterparty risk where the balance and off-balance sheet 
exposures are weighted according to standardized approach of the BOA regulation on 
‘Capital Adequacy Ratio’. According to this method all exposures and possible exposures are grouped on 
certain exposure categories and within each of them into smaller groups according to risk associated to them. 
• Capital requirement to cover market risk 
• Capital requirement to cover operational risk, using the basic indicator approach 
 
As per Bank’s regulatory the minimum required capital adequacy ratio is 12%. The Bank is compliant with a 
capital adequacy ratio at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Base capital    
Subscribed capital 6,740,900  6,740,900 
Share premium 1,750  1,750 
Reserves 1,197,808  1,164,658 
Profit of current year  -   750,548  
Retained Earnings  2,792,393   2,069,159  
Intangible fixed assets (211,504)  (208,223) 
 10,521,347  10,518,792 
Additional capital    
Time subordinated liabilities -  - 
Total regulatory capital 10,521,347  10,518,792 
    
Risk-weighted assets Credit Risk 63,397,027  57,387,248 
Operational Risk 6,378,208  5,209,223 
Total 69,775,235  62,596,471 
    
Capital adequacy ratio 15.08%  16.81% 
Minimum required capital adequacy ratio 12.00%  12.00% 

 
The current year profit is included as an element of Common Equity Tier 1 after the audited financial statements 
are certified and reported to the regulator and after any intermediate (partial) dividend paid during the year, 
taxes and other obligations on the profit have been deducted. After the inclusion of the current year profit, 
management estimates the capital adequacy ratio to become 18.01% as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 16.81%). 
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